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Key figures
in EUR million 2020 1 2019 Change in %

Total revenue 67.6 57.1 18.4%

Recurring revenue 59.4 48.1 23.6%

Recurring revenue as a share of total revenue (in %) 87.8% 84.1%

Non-recurring revenue 8.2 9.1 −9.4%

Non-recurring revenue as a share of total revenue (in %) 12.2% 15.9% 1.3%

ARPU blended ² (in EUR) 9.77 EUR 9.64 EUR

Seats 524,791 449,711 16.7%

Adjusted EBITDA 3 3.5 −5.1  n/a %

1   Unless otherwise stated, all values in the consolidated financial statements and the related notes are rounded. 
Therefore, rounding differences may occur in the tables.

2 Based on an average number of seats per month every year.
3 Explanations of the adjustments can be found in Results of operations section: Personnel expenses and other operating expenses.

Who we are
Headquartered in Munich and founded in 2007, NFON AG is the only 
pan-European cloud PBX provider – counting more than 40,000 
companies across 15 European countries as customers and more than 
2,700 partners across Europe. With Cloudya, NFON offers an easy-
to-use, independent and reliable solution for advanced cloud business 
communications. Further premium and industry solutions complete 
the portfolio in the field of cloud communications. With our intuitive 
communications solutions, we enable European companies to im-
prove their work a little, every single day. NFON is the new freedom 
in business communication.

List of abbreviations
AOC Active Ownership Fund
PBX Private Branch Exchange (telephone system)
UCaaS Unified communications as a service
SaaS Software-as-a-Service
VoIP Voice over IP
DTS Deutsche Telefon Standard GmbH
IP Internet Protocol
Seats Extensions, Licenses
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LETTER FROM THE MANAGEMENT BOARD

Dear shareholders and readers! 

Despite all the challenges posed by the overall economy, NFON AG once again performed well in 
2020 thanks to its robust business model. Recurring revenue increased significantly by 23.6% to 
EUR 59.4 million, while total revenue rose by 18.4% to EUR 67.6 million. As a result, the share of 
recurring revenue in total revenue increased further to 87.8%, compared to 84.1% the previous year. 
The number of seats installed at the customer premises increased by 75,080 to 524,791, represent-
ing growth of 16.7% compared to the prior-year reporting date. Particularly due to increasing remote 
working activity and a corresponding rise in voice minutes, average revenue per user (blended 
ARPU) increased to EUR 9.77 in 2020, compared to EUR 9.64 in 2019. The increased blended ARPU 
combined with significantly lower expenses compared to the previous year, for travel or marketing 
activities, for example, also had a significant positive impact on our earnings performance. Earnings 
before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) increased by EUR 9.3 million to 
EUR 2.3 million. Adjusted EBITDA even improved to EUR 3.5 million.

This very good business development in an unusual year impressively underscores that NFON is 
positioned exactly right in the European market for business communications with its cloud-based 
product portfolio. In 2021 we expect further growth. We are planning for seat growth of between 
15% and 17% and a recurring revenue growth rate of between 14% and 16%. Recurring revenue is 
expected to account for more than 85% of total revenue.

On this basis, we will start 2021 with our growth strategy 2024: Target – Enhance – Scale. Follow-
ing the phase-out of ISDN and the ongoing replacement of legacy phone system technology with 
cloud PBX, we are immediately in the third wave of disruption. Telephony, collaboration with video 
or chat and business applications such as contact center solutions, are converging. This requires 
platforms in which customers can switch between voice, video, text and collaboration fluently, 
easily guided and without complications. That is why we will offer a full UCaaS suite with exactly 
these components, complemented by open APIs and other omni-channel solutions.



5

NFON ANNUAL REPORT 2020

5

LETTER FROM THE MANAGEMENT BOARD

As part of our growth course, we will not only increasingly sell the new products to our existing 
customer base. We will of course also continue to expand our partner network in Europe. The part-
ner stands absolutely and immovably in the center for us. At the same time, we will increase our 
focused customer segment in the small and medium business (10 – 250 extensions) to the enter-
prise segment. A clear go-to-market strategy makes it easier for us to gain efficiency and scale 
faster. We already have an excellent presence in markets such as Germany, the UK or Austria. 
Markets such as France or Italy, on the other hand, are still new to the corporate structure and are 
therefore classified by us as countries with a relative growth focus. With our Growth Strategy 2024, 
we are also examining opportunities to invest in Central and Eastern Europe. These markets prom-
ise faster growth with less competitive pressure.

Telephony and IT are growing ever closer together. An effect that has become unmistakable in to-
day’s everyday business life. We therefore aim to be the leading provider of voice-centric business 
communication in Europe.

Stay in touch with us!

Sincerely yours,

Dr Klaus von Rottkay, Jan-Peter Koopmann und César Flores Rodríguez

Jan-Peter Koopmann, 
Chief Technology Officer

César Flores Rodríguez, 
Chief Sales Officer

Dr Klaus von Rottkay, 
Chief Executive Officer
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

Report of the Supervisory Board 
for fiscal 2020

In the past fiscal year, the Supervisory Board of NFON AG (hereinafter also referred to as “the com-
pany”) performed the duties incumbent upon it under the law, the Articles of Association and the 
Rules of Procedure and, by fulfilling its advisory and regulatory function, actively supported the 
Management Board in managing the business. The Supervisory Board was directly involved in all 
decisions of fundamental importance to the company. The Management Board reported to the 
Supervisory Board in writing and orally on the business situation and development, the current 
earnings situation, the risk situation, risk management, short-term and long-term planning, invest-
ments and organisational measures. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board was in close contact 
with the Management Board at all times and was regularly informed about the development of the 
business situation and material transactions.

After careful examination and consultation, the Supervisory Board voted on the decisions or mea-
sures of the Management Board that require its approval according to the law, the Articles of As-
sociation or the Rules of Procedure for the Management Board, and on other decisions of funda-
mental importance. The decisions were mainly based on the reports and resolution proposals of 
the Management Board, which were examined in detail by the Supervisory Board. In 2020, the 
Management Board and Supervisory Board cooperated constructively and thus continued the com-
pany’s ongoing growth.

Composition of and changes in the Supervisory Board

The following persons were members of the Supervisory Board throughout 2020:

• Rainer Koppitz (Chairman of the Supervisory Board), CEO of the KATEK SE Group, Munich
• Günter Müller (Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board), Managing Director of Milestone 

Venture Capital GmbH and Executive Chairman of ASC Technologies AG, Hösbach
• Dr Rupert Doehner (member of the Supervisory Board), lawyer, Munich
• Florian Schuhbauer (member of the Supervisory Board), founding partner and Managing Di-

rector of Active Ownership Advisors GmbH, Frankfurt/Main, and of Active Ownership Capital 
S.à.r.l. and Active Ownership Corporation S.à.r.l., both based in Grevenmacher, Luxembourg
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

Meetings of the Supervisory Board and main areas of discussion

In fiscal 2020, the Supervisory Board held five ordinary meetings and one extraordinary meeting. 
With the exception of the meeting on 18 September 2020, which the Chairman of the Supervisory 
Board was unable to attend, all members of the Supervisory Board took part in all meetings. It also 
adopted eleven circular resolutions. The Supervisory Board did not form any committees. At each 
ordinary meeting, the Supervisory Board also held a closed session at times.

The meetings of the Supervisory Board in fiscal 2020 focused in particular on the following topics:

• Discussion of a potential take-over project of NFON AG (public take-over)
• Formation of a near-shoring location in Lisbon
• Adoption and approval of the audited annual financial statements and the consolidated financial 

statements, including the combined Group management report, for fiscal 2019
• Preparations for the Annual General Meeting on 28 May 2020
• Report on the risk situation and on risk and compliance management, plus resolutions and the 

German Corporate Governance Code declaration
• Variable remuneration of the members of the Management Board for 2019
• Development status of the Cloudya product
• Approval to open new offices of Group companies in Lisbon, Mannheim, Munich and Manchester
• Selection and appointment of a new CEO and entry into cancellation agreements with two mem-

bers of the Management Board in compliance with the requirements of capital market law
• Discussion of the NFON Group’s product roadmap and strategy
• Approval of related party transactions, hiring of employees in management and the appointment 

and dismissal of managing directors and officers at Group companies
• Discussion and review of the NFON Group’s budget for 2021 to 2023
• Discussion of the status and resolution on strategic partnerships and various M&A activities

Rainer Christian Koppitz, 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

The Management Board regularly informed the Supervisory Board of the financial position and 
 financial performance of NFON AG and its subsidiaries and investees.

The Supervisory Board examined and approved the budget planning prepared by the Management 
Board for fiscal 2021. It discussed and reviewed the strategic orientation of the company and the 
Group on the basis of medium-term and long-term corporate planning. The Supervisory Board 
analysed and reviewed the information received from the Management Board in detail. It paid 
 particular attention to the risk situation and risk management.

In its circular resolutions, the Supervisory Board mainly gave its approval to transactions which, al-
though not of strategic significance, require approval in accordance with the Rules of Procedure of 
the Management Board. The Supervisory Board also made time-critical decisions, in particular in 
connection with the change in the line-up of the Management Board, by way of circular resolutions.

Annual and consolidated financial statements and management 
reports

The Annual General Meeting of the company on 28 May 2020 appointed KPMG AG Wirtschafts-
prüfungsgesellschaft, Munich, (hereinafter: KPMG) as NFON AG’s auditor for fiscal 2020. The 
Supervisory Board subsequently engaged KPMG to audit the company’s annual financial state-
ments and consolidated financial statements for fiscal 2020.

The Management Board prepared the annual financial statements in accordance with the provisions 
of German commercial and stock corporation law relating to accounting and the consolidated fi-
nancial statements in accordance with Section 315a(3) HGB in accordance with International Fi-
nancial Reporting Standards (IFRS). KPMG has audited the annual financial statements and the 
consolidated financial statements, including the combined Group management report, together 
with the underlying accounting records of the company. The audit was conducted in accordance 
with the provisions of the German Commercial Code and the generally accepted standards for the 
audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW). The audit 
of the auditor and the audit by the Supervisory Board did not lead to any reservations or objections. 
The auditor issued the unqualified audit opinions required by law.
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

All members of the Supervisory Board received the special documentation relevant to the financial 
statements, in particular the annual financial statements and consolidated financial statements, 
the combined Group management report and the related audit reports from KPMG, in good time 
before the Supervisory Board’s accounts meeting on 14 April 2021. In preparation for this meeting, 
all members of the Supervisory Board dealt with the above documents in detail. At the accounts 
meeting, the annual financial statements, the consolidated financial statements and combined 
Group management report were discussed in detail with the Management Board. The Supervisory 
Board independently examined the annual financial statements prepared by the Management 
Board, the consolidated financial statements and the combined Group management report for their 
legality, regularity, appropriateness and cost-effectiveness. The representative for KPMG and the 
head of audit also attended the accounts meeting on 14 April 2021. They reported on the audit, 
commented on the focal points of the audit and were available to the Supervisory Board for further 
questions and information.

After a detailed examination of the annual and consolidated financial statements and the combined 
Group management report for fiscal 2020, the Supervisory Board did not raise any objections. The 
Supervisory Board concurred with KPMG’s audit findings and approved the annual financial state-
ments and consolidated financial statements of NFON AG. The annual financial statements of 
NFON AG are thus adopted.

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the members of the Management Board and all the em-
ployees for their great commitment and performance in fiscal 2020. The Supervisory Board par-
ticularly wishes to thank the departing members of the Management Board, Hans Szymanski and 
César Flores Rodríguez, for the excellent working relationship, especially in the weeks before the 
successful IPO and the pioneering two and a half years that followed.

Munich, April 2021

For the Supervisory Board

Rainer Koppitz
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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THE SHARE

and the Quirin Champions Conference 2020. In the area of 
new reporting formats, we took the opportunity to present 
NFON on echtgeld.TV (https://www.youtube.com/watch?v= 
c3_Yp9UI_dI) for the first time in 2020. In 2021, we hold a 
virtual Capital Markets Day for the first time.

Part of NFON AG’s IR work is to make all important infor-
mation, from the Group’s financial report to corporate news, 
mandatory announcements, share price and shareholder 
structure, easily accessible and easy to find on the Company’s 
own homepage in the Investor Relations section: https://
www.nfon.com/de/about-nfon/investor-relations/.

Transparent, consistent and continuous dialogue with the 
capital market also requires accessibility. Please do not 
 hesitate to contact Sabina Prüser, Head of Investor Relations 
at NFON  AG, by e-mail (sabina.prüser@nfon.com) or by 
phone +49 (0) 89 453 00 134 if you have any questions.

Annual General Meeting

The Annual General Meeting of NFON AG was held purely 
virtually for the first time on 28 May 2020. The COVID-19 
pandemic mitigation law made it possible for a total of 
72.65% of the share capital to be represented at the AGM, 
even in these strange times. The CEO and the Chairman of 
the Supervisory Board were present at the main venue in 
Munich, together with the notary public. The other mem-
bers of the Management Board were also present virtually. 
Thus, in the spirit of maximum risk minimisation, the Annual 
General Meeting was able to take place and the Manage-
ment Board and Supervisory Board were nevertheless able 
to report in detail to NFON shareholders on the financial 
year 2019 and developments in 2020. The Management 
Board once again highlighted the advantages and strengths 
of NFON AG’s business model: flexibility, mobility, accessi-
bility and scalability have been firmly anchored values of 
NFON since the Company was founded and are more 
 important than ever today, in times of the corona crisis. 
 Digitalisation has been progressing for years and received 
additional tailwind by the developments in 2020. NFON will 
be able to benefit from this in the long term.

The NFON Share in 2020 – Tailwind  
on the way to becoming the Leading 
Provider

Trust through a transparent dialogue with 
shareholders

The NFON share has been successfully listed in the Prime 
Standard of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange since 2018. The 
minimum requirements for our capital market communica-
tion are thus defined. Nevertheless, we at NFON are not sat-
isfied with achieving the minimum. Transparent, consistent 
and continuous dialogue is important to us. This reliability 
represents a great asset, particularly in these strange times 
that bring uncertainties in many areas of our lives, because it 
creates trust. Our customers also trust us and rely on our 
solutions to digitalise their business communications. The 
result is long-term tailwind for NFON and the performance 
of the NFON share.

Despite the many restrictions on travel and contact, 
NFON AG‘s Investor Relations department, together with its 
 Management Board members, was very active again in 2020. 
The new Shareholder Rights Directive (ARUG II) allowed us 
to take advantage of the opportunity to take an in-depth look 
at our shareholder structure. We intend to use these new 
possibilities to communicate with our shareholders in an 
even more targeted manner in the future. Besides our quar-
terly reports, half-yearly financial and annual reports, 
 quarterly conference calls for investors and analysts on the 
figures, and press releases, NFON was also present at a 
 number of digital investor conferences and roadshows. The 
innovative magazine format of our quarterly releases, 
„CLOUDS | Communication – an idea by NFON AG“, also con-
tributes to a better understanding of NFON, its business 
model, products, the market and its customers and partners, 
and makes it easier to assess developments. Financial news 
is presented in the context of the operating business and sup-
plemented by important additional information in Clouds.

In total, nine conference days and 135 investor meetings gave 
us the opportunity to engage in lively and constructive dis-
cussions with investors and analysts about the Company’s 
business model, growth strategy, milestones already 
achieved and future plans. Among other events, we were 
represented at the German Equity Forum, the Berenberg & 
Goldmann Sachs German Corporate Conference, the Baader 
Investment Conference 2020, the Berenberg US Conference 

The Share
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THE SHARE

Trading volume

The trading volume of NFON shares on the XETRA platform 
averaged 6,712 shares traded per day over the course of 
2020, with average trading turnover of EUR 81,935.15 per 
day. Trading turnover showed some peaks at the beginning 
of 2020 by surpassing EUR 300,000. In the summer months 
through November, the average volume was then below the 
annual average at around EUR 65,000. In the final months 
of the year, turnover picked up significantly and, at over 
EUR 72,000 per day, approached the annual average again. 
Trading in equities on the Tradegate platform is also particu-
larly popular with private investors. Accordingly, we are 
pleased with the lively interest shown here, with 41,437 
shares traded per month. Trading on Tradegate equally gained 
further momentum towards the end of the year in particular.

All analysts recommend 
buying the share

The NFON  AG share was continuously covered by four 
 analysts in 2020. Berenberg, Baader Bank, Stifel Europe 
 (formerly MainFirst) and Hauck & Aufhäuser regularly ap-
praised NFON AG, as in the previous year. All analysts have 
recommended buying the stock since the beginning of their 
coverage. At the beginning of the year, the average price 
 target was still EUR 15.37. Over the course of the year, all 
analysts continuously increased their price targets to an aver-
age of EUR 25.50 at last count in March 2021. The detailed 
recommendations and price targets of all analysts can be 

All agenda items were approved by the shareholders and 
KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft was confirmed 
as auditor and Group auditor for financial year 2020.

All documents relating to the Annual General Meetings, in-
cluding the speeches and presentation by the Management 
Board, can also be found in the Investor Relations section of 
the NFON website.

NFON share shows positive 
performance in 2020 and gains 
tailwind for 2021

Following the general uncertainty on the markets at the end 
of 2019, the NFON share started 2020 at EUR 9.94. In the 
first months, the share rose to EUR 13.25 on 14 February, 
which was also the high point in the first half of the year. In 
the following months, the share price fell and reached its low 
for the year at EUR 8.00 on 30 March 2020. This corridor 
was abandoned starting in April and the price rose, with mi-
nor setbacks, to a high for the year of EUR 18.81 by the end 
of 2020. The closing price on 30 December 2020 was only 
slightly below that at EUR 18.15 and equates to an annual 
increase of around 83%. Strengthened by this performance, 
the share has also gotten off to a very good start in 2021.

Share chart
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Shareholders ³
Share 

in % Country City

Milestone Venture 
Capital GmbH 32.12 ¹ Germany –

Active Ownership Capital 25.90 ¹ Luxemburg Grevenmarcher

Teslin Capital  Management B.V. 5.00 ² Germany Berlin

Universal-Investment 4.94 ² Germany Frankfurt a.M.

Swedbank Robur Fonder AB 3.18 ² Sweden Stockholm

1 based on 16,561,124 shares
2 based on 15,055,569 shares 
3 Total identified shareholders 72.5%

Shareholder structure

32.12% ¹
Milestone Venture 

Capital GmbH

25.90% ¹
Active Ownership 
Capital

5.00% ²
Teslin Capital 
 Management B.V.

4.94% ²
Universal-Investment

3.18% ²
Swedbank Robur Fonder AB

28.86%
Other

1 based on 16,561,124 shares
2 based on 15,055,569 shares
With effect from March 29, 2021, the share capital of NFON AG was was increased by 
EUR 1,505,555 to EUR 16,561,124.

found below in the subsection “Overview: NFON AG on the 
Frankfurt Stock Exchange.” NFON AG’s IR team engages in 
an open dialogue with analysts, who report on the Company 
and communicate their current assessment to capital market 
participants through an update or commentary when rele-
vant events occur.

Coverage was further strengthened in 2021 when Bryan, 
Garnier started covering the Company, especially with regard 
to US investors. We hope this will provide additional tailwind 
for the NFON share on the American market. The expansion 
of the analyst portfolio means investors will have access to 
the ratings of five analysts in the future. With this level of 
coverage, NFON AG sees itself in a good position to attract 
attention and achieve an increasingly fair valuation of its 
share on the capital market and with investors around the 
world.

Shareholder structure
(as of 31 March 2021)
The shareholder structure of NFON AG saw a few changes in 
financial year 2020. While investors such as Earlybird Ven-
ture Capital, High-Tech Gründerfonds and MainFirst Asset 
Management reduced their investment in NFON and thus fell 
below the reporting threshold of 3%, we were delighted to 
welcome Teslin Capital Management as a new major share-
holder with a reported share of 5%. Active Ownership Capital 
also significantly increased its stake in NFON in 2020, with 
the last reported stake from the investor amounting to 
25.48%. On 26 March 2021, NFON successfully completed 
a capital increase as in an accelerated placement process and 
thus raised EUR 26 million in additional funds to finance its 
growth.

THE SHARE
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Overview: NFON AG on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange 
(Prime Standard)

1 all trading data: XETRA

Coverage
(Status in March 2021)

Berenberg Bank
Baader Bank
Hauck & Aufhäuser
Stifel Europe 

Buy
Strong Buy
Buy
Buy

EUR 26.00
EUR 26.00
EUR 30.00
EUR 20.00

Initial listing 
(11 May 2018) 

1 EUR 13.00

Closing price 
(30 Dec. 2020) 

1 EUR 18.15

Annual high 
(03 Dec. 2020) 

1 EUR 18.81

Annual low 
(30 March 2020) 

1 EUR 8.00

Market capitalisation 
as of 31 Dec. 2020 

1 EUR 272 million

Average trading 
volume 

1 EUR 81,935.15/day

Conference and 
roadshow days

9 conference and 
roadshow days

135 meetings 
with 
 investors

Master data of the NFON share

First day of trading 11 May 2018

Number of shares 16,561,124

Type of shares No-par value bearer shares

Share capital EUR 16,561,124.00

Voting rights Each share entitles the holder 
to one vote

Security identification number (WKN) A0N4N5 
A2TSA4

ISIN (International Security 
 Identification Number)

DE000A0N4N52 
DE000A2TSA41

Ticker symbol NFN

Reuters symbol NFN.DE

Bloomberg symbol NFN.GY

Trading segment Regulated Market/Prime Standard

Stock exchanges Frankfurt Stock Exchange/Xetra

Sector Telecommunications

Designated sponsors Baader Bank, ODDO Seydler

Coverage

Baader Bank, Berenberg Bank, 
Hauck & Aufhäuser, Stifel Europe, 
Bryan, Ganier & Co

Paying agent Baader Bank Aktiengesellschaft
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COMBINED GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORTCOMBINED 
GROUP

MANAGEMENT 
REPORT

Group profile
Group business model

NFON AG (referred to as NFON or the NFON Group), based 
in Munich, was founded in 2007 and is the only pan-Europe-
an provider 1 of cloud-based telephone systems. NFON has 
more than 40,000 business customers in 15 European coun-
tries, and has affiliated companies in Germany, Austria, the 
UK, Spain, Italy, France and Portugal. NFON also has a large 
network of partners for sales operations in other countries.

The NFON Group essentially generates revenue by providing 
cloud-based telecommunication services to business cus-
tomers – these customers are provided with the required 
brokerage service from the cloud in NFON data centres via 
the Cloud PBX (Private Branch Exchange). As a result, cus-
tomers do not need to have conventional telephone systems 
on their own premises. Generally, the customer is initially 
charged a one-off activation fee for each seat and a monthly 
service fee for each seat used.

1 This information has not been audited by the auditor.

Furthermore, NFON can replace the telephone connection, 
meaning that the customer pays the fees for all telephone 
traffic to NFON. NFON procures this service itself from vari-
ous carriers. With “Cloudya” the NFON Group offers a homo-
geneous tariff model, which covers the core functions asso-
ciated with a telephone system, such as telephone 
conference facilities, automatic call forwarding (ACF) or the 
automatic forwarding of calls to the person responsible. 
NFON also offers premium services to over 40,000 cus-
tomers. On request, NFON also sells end devices (telephones, 
soft clients for PCs and smartphones) and the corresponding 
software, which the company procures from several manu-
facturers, and provides Internet access on a reselling basis as 
required.

NFON divides its revenue into recurring and non-recurring 
revenue. Recurring revenues include monthly fees for the 
cloud PBX, SIP trunk channels, ongoing call charges and 
SDSL monthly fees (Symmetric Digital Subscriber line is a 
DSL access technology to a public digital network) as well as 
premium solutions such as Neorecording and Ncontact-
center. In contrast, non-recurring revenues are one-off rev-
enues from the sale of hardware, setup fees of the cloud PBX 
or setup fees for SDSL.
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COMBINED GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

Sales are conducted through five channels with a clear focus 
on indirect partner sales.

Sales are conducted through five channels with a clear focus on indirect partner sales

 Party NFON holds contractual relationship with

Direct

Dealer 

Wholesale with Airtime

Wholesale without Airtime

Distributor Distributor Dealer

Dealer Customer

Customer

Customer

Customer

Customer

Wholesale with Airtime 
(NFON termination)

Wholesale without Airtime 
(without NFON termination)

Wholesale partners: NFON enters into sales agreements 
with wholesale partners to accelerate the expansion of its 
customer base. In conjunction with these agreements, NFON 
provides the services on a white label basis, i.e. the wholesale 
partners market NFON’s services to customers under their 
own brands or co-branded under their own brands and the 
NFON brand. There is no direct contractual relationship be-
tween the wholesale partner’s customers and NFON. Among 
the wholesale partners, a distinction is also made between 
partner that purchase voice minutes from NFON and those 
that do not purchase voice minutes.

Direct sales: NFON handles sales directly.

Dealer: The dealer has its own customer base and acquires 
new customers to whom it sells the cloud telephony system. 
The dealer provides service for these customers. NFON has 
a direct service agreement with the customers and provides 
the telephony solution.

Distributoren: Distributors have their own network of dealers 
and typically do not market NFON’s services themselves. 
They serve as an intermediary between the dealer and the 
manufacturer or service provider and introduce the respect-
ive product to their own network.
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General market characteristics

The European market for business telephony can be divided 
into three segments:

With its cloud telephone system, NFON offers a single-in-
stance/multi-tenant platform (1:n). The SIP trunk technology 
offered by the subsidiary of NFON AG DTS ensures that sta-
tionary telephone systems (on-premise PBX) are connected 
to the PSTN via the internet.

Regulatory framework

Following the deregulation and harmonisation of German 
telecommunications law (1989), the performance of tele-
communications services and the operation of telecom-
munications networks are subject to the Telekommunika-
tionsgesetz (TKG  –  German Telecommunications Act, 
original version dated 25 July 1996, last new version dat-
ed 22 June 2004, last amendment dated 19 June 2020) 

European business telephony market

On-premise 
PBX

Hosted PBX 
(private)

Cloud PBX 
(public)

Multi-Instance/Multi-Tenant
(n:n)

A separate platform (instance) is set up for each  
platform (instance) is set up for each user (tenant).

With Hosted PBX 
begins the field 
of the IP-based 

telephone system, 
which is still be 

owned by the user 
(private), but no 

longer stands in its 
own premises and 
is looked after by a 
third party can be 

looked after.

On-premise (PBX) 
includes the classic 

on-site installed 
telephone system 

(hardware or 
software), which is 
operated operated 

by the owner.

Different users (tenants) only use  
one platform (instance).

Single-Instance/Multi-Tenant
(1:n)

IP-based telephone systems

Service- Provider

Cn

Instance 1

Instance 2

Instance n

C1
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Shared 
PBX core
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Technical infrastructure

and certain supplementary provisions. NFON is therefore 
also subject to the German Telecommunications Act.

The German Telecommunications Act implements the 
European legal framework for electronic communications 
networks and services that was amended in November 
2009. The legal framework consisted, inter alia, of the 
Framework Directive (2002/21/EC), the Authorisation Di-
rective (2002/20/EC), the Access Directive (2002/19/EC), 
the Universal Service Directive (2002/22/EC) and the Pri-
vacy and Electronic Communications Directive (2002/58/
EC). These regulations ceased to apply when the European 
Electronic Communications Code (EECC) became effective 
on 20 December 2018. The EECC was to be enacted in 
national law by 21 December 2020/31 December 2020.



18

NFON ANNUAL REPORT 2020

18

COMBINED GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

The body in charge of regulating the German telecommuni-
cations market is the German Federal Network Agency. Sim-
ilar authorities, which include the European Commission, 
also exist in other European countries. Furthermore, various 
German authorities at state and municipal level and other EU 
bodies are authorised to regulate the providers of telecom-
munications services as performed by NFON and to monitor 
their business. The German Federal Network Agency has 
substantial powers to enforce the German Telecommunica-
tions Act and the associated provisions. These powers in-
clude the approval or review of telecommunications charges 
and providers’ terms and conditions. Furthermore, the Ger-
man Federal Network Agency is the body in charge of man-
aging telephone numbers and ensuring data protection and 
network security in the telecommunications sector. The Ger-
man Federal Network Agency’s decisions can be appealed 
before the competent administrative courts.

A licence from a regulating body is not required to perform 
telecommunications services in the European Union. As a 
commercial provider of publicly accessible telecommunica-
tions services, NFON must also notify the German Federal 
Network Agency of the commencement of or any amend-
ment and termination of business activities.

Regulating bodies such as the German Federal Network 
Agency can impose obligations on the company in relation to 
the performance of the service offered.

As NFON collects, stores and utilises data in conjunction with 
its ordinary business activities, the company is also subject 
to the data protection laws and regulations of federal, state 
and international government authorities. Data protection 
laws restrict the storage, use, processing, disclosure, trans-
mission and protection of personal data, including debit and 
credit card data, provided to NFON by its customers, and the 
data that NFON collects from its customers and employees. 
Compliance with the above obligations necessitates sub-
stantial expenses on the part of NFON. Any failure or per-
ceived failure to comply with the above obligations or any 
other legal, regulatory or contractual requirements could 
result in legal proceedings, lawsuits or sanctions on NFON 
by state agencies.

2 This information has not been audited by the auditor.

Objectives and strategies

As a leading provider ² in Germany, NFON AG believes that it 
already holds a strong position on the highly fragmented in-
ternational cloud telephony market. Using its strategy based 
on five growth vectors, the Group is pursuing its clearly de-
fined aim of becoming the leading provider for cloud telepho-
ny services in Europe in the coming years.

Expansion and further development 
of the customer base in existing markets

The exploitation of cross-selling and up-selling potential 
within the existing customer base and the continued acqui-
sition of new customers are significant strategic components 
for the successful development of the company. This requires 
increased awareness of the NFON brand and cloud telepho-
ny solutions. With this in mind, sales and marketing activities 
are being maintained at a high level. On an extremely frag-
mented telecommunications market, the importance of a 
brand that clearly shows how a purely B2B product benefits 
the customer cannot be underestimated. This requires a nu-
anced and genuine multichannel marketing approach. NFON 
aims to exploit three main target groups:

• channels: partners, specialists, resellers;
• IT managers: IT specialists, IT departments;
• decision-makers: management board level, managing 

directors.

In order to address and win over the three main target groups 
in a focused manner via the appropriate sales channels, the 
existing partner network is being permanently optimised and 
enlarged and the sales reach is being significantly increased. It 
should be noted that a customer base can never be large 
enough and that there is therefore no final end to the expansion 
and further development of the customer base.
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Roll-out of innovative UCaaS functions

A key component of NFON’s growth strategy is the rollout of 
innovative UCaaS functions (Unitfied Communication as a Ser-
vice) and the associated further evolution of NFON into a UCaaS 
company. Cloudya, NFON’s cloud telephony system, is the 
NFON platform that will be enriched by all other functionalities, 
technologies and services in future. In this respect, substantial 
investments are being made not only in improvements of exist-
ing solutions but in particular the design and development of 
new products and services. For example, it is planned to develop 
and launch video and screen sharing functionalities for Cloudya 
in the 2021 financial year. In addition, further omni-channel cus-
tomer engagement/workflow solutions are to be created and 
offered in the coming years.

Development of open APIs

The development of open APIs (development of programme 
interfaces) enables the integration of the NFON Cloud teleph-
ony solutions in service solutions from third-party providers. 
Although NFON has already started product development to 
improve integration capabilities, it will require significant 
long-term effort to move towards a fully-fledged API envir-
onment. In addition, new features will need to be constantly 
integrated into the API ecosystem.

Achieved milestones in 
strategic implementation in 2020

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Milestones

600,000

500,000

400,000

300,000

200,000

100,000

0

Cloudya
New core 
product

Acquisition
DTS GmbH

Start  
Developer Site 

Portugal

> 30,000 
customers

14 countries
Italy Start of 

sales activities

> 2,700 
Partner

> 40,000 
customers

Acquisition
Onwerk GmbH

15 countries
France Start of 
sales activities

253,360

320,728

408,393
449,711

491,152
524,791

31.12.201831.12.2017 30.06.202031.12.201930.06.2019 31.12.2020

  Total number of seats

Continue to grow in European countries

The market conditions in Europe and the disruptive changes 
in the field of cloud telephony – also intensified by the Coro-
na pandemic – create exactly the right strategic framework 
conditions for NFON to become the leading provider of cloud 
telephony in Europe. NFON is now represented in 15 Euro-
pean countries, seven of which have their own subsidiaries. 
After NFON opened its own subsidiaries in France and Italy 
in line with its growth strategy, the company is now primarily 
pursuing the goal of expanding its customer base in the ex-
isting countries and growing further in the coming years.

Consolidation opportunities in highly 
fragmented cloud PBX markets

The European cloud PBX market is highly fragmented. NFON 
is taking an active role in the increasing consolidation of the 
market. This offers a wide range of opportunities to acquire 
companies with suitable, attractive technologies in addition 
to the existing NFON product and solution portfolio, as well 
as competitors, in a targeted manner and according to de-
fined criteria. Even though NFON has already made its first 
acquisitions with DTS and Onwerk GmbH, the company will 
continue to pursue this goal for the coming years.
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Organisation

Group structure and locations

The Group structure as at 31 December 2020 is shown by the 
following diagram.

NFON Developments Lda. in Lisbon, Portugal, was estab-
lished effective 07 August 2020. Its business purpose is to 
develop software for the operation of communications solu-
tions and innovative business-critical applications.

Management and control

The members of the Management Board work closely with 
the managers in the respective countries and the managing 
directors of the foreign subsidiaries. A Supervisory Board of 
four members monitors the activities of and advises the 
Management Board.

In the period from 01 March 2018 to 30 November 2020, the 
Management Board consisted of three members. Since 
01 December 2020, the company has been managed by two 
Executive Board members within the meaning of § 76 AktG.

NFON AG

Germany

NFON Iberia SL

Spain

NFON UK Ltd.

United Kingdom

NFON GmbH

Austria

NFON Italia S.R.L.

Italy

NFON France SAS

France

respectively 100%respectively 100%

Deutsche Telefon
Standard GmbH

Germany

NFON 
Developments Lda

Portugal
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Management

Management systems

The Management Board of NFON AG has introduced an in-
ternal management system for the management of the 
Group which is shown by the following diagram:

Control performance indicators

Total revenue, recurring and non-recurring 
revenue, seat growth, ARPU, adj. EBTIDA.

Group-wide reporting

Monthly reporting incorporates the 
 condensed economic report including the 
net assets, financial position and results 

of operations.

Process for continuous strategy 
development and implementation

Strategic measures, milestones, 
 performance indicators and  implementation 

through the Company are organised in 
thematically defined strategy teams. The 

Management Board and Supervisory Board 
are informed about implementation in 

 regular meetings.

Budgeting and planning

The budget process starts in the second half 
of each year. Planning generally comprises a 

period of five years.

Risk and opportunity management

A committee of all relevant risk and 
 opportunity departments monitors 

 implementation, execution and adherence, 
and meets regularly at least once a year.

Regular meetings of the 
Management Board, management, 

area and department heads

Management meets in different meeting 
formats and combinations. An efficient 
and prompt exchange of information is 

 significant here.

Management Board and Supervisory Board

The Management Board conducts  business. 
It regularly reports to the Supervisory Board. 
The rules of procedure of the Management 

Board and Supervisory Board regulate 
collaboration and transactions requiring 

approval.

Financial and non-financial 
performance indicators

The NFON Group is managed using the following perform-
ance indicators:

• seat growth 3;
• total revenue;
• recurring and non-recurring revenue and their respective 

growth rates;

3 total number of seats and licences used by customers
4 average revenue per user

• recurring and non-recurring revenue as a share of total 
revenue;

• ARPU 4 (blended);
• EBITDA (adjusted).

These performance indicators ensure that the company can 
analyse and manage the measures that have been defined in 
order to achieve growth targets, and that it can measure its 
success.
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As its strategy is primarily geared to growth, NFON AG has de-
fined the growth rate of recurring revenue, non-recurring rev-
enue as a share of total revenue and seat growth as its key finan-
cial performance indicators. Seat growth from the balance sheet 
date to the respective reporting date is the basis for recurring 
revenue. Seat growth over a reporting period is the basis for re-
curring revenue. The growth in recurring revenue generated 
from all seats and the successful development in recurring rev-
enue as a share of total revenue illustrate the sustainability and 
stability of the NFON Group’s business model. Its positive devel-
opment is crucial to the overall success of the NFON Group.

NFON uses average revenue per user (blended ARPU) as a fur-
ther revenue-based financial performance indicator. This is cal-
culated as the recurring revenue for the period in question less 
the recurring revenue with SIP trunks for the period in question 
divided by the total seat base for the period in question.

As a further revenue-related financial performance indicator, 
NFON uses the average revenue per user across all sales 
channels (blended ARPU, also referred to as „ARPU“ in the 
following). It is calculated from the recurring revenues of the 
period under review minus the recurring revenues with SIP 
trunks of the period under review divided by the sum of the 
seats (extensions = seatbase) of the period under review.

The Group uses adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, de-
preciation and amortisation (adjusted EBITDA) to measure 
the operating performance and success of the individual 
business units. Non-operating one-off expenses, e.g. one-off 

expenses related to taxes and social security matters, reten-
tion bonuses or stock options, are excluded from EBITDA for 
the purpose of measuring operating performance. This re-
sults in the adjusted EBITDA.

Overview of the development of financial and non-financial 
performance indicators, with the significant indicators high-
lighted accordingly (in bold):

In line with the guidance published in March 2020 and up-
dated in November, the key performance indicators devel-
oped as follows:

in EUR million 2020 1 2019 Change

Total revenue 67.6 57.1 18.4%

Recurring revenue 59.4 48.1 23.6%

Share of recurring revenue 87.8% 84.1%

Non-recurring revenue 8.2 9.1 −9.4%

Share of non-recurring 
revenue 12.2% 15.9% 1.3%

ARPU blended ² EUR 9,77 EUR 9.64

Seat growth 524,791 449,711 16.7%

Adjusted EBITDA 3 3.5 −5.1 n/a

1  Unless otherwise stated, all values in the consolidated financial statements and the 
related notes are rounded. Therefore, rounding differences may occur in the tables.

2 Based on average number of seats per month in each year.
3 Explanations on the adjustments can be found in the section Results of Operations

2019 2020
Guidance

2020
Revised 2020 

forecast  1 Change

Explanation 
compared to 
the forecast

Explanation 
 compared to the 

 adjusted forecast

Seat growth 449,711 524,791

between 
20% and 

24%
between 

17% and 19% 16.7%

Growth is below 
the expected 

forecast

Growth is at the 
lower end of the 

 expected forecast

Recurring revenue 48.1 Mio. EUR 59.4 Mio. EUR

between 
22% and 

26% No change 23.6%

Recurring 
 revenue growth 
rate is exactly in 

line with the 
forecast average

Recurring revenue 
as a share of total 
revenue 84.1% 87.8%

between 
80% and 

85%

between 
85% and 

95% n/a
The forecast was 
clearly exceeded

Share reaches the 
middle third of the 

forecast

1 Notes on the guidance adjustment can be found under “Presentation of the company’s performance”.
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Research & Development

The Research & Development department concentrates on 
the development of new products and services on the one 
hand and, on the other, on the development of product ex-
pansions and new functions for existing products and ser-
vices, which are made available to NFON customers through 
regular updates. Products and services are developed inter-
nally using agile software development involving the follow-
ing areas:

NFON develops its products following a clearly defined process.

Agile development

R&D centres Berlin, Lisbon, Mainz, Mannheim, Munich

Backend

User 
experience 
design

Quality 
assurance

Voice

Frontend

Devices

Operation of the 
platform

Network & 
Data centres

Product Development

Stakeholders Feature 
request

Product 
portfolio 

board

Product 
backlog

Release 
backlog

Sprint 
backlog

Product
increment

release

Product
release

Product management

Pre-estimation by 
R&D 

team lead

Prioritisation 
by PM

Ordering backlog 
by PO

Release 
planning by 
dev. team

Sprint 
planning by 
dev. team

Backlog grooming 
effort estimation 

by dev. team

Research & development Product management
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At present, NFON‘s R&D activities are focused on native mo-
bile client development, the integration of video, video con-
ferencing and screen sharing in Cloudya. In addition, the fo-
cus is on the renewal of the service portal and adjacent 
systems. DTS products are increasingly being converted to 
NFON backend technology (Centrex 3.0 and the completely 
newly developed SIP trunk, for which numerous features will 
still be developed in 2021). Other important milestones are 
the CTI 5 integration in Cloudya desktop clients and the com-
missioning of a new business support system. The latter 
allows significantly faster and automated workflows and is 
the basis for future customer self-service portals and APIs for 
partners.

At the end of 2020, 117 employees were permanently em-
ployed in the R&D, Operations and Service & Consulting (for-
merly Technical Consultants) areas of the NFON Group (95 
employees in the previous year); this corresponds to 27.1% 
(previous year 25.0%) of the total workforce of 432 employ-
ees. For certain projects, additional external employees are 
deployed on a temporary basis as required. At the end of 
2020, they accounted for up to 4.7% of the permanent R&D 
workforce.

In the reporting year, the Group incurred R&D expenses of 
EUR  5.5 million (2019: EUR  4.4 million). Of this amount, 
EUR 3.9 million (2019: EUR 2.9 million) was spent on R&D. 
The capitalisation rate in the reporting year is therefore 71.2% 
(2019: 65.0%). In the reporting year, scheduled depreciation 
of EUR 0.4 million (2019: EUR 0.1 million) was recognised on 
capitalised development projects.

5 Computer Telephony Integration, also known as computer telephony integration or CTI, is a general term for any technology that enables the integration and coordination of 
interactions via telephone and computer

6 cf. p. 7: *KKB_71_2020-Q3_Deutschland_DE_.pdf (ifw-kiel.de); cf. p. 9: *KKB_73_2020-Q4_Welt_DE.pdf (ifw-kiel.de)
7 cf. p. .3: *KKB_71_2020-Q3_Deutschland_DE_.pdf (ifw-kiel.de)
8 cf. p. 2: KKB_74_2020-Q4_Deutschland_DE.pdf (ifw-kiel.de)
9 https://www.ifo.de/node/60733#:~:text=Die%20Stimmung%20unter%20den%20deutschen,zufriedener%20mit%20ihrer%20aktuellen%20Gesch%C3%A4ftslage

Economic report
General economic conditions and 
industry environment

General economic development in Europe and 
Germany

The COVID-19 pandemic and the necessary measures to curb 
its spread influenced the economy immensely in 2020. 
Global demand, supply chains, labour supply, industrial pro-
duction, prices of raw materials and domestic and domestic 
and foreign trade and capital flows have all been negatively 
affected. As a result, according to the Kiel Institute for the 
World Economy (IfW), gross domestic product in the euro 
area fell significantly by 7.2% in 2020 after expanding by 1.2% 
in 2019. 6

The coronavirus pandemic has left its mark on NFON AG’s 
domestic German market. The IfW is forecasting that German 
economic output will have contracted by 5.2% in 2020 (2019: 
growth of 0.6%). There was an enormous Economic output 
slump in the second quarter of 2020 in particular. According 
to the IfW, economic output crashed by 9.7% 7 . GDP then 
recovered significantly by 8.5% in the third quarter of 2020. 
Nonetheless, according to economists, a full recovery of the 
German economy is being delayed by the resurgence of the 
coronavirus pandemic and the associated reinstatement of 
lockdown measures since November. 8

A key indicator for the German economy is the ifo business 
climate index 9. According to this, the business climate im-
proved significantly in the second half of the year, from only 
around 75 points in April 2020 to 92.1 points in December 
2020. However, the company believes that the recovery will 
take until the middle or end of 2022.

The UK is NFON AG’s largest foreign market. Here, too, the 
economic slump triggered by coronavirus and additional un-
certainty in connection with Brexit have weighed heavily on 
the economy. Despite a strong recovery in the third quarter of 
2020, economic activity is being painfully curbed by the 
far-reaching anti-coronavirus measures resolved in Novem-
ber. After leaving the EU on 31 January 2020, the UK initially 
entered a one-year transition phase during which existing 
regulations on economic interactions between EU Member 
States and the UK continued to apply. The new Brexit trade 
agreement between the EU and the UK provisionally became 
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effective as at 01 January 2021. IfW experts are forecasting 
that the UK’s GDP will have fallen by 11.3% in 2020 (2019: 
growth of 1.3%). 10

Significant sales markets and the competitive 
position of the NFON Group

The fast-growing market for cloud telephony is subject to 
disruptive development. Major technological change has 
been the principal driver of this disruptive development so 
far. All European telephone companies are currently making 
the switch from ISDN to All-IP. This will make traditional tele-
phone systems obsolete, or at least unusable without add-
itional technology. Furthermore, hosted/cloud telephone 
systems have significant advantages over classic telephone 
systems that correspond to the general change in the de-
mands of working life. These advantages include flexibility, 
mobility and independence. Included in this are all the advan-
tages of software as a service, especially lower fix costs and 
user independent billing.

As a result of the restrictions to combat the COVID-19 pandem-
ic, many companies were forced to have to allow employees to 
work from home on a large scale. The company believes that 
this experience showed many firms the value added of the flexi-
bility of a cloud-based telephone system. As a result, NFON AG 
is witnessing greater general openness on the part of potential 
customers of all sizes towards cloud telephone systems and an 
accordingly more dynamic market development. This observa-
tion is corroborated by figures from various market research 
institutions. 11

Furthermore, this development is happening in a market with 
great growth potential. In Europe, only around 20% of the 
approx. 131 million seats, i.e. around 27 million, 1² are in the 
cloud. Market researchers such as the Cavell Group and MZA 
expect a 5-year CAGR of approx. 12% here. Consequently, the 
market for cloud communications could grow to around 46 
million seats by 2025.

10 cf. p. 10, 23: *KKB_73_2020-Q4_Welt_DE.pdf (ifw-kiel.de)
11 75% of employees surveyed around the world now see working from home as normal. (https://de.statista.com/statistik/daten/studie/1067502/umfrage/umfrage-zur-flexibil-

itaet-im-arbeitsleben-in-ausgewaehlten-laendern-weltweit/). 54% of companies surveyed in Germany want to implement working from home as a permanent solution, and 
only 4% wish to return to the old office routine. (https://www.ifo.de/node/56686; https://blog.perceptyx.com/employees-become-more-productive-working-from-home). 
Cavell Insight Report 2020. For Germany, Cavell found that, in addition e-mail, the telephone was the preferred means of communication between companies and customers 
(84% of medium-sized and 80% of small enterprises).

12 Source: MZA: “The Global Telecommunications Market 2020”

North America is the most advanced in the world in terms of 
cloud telephony use. Accordingly, from the company’s per-
spective, the only competitors comparable to NFON are 
based in North America: RingCentral and 8x8. These com-
panies have a cloud PBX developed in-house, and have been 
significantly expanding their product ranges for over ten 
years by integrating communication media in a unified appli-
cation environment (unified communications (UC) services). 
This includes functionalities such as interactive whiteboards 
and collaboration platforms. Despite increasing M&A activity, 
the European market remains highly fragmented. At the 
same time, companies such as Zoom, Avaya, 3CX and fuze 
Europe GmbH are attempting to enter the market.
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Overview of major European markets relevant for NFON.
In deviation from previous reporting, NFON will in future pre-
sent only the core markets for continental Europe, namely Aus-
tria, Belgium, France, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands, Portu-
gal, Spain and Switzerland, on the basis of the data provided 
by the Cavell Group. The market potential is demonstrated by 
the expected growth of the respective markets for the next five 
years. The market potential is demonstrated by the expected 
growth of the respective markets for the next five years.

48.3% 46.0% 32.3%17.7%

44,0% 28.5% 71.7%

18,9% 9.8% 29.8%

Cloud PBX penetration

Market development in NFON countries with own subsidiaries

Austria 
5-Years-CAGR 23.8%

United Kingdom 
5-Years-CAGR 19.2%

France 
5-Years-CAGR 24.9%

Germany 
5-Years-CAGR 23.9%

Spain 
5-Years-CAGR 23.3%

Continental Europe –  
NFON Core Markets *

Italy 
5-Years-CAGR 20.3%

 2020  2025

 Sources: MZA: “The Global Telecommunications Market 2020”; Cavell Group: “Cloud Comms Market Report Q4 2020”.
 *  The figure includes all economies covered by Cavell for Europe. These include Austria, Belgium, France, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands, Portugal, Spain and Switzerland

7.0%16.6% 16.1% 10.6%
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Presentation of the company’s 
performance

Comparison of actual and forecast 
business performance in 2020

2020 forecast

Revised 2020 
forecast
(November 2020)

Actuals 
2020

Growth rate of 
recurring revenue

between 22% 
and 26% No changes 23.6%

Non-recurring revenue between 80% 
and 85%

between 
85% and 90% 87.8%

Growth rate for seats 
(installed by cus-
tomers) for the year as 
a whole

between 20% 
and 24%

between 
17% and 19% 16.7%

The NFON Group’s business performance in the 2020 fiscal 
year underscores the future potential of the business model 
and continues the sustained positive trend of previous years. 
The development of the key performance indicators listed 
above is all the more remarkable because, firstly, the general 
economic uncertainty resulting from the COVID-19 pandem-
ic led to companies being reluctant to invest in 2020. Sec-
ondly, markets such as Spain, France, Italy and the UK, in 
which NFON wishes to step up its sales activities in line with 
its strategy, suffered particularly hard under the lockdown 
measures in response to the pandemic. Apart from these 
negative effects, NFON was able to increase recurring rev-
enues as planned by 23.6% to 59.4 million euros and thus 
even increase the share of recurring revenues to 87.8%, 
which is above the original annual expectation.

In addition to the development of the key performance indica-
tors, the development of ARPU also shows a positive trend. 
ARPU increased to 9.77 euros in the 2020 reporting period 
(2019: 9.64 euros), which is mainly due to the increasing home 
office activities and the resulting higher volume of voice min-
utes. The increased ARPU in conjunction with the much lower 
expenses year on year had a markedly positive effect on the 
development of earnings. For example, marketing expenses 
alone fell by 25.7% year on year to EUR 6.7 million (previous 
year: EUR 9.0 million). Taken as a whole, other operating ex-
penses decreased by 11.9%. Earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) amounted to EUR 2.3 
million (2019: EUR −7.0 million). Adjusted EBITDA improved to 
EUR 3.5 million (2019: EUR −5.1 million).

On the other hand, European countries’ lockdown measures 
in response to the pandemic and the associated uncertainty 
in the second half of 2020 made it difficult to acquire new 
seats. Nevertheless, the total number of seats has more than 

doubled since the start of 2018 thanks to the renewed seat 
growth. With more than 500,000 seats, NFON now has an 
excellent foundation for future growth.

In addition, non-recurring revenue decreased by 9.4%. This 
development is also mainly due to the pandemic and resulted 
from lower revenue from devices.

With Cloudya, NFON continues to benefit from the increasing 
digitalisation of business communication. The market for 
cloud communication is undergoing a structural transforma-
tion. 2020 was a catalyst for this trend. Flexible working is 
being seen as the new normal.

Results of operations

Development of key items in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and OCI

in EUR million 2020 2019
Change 

in %

Revenue 67.6 57.1 18.4

Cost of materials 14.0 13.7 2.5

Gross profit 53.6 43.5 23.3

Other operating income 1.0 0.6 50.6

Personnel costs 28.5 24.2 17.5

Other operating expenses 23.6 26.8 −11.9

EBITDA 2.3 −7.0 n/a

Adj. EBITDA 3.5 −5.1 n/a

Amortisation and depreciation 4.1 3.0 38.1

EBIT −1.8 −10.0 n/a

Net interest income −0.5 −0.8 n/a

Income tax expense/income 0.3 −0.1 n/a

Consolidated loss −2.2 −10.9 n/a



28

NFON ANNUAL REPORT 2020

28

COMBINED GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

Revenue development by segment

The breakdown by segments corresponds to the individual 
country companies of the NFON Group, which in the 2020 
fiscal year included two companies from Germany and one 
subsidiary each in Austria, UK, Spain, France, Italy and Por-
tugal. Apart from the German stock corporation, which is also 
responsible for research and development in the Group, the 
companies in their home markets essentially function as 
sales companies based on the same business model and the 
same range of services. However, Deutsche Telefon Standard 
GmbH continues to provide development services for its own 
product portfolio. The subsidiary in Portugal serves exclu-
sively to render development services and does not generate 
revenue outside the Group.

The Group has seven segments with external revenue, which 
are shown separately below as reportable segments. The 
seven segments are NFON AG, Deutsche Telefon Standard 
GmbH, nfon GmbH, NFON UK Ltd, NFON Iberia SL, NFON 
Italia S.R.L. and NFON France SAS.

The Portuguese company NFON developments unipessoal 
Lda. is subsumed under Other segments.

The revenue generated by the entire Group with external cus-
tomers is broken down as follows among the individual na-
tional companies and reported in accordance with IFRS ac-
counting standards:

in EUR million 2020 2019

NFON AG 39.5 35.6

Deutsche Telefon Standard GmbH 13.9 8.7

nfon GmbH 6.4 5.8

NFON UK Ltd. 7.0 6.7

NFON Iberia SL 0.4 0.3

NFON ITALIA S.R.L. 0.2 0.0

NFON France SAS 0.2 0.0

Total revenue of the reportable segments 67.6 57.1

Reconciliation effects 0.0 0.0

Total Group revenue 67.6 57.1

Consolidated revenue

Revenue increased by 18.4% year-on-year. This resulted pri-
marily from the successful acquisition of new customers and 
a rise in the number of installed seats within the existing cus-
tomer base, particularly in Germany, the UK and Austria. The 
revenue of DTS, fully consolidated since 01 March 2019, was 
added for twelve months, having been included in consoli-
dated revenue for only ten months in 2019. In addition, some 
of the revenue growth resulted from the intensified sales of 
the expanded product portfolio among both new customers 
and the existing customer base.

In particular, recurring revenue achieved a very positive devel-
opment. At 23.6%, it increased at a faster rate than total rev-
enue and is therefore higher than the average market growth 
in Europe.

Recurring revenue essentially comprises monthly payments 
of a fixed licence fee per seat plus a fixed or volume-based fee 
for voice telephony usage per seat or SIP trunk. The cumula-
tive effect typical for revenue performance, in relation to seats 
gained over the year, is evident from the trend in the recurring 
revenue generated in the individual quarters of the reporting 
period. Non-recurring revenue includes revenue from sales of 
devices (telephones, soft clients for PCs and smartphones) 
and the one-time activation fee per seat when it is first con-
nected. The reduction in non-recurring revenue compared 
with the same period of the previous year (−9.4%) chiefly re-
flects the lower revenue from devices, which primarily re-
sulted from customers’ increased working from home as a 
result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Significantly fewer desk/
conference telephones, etc., were therefore needed.

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 Recurring  Non-recurring
Growth rate recurring revenues

Share of recurring revenues at the upper end of guidance 
in EUR million

59.4
8.2

48.1
9.1

2020

2019

23.6%
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Development of ARPU

ARPU is calculated as the average recurring revenue from 
seats and SIP trunks per month less recurring revenue from 
SIP trunk licence fees in relation to the average number of 
seats per month, including revenue and seats from cus-
tomers who maintain contractual relations with NFON’s 
wholesale partners.

This partnership with wholesale partners, which is from the 
perspective of the management developing very successfully, 
also has a considerable impact on ARPU performance. First-
ly, discounted prices are being agreed based on the high 
number of seats sold and, secondly, some of these partners 
do not purchase voice minutes through NFON. On average, 
lower ARPU is generated as the share of seats billed through 
wholesale partners increases. In comparison with the previ-
ous year’s figure of EUR 9.64, ARPU amounted to EUR 9.77 
in 2020. In the future, the increasing sales of premium solu-
tions with which NFON can achieve additional ARPU contri-
butions will counteract this trend.

This year’s increase is due partly to the higher demand for te-
lephony during the lockdown periods as a result of the COVID 
19 pandemic. It is not yet possible to predict how long these 
positive effects on ARPU will last.

10.32

9.92

9.64

9.77

2017

2019

2018

2020

ARPU develops positively
Blended APRU in EUR

The positive development in revenue in the NFON AG seg-
ment from EUR 35.6 million to EUR 39.5 million is mainly 
based on an increased seat base compared to the previous 
year, which directly led to higher recurring revenue.

At Deutsche Telefon Standard GmbH, the generally positive 
development, especially with SIP trunk, led to an increase in 
revenue from telephone minutes in particular. In addition, this 
company was consolidated for 12 months for the first time 
(10 months in 2019).

Due to the acquisition of new customers and expansion of 
the seat base, revenue in the nfon GmbH segment rose from 
EUR 5.8 million to EUR 6.4 million. Mainly due to the in-
creased expansion of business with wholesale partners, rev-
enue in the NFON UK Ltd. segment increased from EUR 6.7 
million to EUR 7.0 million.

Revenue in the NFON Iberia SL, NFON ITALIA S.R.L. and NFON 
France SAS segments developed haltingly. The negative ef-
fects of the COVID-19 pandemic, which restricted the econo-
my to an extraordinary degree in these markets, were particu-
larly noticeable here. In addition, the increased telephone 
minutes due to more working from home did not have a sig-
nificant effect here, because the customer base was still small.

Development in seats

Seat development attests to the increasing demand for cloud 
telephone systems among business customers. At the same 
time, it underlines the high level of satisfaction felt by NFON’s 
very loyal customers. 13

13 This information has not been audited by the auditor..

0 100000 200000 300000 400000 500000

Total number of seats grows by 16.7% 
year-on-year

524,791

449,711

31.12.2020

31.12.2019

16.7%
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Other operating expenses including marketing 
and selling expenses

Other operating expenses decreased year-on-year to 
EUR 23.6 million in 2020 (previous year: EUR 26.8 million). 
This is primarily due to the reduced expenses for marketing 
and further other operating expenses. These savings were 
planned and realised in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

In accordance with IAS 38, external developers’ costs for the 
development of products of EUR 0.9 million were capitalised, 
compared with EUR 0.7 million in the previous year.

The figure for the previous year included expenses in connec-
tion with the acquisition of DTS as at 01  March 2019 of 
EUR 0.6 million.

Adjusted for non-recurring effects (adjustments), other op-
erating expenses fell by 9.4% to EUR 23.6 million in 2020. 
This represents an adjusted ratio in relation to total revenue 
of 34.9%, up from 45.6% in the previous year.

Marketing expenses
When the COVID-19 pandemic began, savings were imple-
mented in marketing. Consequently, marketing expenses de-
creased by 25.7% to EUR 6.7 million compared with the same 
period of the previous year (previous year: EUR 9.0 million).

Selling expenses
Selling expenses rose in the 2020 reporting period to EUR 8.0 
million (previous year: EUR 6.7 million). Selling expenses main-
ly include commission paid to NFON  AG’s sales partners, 
which account for a percentage of revenue. The ratio of selling 
expenses to revenue came to 11.9% in 2020, compared with 
11.8% in the previous year.

Depreciation and amortisation

In fiscal year 2020, depreciation and amortisation increased 
year-on-year to EUR 4.2 million (2019: EUR 3.0 million). This 
is mainly due to the completion of development work and 
thus scheduled depreciation that has begun.

Income and expense items

Other operating income

Compared to 2019, income from currency translation rose by 
EUR 0.3 million.

Cost of materials

The cost of materials increased at a slower rate than revenue 
of 2.5% in the reporting period from EUR 13.7 million in the 
same period of the previous year to EUR 14.0 million. This 
development mainly stems from the sharp rise in the share 
of high-margin recurring revenue.

This resulted in a lower cost of materials ratio in comparison 
to the previous year at 20.7% (previous year: 23.9%). This 
falls within regular fluctuations, in line with planning.

Personnel costs

Compared to the previous year, the average number of em-
ployees increased from 360 to 406 in the reporting year, with 
additional staff in sales and development in particular.

In accordance with IAS 38, personnel costs for the develop-
ment of products of EUR 3.0 million were capitalised, com-
pared with EUR 2.2 million in the previous year.

Expenses of EUR 0.9 million (2019: EUR 0.6 million) in con-
nection with an employee share option programme imple-
mented at the start of 2019 and bonuses of EUR 0.2 million 
(2019: EUR 0.5 million) in connection with a retention pro-
gramme for managers were recognised in the reporting 
period.

Adjusted for these effects (adjustments), personnel costs in-
creased year-on-year from EUR 23.1 million to EUR 27.3 mil-
lion. This represents an adjusted personnel costs ratio in re-
lation to revenue of 40.4% in 2020 as against 40.5% in the 
previous year.
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in EUR million 2020 2019

NFON AG 9.3 1.8

Deutsche Telefon Standard GmbH 3.1 1.0

nfon GmbH −1.1 −0.8

NFON UK Ltd. −2.3 −3.4

NFON Iberia SL −1.3 −1.1

NFON ITALIA S.R.L. −2.2 −1.8

NFON France SAS −2.1 −0.8

Total adjusted EBITDA of the 
reportable segments 3.4 −5.1

Other segments 0.1 0.0

Adjustments & Reconciliation effects −1.2 −1.9

Group EBITDA 2.3 −7.0

The adjustments were made exclusively in the NFON AG seg-
ment, as the causal business transactions took place here.

EBITDA, EBIT, consolidated loss

in EUR million 2020 2019

EBITDA 2.3 −7.0

Adjustments

Retention bonus 0.2 0.5

Share options/ESOPS/share-based 
remuneration programme 0.9 0.6

Expenses for DTS acquisition 0.0 0.6

Expenses for AOC capital increase 0.0 0.1

M&A expenses 0.0 0.1

Total adjustments 1.2 1.9

Adjusted EBITDA 3.5 −5.1

EBIT −1.8 −10.0

Consolidated loss −2.2 −10.9

Adjusted consolidated loss −1.1 −9.1

Net interest income

Net interest expense (interest and similar income less inter-
est and similar expenses) amounted to EUR 0.5 million in 
fiscal year 2020 and was down significantly on the previous 
year (EUR 0.8 million). The short-term fixed-rate loan taken 
out in the context of the issued warrant bond expired in Janu-
ary 2020. This leaves only interest payments for an acquisi-
tion loan taken out during the acquisition of DTS.

EBITDA by segment

The Group has seven segments, which are shown separately 
below as reportable segments. The seven segments are 
NFON AG, Deutsche Telefon Standard GmbH, nfon GmbH, 
NFON UK Ltd, NFON Iberia SL, NFON Italia S.R.L. and NFON 
France SAS.

The operating segments are reported on in a manner consis-
tent with the internal reporting to the chief operating decision 
maker.

The breakdown by segments corresponds to the individual 
country companies of the NFON Group, which in the 2020 
fiscal year included two companies from Germany and one 
subsidiary each in Austria, UK, Spain, France and Italy.

The Portuguese company NFON developments unipessoal 
Lda. is subsumed under Other segments.

The reconciliation effects mainly include the adjustments 
made in internal reporting to eliminate special effects for the 
period, as well as effects from consolidation and currency 
translation. This results in an adjusted EBITDA of around 
EUR 3.4 million for the NFON Group in the past 2020 fiscal 
year.
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The negative earnings after tax of EUR 2.2 million were re-
duced in the operating cash flow partly by the amortisation 
of intangible assets and depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment of EUR 4.1 million, the EUR 1.0 million increase in 
liabilities (Trade payables decreased by EUR 0.2 million, other 
liabilities increased by EUR  1.2 million), the expenses of 
EUR 0.9 million in relation to the employee share option pro-
gramme which were recognised as an increase in capital re-
serves, and interest expense of EUR 0.5 million. The EUR 2.7 
million increase in trade receivables, and other assets and the 
interest payments EUR 0.4 million had a particularly negative 
impact on operating cash flow.

A special effect that led to the increase in trade receivables, 
among other things, was the introduction of a new ERP sys-
tem at DTS towards the end of 2020. Temporary delays due 
to the change in the direct debit procedure resulted in out-
standing receipts of payment of approximately EUR 1.3 mil-
lion. This specific outstanding amount was completely re-
duced by the beginning of March 2021 and trade receivables 
were restored to a normal level.
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Financial position

There were no liquidity bottlenecks during the reporting 
period. All payment obligations were met on time. Cash funds 
amounted to EUR 23.0 million as at the end of the reporting 
period.

Financing analysis

In 2020, NFON AG primarily used the proceeds from the IPO 
in 2018, credit agreements with banks and the capital increase 
in 2019 for financing. In connection with this capital increase, 
a warrant bond in the amount of EUR 5 million was repaid in 
the reporting period. In addition, lease liabilities of EUR 1.7 mil-
lion were repaid. Since 08 January 2019, the credit agree-
ments with banks have related to an acquisition credit line in 
the amount of EUR 10 million. The interest rate of 4% on draw-
down at the time the agreement is concluded is variable and 
changes in line with changes in the monthly average of the 
3-month EURIBOR. The commitment fee is 1%. As of the re-
porting date, EUR 8.967 million of this credit line had been 
drawn. According to the credit agreement, NFON must main-
tain a minimum liquidity of EUR 12 million.

Investment analysis

In 2020, investments were primarily made in R&D activities 
recognised under intangible assets. The investments made in 
the reporting period in property, plant and equipment primarily 
went on IT infrastructure and also served to establish the new 
company in Portugal.

Also worth mentioning are investments of EUR 1.2 million in 
the implementation and customising of a new business sup-
port system (BS system, or BSS). In the telecommunications 
industry, this refers to a system for managing contractual re-
lationships with customers/suppliers/partners, managing pro-
ducts and resources and billing.
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Non-current and current assets

in EUR million 2020 2019 Notes/changes

Property, plant 
and equipment

9.5 7.6 Increase mainly due to the rise in 
right-of-use assets for office space 
by EUR 1.3 million to EUR 5.6 million 
as at 31 December 2020 (previous 
year: EUR 4.3 million) and to invest-
ment in the IT infrastructure and 
server hardware to create a corre-
sponding basis for the planned 
growth, other operating and office 
equipment that was necessary 
mainly in connection with leasing 
new office space, and vehicles that 
were capitalised as part of lease ac-
counting.

Intangible assets 27.1 22.4 Increase due in particular to the 
capitalisation of R&D projects 
(31 December 2020: EUR 3.9 million; 
31 December 2019: EUR 2.9 million) 
and capitalised expenses for soft-
ware customisation, in particular for 
customer-specific adjustments and 
enhancements in connection with 
the new BS system, the implemen-
tation of which was started in the 
reporting year (31.12.2020: EUR 1.2 
million; 31.12.2019: EUR 0.1 million).

Other non-finan-
cial assets

0.3 0.3

Deferred tax 
assets

1.1 0.1 The increase in deferred tax assets 
relates in particular to the first-time 
recognition of deferred tax assets on 
tax losses carried forward at DTS.

Non-current 
assets

37.9 30.5

Trade receivables 10.0 7.6 The growth in the customer base  
is accompanied by a rise in amounts 
billed and currently due from cus-
tomers. Additional special effect due 
to temporarily delayed direct debits at 
DTS (Approximately EUR 1.3 million).

Other financial 
and non-financial 
assets

2.8 2.8

Cash and cash 
equivalents

23.0 36.4 Cash and cash equivalents 
 decreased, partly due to 
 investments in non-current assets 
and the repaid warrant bond.

Current assets 35.8 46.7

The development of the asset situation is in line with the ex-
pectations of the Executive Board.

Cash flow from investing activities of around EUR −7.6 mil-
lion resulted largely from the payments for capitalised R&D 
projects, capitalised software customisation, and extensions 
of a new BS system, the implementation of which was 
started in the reporting year, as well as the IT infrastructure 
and server hardware to create a corresponding basis for the 
planned growth, as well as further operating and office 
equipment, which became necessary primarily in the course 
of renting new office space.

At EUR 5.1 million, negative cash flow from financing activ-
ities relates to cash outflows for the repayment of the war-
rant bond issued in the previous year and liabilities similar to 
loans. Another EUR 1.7 million relates to the repayment of 
lease liabilities in the reporting year.

Assets and liabilities
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Overall Evaluation of the 
Economic Situation

NFON AG experienced a successful fiscal year 2020. With a 
revenue growth rate of 18.4%, the company significantly ex-
ceeded the previous year’s revenue again in the reporting 
year. Recurring revenue, as an indicator for the stability of the 
business model, grew by 23.6% and thus, as in the previous 
year, outpaced total consolidated revenue in 2020, contrib-
uting 87.8% to revenue overall. This stability is particularly 
remarkable given the strained global economic situation as a 
result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The NFON Group’s success 
is built on the sustainable base of seats operated by cus-
tomers. With a growth rate of 16.7% (31.12.2020: 524,791 
seats), these were also significantly increased compared to 
those of the previous year, even if the original expectations 
were not reached. This increase nevertheless proves that the 
company is successfully addressing the promising market of 
cloud telephony and further expanding its customer base.

NFON has a clearly defined growth strategy. In addition to 
operational progress in 2020, NFON AG also achieved further 
significant strategic milestones in the reporting period. For 
example, NFON exceeded the milestone of 500,000 seats 
installed by customers in 2020 and thus not only strength-
ened the basis for further growth, but also enlarged it. In add-
ition, the European network of partners was expanded to 
over 2,700. For the future of the NFON Group, it will be cru-
cial to continue developing the product portfolio. Here, too, 
an important milestone was reached with the establishment 
of a development centre in Lisbon, Portugal.

In view of the satisfying operational and strategic develop-
ment in 2020, the Management Board believes that 
NFON AG is well on the way to becoming a leading provider 
of cloud telephony in Europe.

Supplementary report
With effect from 29 March 2021, NFON AG increased its 
share capital by 1,505,555 shares to 16,561,124 shares by 
means of a capital increase excluding subscription rights].

Equity

As at 31 December 2020, NFON AG had issued 15,055,569 
(as at 31 December 2019: 15,055,569) ordinary bearer shares 
with a notional interest in the share capital of EUR 1.00. Sub-
scribed capital totalled EUR 15.1 million as at 31 December 
2020 (31 December 2019: EUR 15.1 million).

Equity decreased from EUR 47.1 million as at 31 December 
2019 to EUR 45.6 million as at 31 December 2020, primarily 
due to the consolidated net loss of EUR 2.2 million. Capital 
reserves increased from EUR 83.0 million to EUR 83.3 mil-
lion. This change resulted from the issue of employee stock 
options (EUR +0.9 million) and the first-time recognition in 
2020 of deferred taxes relating to IPO costs (EUR −0.6 mil-
lion), which in previous years were recognised in capital re-
serves. The currency translation reserve decreased by 
EUR 0.3 million.

Non-current and current liabilities

in EUR million 2020 2019 Notes/changes

Non-current 
financial liabilities

4.6 3.4 The increase – corresponding  
to the increase in property, plant 
and equipment – relates to 
 liabilities for the use of office 
space recognised as part of  
lease accounting.

Other non-cur-
rent liabilities

0.2 0.2

Deferred tax
liabilities

0.8 0.1 The increase is mainly related to 
R&D projects recognised in 
NFON AG and the deferred tax 
liabilities based on them.

Non-current debt 5.6 3.7

Trade payables 4.9 5.2

Current provi-
sions and income 
tax liabilities

2.4 2.3

Current financial 
liabilities

10.7 15.5 Decline due to the payment of 
the warrant bond of EUR 5 mil-
lion issued in the previous year.

Other liabilities 4.6 3.4

Current liabilities 22.6 26.4
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Risks and 
opportunities

Risk and opportunity management 
 system

The risk and opportunity management system is based on 
the triad of risk management, compliance and governance.

This is an integrated, holistic approach that guarantees that 
the organisation’s conduct is ethical, consistent with its risk 
appetite and in line with internal and external guidelines. 
This approach is aimed at enhancing the effectiveness of 
the organisation by coordinating strategies, processes, 
people and technology.

In conjunction with this approach, the risks of all three com-
ponents (risk management, compliance and governance) 
should be recorded, qualified and controlled in a uniform 
approach and according to a uniform model. In conjunction 
with this approach, the risks of all three components (risk 
management, compliance and governance) are recorded, 
qualified and controlled in a uniform approach and accord-
ing to a uniform model.

The risk and opportunity management system of the NFON 
Group serves to recognise and identify risks and opportun-
ities at an early stage and to contain risks as necessary. The 
risk and opportunity policy of the NFON Group is geared 
towards sustainably securing the company’s ability to con-
tinue as a going concern and continuously improving its 
competitive capability. Risk and opportunity management 

14 Source: ISO 31000

is integrated into the value-driven management and exist-
ing structures of the NFON Group in order to recognise and 
assess potential signals at an early stage. The key phases of 
the risk management of the NFON Group are 14:

Risk and opportunity management is essentially based on 
ISO 31000 and ISO 27001 in conjunction with other statutory 
regulations, in particular Section 91(2) of the Aktiengesetz 
(AktG – German Stock Corporation Act) and Section 107(3) 
sentence 2 AktG. This therefore guarantees that risk and op-
portunity management at the NFON Group is subject to a 
uniform methodology.

The NFON Group regards risk and opportunity management 
as a continuous and integrated process. Furthermore, risks 
identified during the fiscal year that have a high probability 
of occurrence and a high potential extent of damage are 
communicated to the Management Board without delay 
through the reporting lines. The risk early detection system 
is evaluated by the auditor in conjunction with the audit of 
the financial statements to ensure that management has 
appropriately taken the measures required under Sec-
tion 91(2) AktG, in particular regarding the establishment of 
a monitoring system, and that the monitoring system is suit-
able for identifying developments that could jeopardise the 
continued existence of the company at an early stage.

The Supervisory Board advises on risk management and 
compliance management, and monitors the effectiveness of 
the risk management system, the internal control system and 
the accounting process.

Risk and opportunity management system
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Responsibilities

The Management Board is responsible for the introduction of 
the risk management system. It defines the risk management 
targets and methods for the Group, including the methods to 
hedge risks.

On behalf of the Management Board, the Risks & Opportun-
ities Committee monitors the implementation and execution 
of a uniform risk strategy and methodology and compliance 
with it. The following areas of responsibility have been de-
fined for the committee:

I.  Research & Development
II.  IT/Support
III. Operations
IV. Consulting & Services (formerly Technical Consultant)
V.  HR
VI.  Procurement
VII.  Sales
VIII.  Regulation, Legal and Compliance
IX.  Product Development
X.  Product Management
XI.  Business Development
XII.  Market and Reputation
XIII.  Finance and Controlling

The committee has six members including the Risks & Op-
portunities Manager. Each member of the Risks & Opportun-
ities Committee assumes responsibility for coordinating the 
risk inventory in the areas they have been assigned. The task 
of identifying, analysing and assessing the risks and oppor-
tunities in a specific department remains the responsibility of 
the department heads. Moreover, they are to ensure that op-
portunities are exploited and risks managed appropriately. 
The following areas have each been assigned to a member of 
the committee:

1. R&D, Internal IT/Support, Operations
2.  Purchasing, Sales, Product Management, Business De-

velopment, Market/Reputation, Consulting & Services 
(formerly Technical Consultant), Product Development

3. HR, Regulation, Legal, Compliance
4. Finance/Controlling
5. IT Security Officer/Data Protection Officer
6. Risks & Opportunities Manager

Additional (matrix functions):
• • Managing directors of subsidiaries I

In the committee’s joint meetings, the members consult at regu-
lar intervals on the identification, analysis and assessment of 
risks and opportunities. This approach ensures that the inte-
grated, holistic approach that has been selected by NFON is 
embraced. All risks from the areas of compliance and govern-
ance are accounted for and indexed in HR, Regulation, Legal and 
Compliance. The report on risks and opportunities prepared by 
the Risks & Opportunities Committee is regularly coordinated 
with the Management Board.

Risk assessment

In order to identify, assess and manage all significant risks, the 
central risk assessment (risk inventory) of the NFON Group 
takes place at least once a year, and preferably every quarter. 
The assessed forecast horizon covers the year (12 months) fol-
lowing the inventory. The risk assessment was performed 
twice in 2020. In addition, a meeting is held together with the 
Executive Board in each case at the time of the consolidated 
annual financial statements to assess the risk inventory for the 
final opportunity and risk report. The purpose of risk assess-
ment is to support decisions. This determines the “loss 
amount” and the “probability of occurrence”. The “loss amount” 
is defined as the potential impact of the loss if the risk actually 
occurs. The financial loss must be quantified. The probability 
of occurrence is the result of a possible number of incidences 
of the risk within a defined period.

Risk assessment can lead to the decision:

• not to take any further action (acceptance);
• to consider options for responding to the risk (relocation);
• to conduct further analysis to better understand the risk 

(minimisation);
• to maintain existing controls or review objectives.

Decisions should consider the broader context and the actu-
al and perceived effects on external and internal stakehold-
ers. The results of the risk assessment are recorded, commu-
nicated and then validated at the relevant levels of the NFON 
Group.
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If the risk situation changes significantly, an inventory will be 
required more frequently. All risks identified are assigned risk 
classes and assessed according to risk potential, i.e. the loss 
amount and the probability of occurrence. The risk assess-
ment is conducted based on the following criteria:

Loss amount
If a loss occurs, it can have an impact on liquidity. The loss has 
corresponding consequences if the defined amounts are in-
curred during the respective period. This is regardless of 
whether the loss was incurred due to one or several events 
during the respective period.

Classification of the loss amount

The loss categories described above relate to the total loss of 
one or several events occurring in the period under review. In 
the multiplication shown below, individual events are used 
as a basis for assessment.

NFON has liability and financial loss insurance with coverage 
of EUR 10 million.

15 In addition to the risks recorded above, IT security and data protection risks are assessed again separately using the CIA values: confidentiality (C), integrity (I) and availability (A).

Probability of occurrence
The probability of occurrence is defined individually as fol-
lows per period:

Cat-
egory

Description 
(qualitative)

Probability of occurrence 
(quantitative)

5 Almost certain 80−99% Monthly

4 Highly probable 60−79% Annual

3 Probable 40−59%
Every 1 to 2 years  
on average

2 Improbable 20−39%
Every 3 to 5 years  
on average

1 Highly improbable 0−19%
No more than every  
5 years on average

The determination of the probability of occurrence is based 
on empirical and measured values from prior periods, e.g. 
findings of a management review and events, if available. Al-
ternatively, these values must be estimated.

Risk classes 15
A classification into five risk classes can be derived by multi-
plying the figures of the loss amount and the probability of 
occurrence.

The result of multiplying the probability and the loss amount, 
and the associated risk classification, can be seen in the fol-
lowing risk portfolio.

To better illustrate the difference between the classes of loss 
amount and probability of occurrence – classes 1 to 5 – and 
the risk classes, thereby avoiding misunderstandings, the 
designation of the risk classes has been changed from num-
bers (1 to 5) to the five letters A to E.

Loss amount

> 10.000.000 EUR 5 5 10 15 20 25

> 5.000.000 EUR 4 4 8 12 16 20

> 1.250.000 EUR 3 3 6 9 12 15

> 100.000 EUR 2 2 4 6 8 10

<= 100.000 EUR 1 1 2 3 4 5

Probability of occur-
rence -> < 1 2 3 4 5

Probability of occur-
rence in % ->

0– 
19%

20– 
39%

40– 
59%

60– 
79%

80– 
99%

Loss amount Interpretation Impact on liquidity

5 – Catastrophic
Existence-threatening 
loss potential > 10,000,000 EUR

4 – Significant
Significant 
loss potential > 5,000,000 EUR

3 – Medium
Medium 
loss potential > 1,250,000 EUR

2 – Low
Low 
loss potential > 100,000 EUR

1 – Very low
Insignificant 
loss potential <= 100,000 EUR

Examples: One loss of EUR 12 million occurs within one year. 
This would threaten the company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern – catastrophic. Three losses of EUR 4 million 
are incurred within one year. The total loss is EUR 12 million 
and therefore equally threatens the company’s ability to con-
tinue as a going concern – catastrophic.
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Risk class A – Red
Risk class A covers risks threatening the company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. They can seriously influence the 
company’s liquidity situation and development.

Risk class B – Orange
These risks can significantly affect the company’s liquidity 
situation and development.

Risk class C – Yellow
These risks can moderately affect the company’s liquidity 
situation and development.

Risk class D – Green
These risks have no significant impact on the company’s 
 liquidity situation or development, and can only jeopardise 
the company in absolutely exceptional circumstances. Never-
theless, they can strain the company’s liquidity and should be 
reduced through organisational safeguards and checks as 
part of general company monitoring.

Risk class E – Blue
These risks do not affect the company’s liquidity situation or 
development.

Gross and net risks
The assessment is based on gross and net risks. Gross risks 
constitute risks which exist if no measures have been imple-
mented to address the risk.

Net risks are risks which exist after measures have been 
taken and therefore constitute the residual risk. The net risks 
are presented below.

Net risks of the NFON Group

Employee risks

Filling vacant posts
The situation for companies with a pronounced focus on soft-
ware developers has not changed significantly in 2020. Even 
though the labour market of the countries of the European 
Union as a whole is conspicuously heterogeneous, euro crisis 
countries such as Spain, Italy or Greece are still encumbered 
with high unemployment rates. By contrast, some EU nations 
have impressively low unemployment rates – Germany, the 
UK, Austria and Portugal are all significantly below the EU 
average of 7.3%. 16

16 https://de.statista.com/statistik/daten/studie/160142/umfrage/arbeitslosenquote-in-den-eu-laendern/
17 https://www.bitkom.org/Presse/Presseinformation/86000-offene-Stellen-fuer-IT-Fachkraefte#:~:text=Ende%202020%20sind%20quer%20durch,unbesetzten%20

Jobs%20zu%20verzeichnen%20war.

The effects of the global COVID-19 pandemic are a key factor 
when looking at the labour market. The analysis of the unem-
ployment rates of EU nations in December 2020 shows that 
the economic consequences of the pandemic are now having 
a clear impact on the labour market statistics of the European 
Union. Most of the Member States did not begin implement-
ing measures to contain the pandemic (lockdown) until March 
2020. However, their impact only became apparent with the 
revisions of the figures for April. At the same time, a majority 
of national governments have put together far-reaching aid 
packages to provide economic support to industry and con-
sumers. However, according to market researchers, it will be 
scarcely possible to prevent a generally dramatic increase in 
unemployment figures in the countries of the EU in the com-
ing months. At the time of this report, it is unknown whether 
the situation will change for companies that, like NFON, cur-
rently have very high vacancies.

As before, the availability on the labour market of the qualified 
employees sought after is limited. Filling R&D vacancies in 
particular is a risk factor. Even though the shortage of IT spe-
cialists has eased under the weight of the coronavirus crisis, 
it remains at a high level. According to Bitkom 17, this situation 
will not change in the near future either. As at the end of 
2020, there are still 86,000 vacancies for IT experts across 
all sectors. This is the second-highest figure since records 
began in 2011. The risk of not being able to find ideally quali-
fied candidates to fill vacancies within an appropriate time-
frame has not changed since the previous year and, with a 
loss amount of 3 (medium, > EUR 1.25 million) and a probabil-
ity of occurrence of 4 (highly probable, annual), is rated as a 
class B risk overall (risks can significantly affect the compa-
ny’s liquidity situation/development).

To attract the ideal employees to NFON, further initiatives 
were developed and implemented above and beyond the con-
ventional recruitment measures in 2019. In addition, com-
panies, e.g. software agencies, that are open to collaboration 
with the NFON Group (acqui-hire) are sought, including in the 
context of M&A activities. Also, a new development location 
was opened in Portugal in September 2020. With a high 
share of STEM graduates (science, technology, engineering 
and mathematics) and a good and broad integration of the 
English language, young workers in Portugal have a strong 
affinity for international development projects. As a result, 
there is a strong supply of developers in the areas of front-
end, back-end, PHP and general coding.
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Market risks

Competitive situation among the peer group
The market for cloud business communications remains 
highly fragmented. The major competitors of the NFON 
Group include companies such as the European providers 
Gamma Communications Ltd., EasyCall AG, Fuze, Inc., J2 
Global, Inc., sipgate GmbH, Vonage Holdings Corp., VOZTEL-
ECOM OIGAA360 S.A. and Sewan Comunicaciones SL (for-
merly Vozelia) or the major US competitors RingCentral, Inc. 
and 8x8, Inc. Companies such as Gamma, RingCentral or 8x8 
are also noted for their active acquisition strategy.

The European cloud PBX market is around three to five years 
behind the cloud PBX market of North America in terms of 
development and penetration. In particular, the two US com-
panies RingCentral and 8x8 already offer a wide range of so-
lutions in the unified communications-as-a-service (UCaaS) 
segment. These solutions include video conferencing, collab-
orative platforms or messaging and chat services. Thus far, 
both RingCentral and 8x8 have had only a limited presence 
in continental Europe. NFON currently assumes that the dif-
fering regulatory requirements among European countries, 
the array of languages and the requirements of the EU Gen-
eral Data Protection Regulation will prove to be significant 
barriers to market entry for the large US companies. Never-
theless, it can be assumed that the US providers regularly 
evaluate a potential entry into the continental European mar-
kets. This could lead to large competitors accelerating their 
market entry in continental Europe. Competition will con-
tinue to heighten as a logical consequence of technological 
development, demographic changes within the corporate 
landscape and the acceleration in the shift to cloud services 
as a result of the pandemic. NFON is aware of this risk and 
has taken appropriate countermeasures. Above all, these in-
clude the ongoing and successful implementation of its strat-
egy. The faster NFON can expand its own network of part-
ners throughout Europe and strengthen its market position 
in Europe, the more difficult it will be for competitors to gain 
a foothold. The experience of recent years, with a consistently 
very low gross churn rate of >0.5% per month, has also 
shown that, even on markets were the competition is becom-
ing more visible, NFON customers are not prepared to switch 
to other providers. Thus, the company now rates the risk 
“Competitive situation among the peer group” as a class 3 
loss amount (medium, > EUR 1.25 million; previously: class 
4, significant, > EUR 5 million) but with an unchanged prob-
ability of 4 (highly probable, annual). This risk has therefore 
been reduced overall to class B (could significantly affect the 
liquidity situation/development of the company) from previ-
ously class A (could seriously impair the liquidity situation/
development of the company).

Competitive situation among Internet service companies
Large corporations such as Zoom Video Communications, Inc., 
Microsoft Corporation, Amazon.com, Inc. or Google LLC are 
also considered potential competitors. If one of these or other 
Internet service companies decide to make cloud PBX a stra-
tegic focus, they would be extremely well placed to become a 
significant provider on the market for cloud PBX given their 
brand recognition, customer base and financial and techno-
logical resources. At the same time, companies such as NFON 
are continuing to develop their product portfolios towards UC 
functionalities and adapting more and more to the increasingly 
disruptive market development. NFON still rates the probabil-
ity of occurrence of this risk as very high and, given the overall 
situation, is raising it from 3 (probable, every one to two years 
on average) to 4 (highly probable, annual). On the other hand, 
the company is reducing the loss potential based on the ex-
perience of recent years from 4 (significant, > EUR 5 million) 
to 3 (medium, > EUR 1.25 million). This is therefore still risk 
class B, (the risk could significantly influence the liquidity situ-
ation/development of the company).

Use of call minutes (volume)
A trend can be seen in the development of competitors and 
their portfolio of products/solutions towards the increasing 
use of digital services in terms of unified communica-
tions-as-a-service (UCaaS). It is therefore assumed that the 
use of new social media exchange platforms or over-the-top 
services will increase. This development means the risk that 
customers will use fewer and fewer voice minutes. NFON also 
intends to evolve into a UCaaS supplier. NFON is able to mit-
igate the drop in prices by creating new services. This risk of 
the declining use of voice minutes is lower than in the previous 
year (2019). Since the previous year’s inventory, the probabil-
ity that the volume of voice minutes used by customers will 
decline has been reduced from 5 (almost certain, monthly) to 
2 (unlikely, not more than every five years on average). This 
reassessment is based on the experiences gathered in 2020 
especially. Accordingly, the volume of voice minutes used has 
actually increased as a result of the requirements and changes 
in day-to-day working life brought about by the pandemic. 
However, if volume were to decline, the loss amount would 
still be class 3 (medium, > EUR 1.25 million). Overall, the lower 
probability has reduced the risk to class C (the risk could mod-
erately influence the liquidity situation or existence of the 
company).
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Operational risks

Data security and IT security are key features of the NFON 
Group and its products and services. As already reported in 
the previous year, the risk inventory was also fundamentally 
revised in conjunction with ISO 27001 certification. As a result, 
risks have been subdivided further and described in more de-
tail than in the previous year. In this context, the Group no 
longer reports the generally formulated risk of potential “hack-
er attacks”. This risk is now divided into risk areas such as “In-
formation security in projects”, “Mobile devices and remote 
working”, “Need-to-know principles”, “Encryption of mobile 
data carriers”, “Secure login procedures” or “Secure transmis-
sion”. The assessment of these risk areas did not produce any 
significant risk. This approach ensures that the NFON Group 
pays continuous and special attention to these risk areas.

Intellectual property
Despite the efforts to maintain confidentiality, including the 
obligations of secrecy that have been agreed with NFON em-
ployees, suppliers and partners, the NFON Group’s intellectu-
al property and expertise could fall into the hands of competi-
tors. This could mean that competitors are able to use NFON’s 
own technological developments and expertise to increase 
competitive pressure. This risk is particularly high when em-
ployees with specific expertise, for example product managers 
or software developers, are poached by competitors. In the 
event that NFON’s intellectual property is not appropriately 
protected, the corresponding expertise could ultimately no 
longer be used in NFON products. NFON has taken corre-
sponding countermeasures. In the previous year, this risk was 
still assigned to risk class A overall (the risk could seriously 
affect the company’s liquidity situation/development) with a 
loss amount of 5 (catastrophic, > EUR 10 million) and a prob-
ability of occurrence of 4 (highly probable, annual). The risk 
was reclassified for the 2020 risk inventory and, with a loss 
amount of 3 (medium, > EUR 1.25 million) and a probability of 
occurrence of 3 (probable, every one to two years on average), 
is now assigned to risk class C overall (the risk could moder-
ately influence the liquidity situation or development of the 
company).

Furthermore, efforts to enforce special intellectual property 
rights could be met with defence mechanisms, counterclaims 
and counterclaims against the validity and enforceability of 
NFON’s intellectual property rights. In addition, any legal dis-
pute, whether or not it is resolved in the company’s favour, can 
incur significant costs and impair the efficiency of the R&D 
department. NFON AG has implemented appropriate protec-
tive mechanisms. The risk has lessened since the previous 
year and, having previously been rated as a class B risk overall 
(the risk could significantly influence the liquidity situation or 
existence of the company), is now seen as a class C risk (the 

risk could moderately affect the liquidity situation/develop-
ment of the company). This corresponds to a lower loss 
amount of 4 (significant, > EUR 5 million; previously 5, cata-
strophic, > EUR 10 million) with an unchanged probability of 
occurrence of 2 (unlikely, every three to five years on average).

Pace of development and provision of new functionalities 
(product and service portfolio)
On a highly fragmented market that is undergoing disruptive 
change, it is important not only to offer high-quality products 
and services, but also to put them on the market promptly in 
line with customers’ requirements. To this extent, there is a 
risk that the company may not be able to achieve the speed 
that the market demands, or at worst that it could fall well 
behind the pace of change or fail to develop products that suit 
customer requirements, and thus no longer be able to satisfy 
customer requirements. This risk correlates with the risk of 
not being able to develop new functionalities at the pace de-
manded by the market. To at least keep up with the pace of 
development required by the market, it is also important to 
implement development requirements and aims by way of 
appropriately and sufficiently staffed development teams. 
Despite a number of measures that the development teams 
are expanding appropriately and the additional possibility of 
using external development capacity, NFON is also confront-
ed by the general labour market conditions described above. 
NFON AG has implemented corresponding countermeasures, 
including the opening of its new development location in Por-
tugal. The assessment still assumes a probability of occur-
rence of 5 (almost certain, monthly) and a potential loss 
amount of 3 (medium loss potential, > EUR  1.25 million), 
which corresponds to risk class A (the risk could seriously af-
fect the company’s liquidity situation/development).

Service offering will be delayed
NFON attaches great importance to a customer-oriented ser-
vice offering. When a cloud telephony system can be installed 
quickly and easily, in most cases the support of consultants 
and professional services becomes necessary for the imple-
mentation of premium solutions, e.g. Ncontactcenter, Nhos-
pitality or Neorecording. As the success of premium solutions 
grows, so too does demand and thus the need for highly quali-
fied personnel. The labour market situation makes it difficult 
for companies to find and hire such personnel. NFON thus also 
faces the risk of not being able to attract sufficient personnel 
to offer and expand the service offering it has developed. Ac-
cordingly, NFON rates the probability of occurrence of this risk 
as a 5 (almost certain, monthly) with a loss potential of 2 (low, 
> EUR 100,000), which translates into a class B risk (the risk 
could significantly affect the company’s liquidity situation/de-
velopment).
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Financial risks

Growth risk
The growth risk results in synopsis with and from the potential 
mutual interactions between the risks described. It is possible 
that revenue will not be generated as planned. This situation 
was scrutinised again, in particular in the context of the nega-
tive impact of the pandemic on economic developments in 
Europe, and the potential loss amount was increased from 
previously 3 (medium loss potential > EUR 1.25 million) to 4 
(significant loss potential, > EUR 5 million). NFON still rates 
the probability of occurrence as 3 (probable, every one to two 
years on average). The risk class was therefore raised from C 
to B overall (the risk could significantly affect the liquidity situ-
ation or development of the company). This assessment, in 
particular on the basis of the uncertainty stemming from the 
pandemic, is consistent with the prudence principle, to which 
the company is committed.

Financing risk
Despite the fact that NFON AG is still growing and, in par-
ticular, achieved positive EBITDA in fiscal 2020, there are still 
high net payments for investing activities and high planned 
payments for marketing expenses, sales activities and product 
developments. Accordingly, the company anticipates negative 
cash flows in future as well and, under its current strategy, will 
also require additional financing moving forward. This financ-
ing may not be available or may only be available on unfavour-
able terms. This could have a significantly negative impact on 
planned future growth. The risk assessment, which was al-
ready taken into account in the capital increase in March 2021, 
has therefore been left as class B: loss amount 5 (catastroph-
ic, > EUR 10 million), probability of occurrence 2 (unlikely, 
every three to five years on average).

Special COVID-19 situation (risks)

The spread of the new SARS-CoV-2 virus has meant major 
challenges to the euro economy and will continue to do so in 
the current fiscal year as well. The long-term harm caused by 
the pandemic is still uncertain. The aid and support measures 
implemented by the governments of European states are pro-
viding short-term stability. However, there is no way of know-
ing whether these measures might have long-term repercus-
sions, and what economic consequences will emerge after 
these measures come to an end. This situation is and remains 
new for the NFON Group as well. Thanks to its stable business 
model and the structure of the product portfolio, NFON has 
not suffered any significant or predominantly negative reper-
cussions to date. Nonetheless, there is still the risk that a large 
number of companies will become insolvent and have to file 
for bankruptcy. Also, some customers postponed expansion 
decisions and the implementation of customer projects was 
thus delayed. This risk is mainly anticipated in countries such 
as the UK, Austria or Italy and, depending on the individual 
situation in each company, has been assigned a probability of 
occurrence of 5 (almost certain, monthly) or 3 (probable, every 
one to two years on average) with a loss amount of 2 (low, > 
EUR 100,000) or 3 (medium, > EUR 1.25 million). However, 
despite the countermeasures implemented, customers have 
indeed delayed the switch to a cloud telephony system or the 
expansion of seats. This risk in particular has therefore mate-
rialised for 2020. Customers have deferred orders. The risk 
will persist for the fiscal year with ongoing uncertainty.
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Overall assessment of the NFON Group’s risk 
situation

Compared to the total number of risks identified in the previ-
ous year (231), this year the number has fallen to 228 despite 
the uncertainty brought about by the pandemic. At the same 
time, the number of risks classified as significant (risk classes 
A and B) has fallen from 13 to seven. Overall, the Management 
Board accepts the risks as manageable; the Group is not cur-
rently at risk as a going concern. In terms of organisation, the 
company has created the conditions to learn of potential new 
risk exposures at an early stage and to be able to respond 
quickly.

The following table provides a summarised overview of the 
risk position (net risks) of the NFON Group as at the end of the 
reporting period and the development of risks relative to the 
previous year. For transparency reasons, the risks whose as-
sessment level has decreased since 2019 are shown again and 
labelled as “(Old)” or “Reduced (-) Removed”. Unless the risk 
assessment of these risks no longer considered significant in 
2020 changes during fiscal 2021, these risks will no longer be 
listed in the next report. Recently added risks are indicated 
(New). Risks whose assessment has increased or remained 
the same are indicated “Increased” or “Unchanged” (≈)”.

Risk development Number

Unchanged 4

Reduced 1

Reduced, removed 4

New 2

Risks Loss amount
Probability 

of occurrence Risk class Development

Employee risks

Filling vacant posts (general)
Still persists not as above 3 4 B Unchanged (≈)

Market risks

Competitive situation among the peer group 3 (previously 4) 4 B (previously A) Reduced (-)

Competitive situation among Internet service companies 3 (previously 4) 4 (previously 3) B Unchanged (≈)

Use of call minutes 3 2 (previously 5) C (previously A) Reduced (-) removed

Operational risks

Hacker attacks were divided into different risk areas 5 (Old) 3 (Old) A (Old) Reduced (-) removed

Intellectual property – confidentiality 3 (previously 5) 3 (previously 4) C Reduced (-) removed

Intellectual property – enforcement of third-party rights 4 (previously 5) 2 C Reduced (-) removed

Pace of development and provision of new functionalities 
(product and service portfolio) 3 5 A Unchanged (≈)

Service offering will be delayed 2 5 B New

Financial risks

Growth risk 4 (New) 3 B New

Financing 5 2 B Unchanged (≈)
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Opportunities for the NFON Group

The NFON Group determines its opportunities qualitatively; 
opportunities were not quantified or compiled in an oppor-
tunities matrix for management purposes. The assessed fore-
cast horizon covers the year (12 months) following the inven-
tory.

The objective behind the NFON Group’s growth strategy is to 
become the No. 1 for cloud business communications in Eu-
rope. The subsequent disruptive factors in respect of both 
market conditions and customer behaviour form the basis for 
the successful implementation of the growth strategy de-
fined by NFON. At the same time, they are fertile soil for fur-
ther opportunities that could have a positive influence on the 
development of NFON AG, and have not changed compared 
to fiscal 2019. However, the highly unusual situation caused 
by the pandemic has fundamentally increased the opportun-
ities for cloud communication 18:

1. The conversion from ISDN to all IP announced by all teleph-
ony providers (carriers).

2. The introduction of digital technologies that affect many 
business processes and increase the necessity of integrating 
various digital solutions on one platform.

3. The need for digital scalable services to be as flexible as 
necessary and the need to only post expenses that are ac-
tually incurred.

4. The remote use of all digital technologies used in one busi-
ness.

5. The minimisation of administrative and maintenance ser-
vices by central control of all services used.

6. The considerable reduction of costs and increase in effi-
ciency in all work and business processes.

As the study conducted by KPMG in cooperation with Bitkom 
Research 19 reveals, the perception of cloud communication 
is improving constantly on the whole, and it is being used 
more and more by companies. The opportunities presented 
below therefore have an even greater probability of being le-
veraged by NFON.

18 KPMG Cloud Monitor 2020. Driving the Integration and Interoperability of the Cloud. In cooperation with Bitkom research.
19 KPMG Cloud Monitor 2020. Driving the Integration and Interoperability of the Cloud. In cooperation with Bitkom research.
20 This information has not been audited by the auditor.
21 This information has not been audited by the auditor.
22 This information has not been audited by the auditor.

Market opportunities

The NFON Group is now represented in 15 European coun-
tries and is thus the only pan-European provider of cloud 
technology ²0. On a highly fragmented European market for 
cloud telephony, this puts NFON in a strong position ²1 to be-
come the leading provider of cloud telephony in Europe. For 
this reason, the growth strategy of NFON AG has defined 
market development and market consolidation as two of the 
five growth vectors. In line with the plans published with the 
IPO, the NFON Group commenced sales activities in Italy and 
established a new subsidiary in France in 2019. This essen-
tially relates to the development of the partner network and 
thus acquiring new customers. In combination with the en-
deavours of NFON to become an active part of intensifying 
market consolidation, market entry in France and Italy could 
be accelerated. In addition, it is likely that the large number 
of smaller providers in the European market could decline 
considerably. Consequently, the market opportunities for 
larger providers could increase.

These developments are also receiving additional impetus 
from the ongoing conversion of ISDN to all IP. Businesses 
with a known brand and corresponding reputation will find it 
easier to gain customers in this environment. As the market 
leader in Germany ²² and with its rising brand awareness in 
other European countries, NFON has already developed a 
corresponding reputation.

Customers who are compelled to convert their telephony are 
increasingly taking notice of NFON as provider. If the imple-
mentation announced by carriers is faster than previously 
indicated, NFON can exploit its market presence as an add-
itional opportunity to accelerate its growth strategy.

Opportunities as an employer
For many employers the search for qualified employees has 
become a critical success factor. Despite all the challenges 
that NFON faced in the past fiscal year, the company consid-
ers this factor to be a major opportunity in the rapidly chang-
ing market for cloud communication. The brand essence de-
fined for NFON also applies to NFON’s employees: the key 
issue is freedom of business communication.

By creating attractive employment conditions and the oppor-
tunity to work throughout Europe, NFON is already seen as 
an attractive employer today. Agility, excellence, team spirit, 
innovation and a focus on the customer are the values that 
we practice. This way, the NFON Group could stand out 
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internationally from the competition and hire staff who will 
clearly advance the development of NFON in terms of its pro-
duct and market strategy.

Furthermore, NFON has adopted new methods of personnel 
recruitment. In addition to conventional measures and the 
use of recruitment consultants, a new development location 
was opened in the previous year. NFON also sees major op-
portunities to gain qualified employees through company 
acquisitions (acqui-hire).

Product opportunities

Business communication is not just confined to telephony. 
Following the triumph of e-mail, chat and messaging func-
tionalities, collaboration platforms along with web and video 
conferencing are increasingly being used. Networked and 
remote working will lead to increasing use of unified commu-
nications-as-a-service, UCaaS. This will result in the migra-
tion of telephony, communication and collaboration to a 
single system in a cloud environment. Advanced UC plat-
forms already offer diverse functionalities such as internal 
chats, web meetings, virtual team work, telephony and video 
conferencing and also ensure the mobile accessibility at all 
times of field staff or those in home office. Additional services 
that could be offered via a UC platform are contact centre 
functionalities such as automated switchboards, IVR tech-
nology (interactive voice response), call forwarding or inte-
gration with standard CRM approaches. Full flexibility and 
scalability for day-to-day business will be possible with these 
services.

The NFON Group also views its development into a UCaaS 
provider as significant for its future success. Aside from pro-
viding UC functionalities that are already known, NFON AG 
can also anticipate emerging trends from the evaluation of 
disruptive customer behaviour and needs and, in combina-
tion with its agile development process, provide other, new 
corresponding functionalities.

These can be rapidly offered to customers via the existing 
developed Cloudya platform. As a result, the NFON Group 
could develop to become a preferred provider of UC services.

Sales opportunities

A significant factor for the positive development of the NFON 
Group is a growing and successful partner network. The 
NFON Group had a partner network of more than 2,700 part-
ners in 2020. This network is maintained by the NFON 
Group’s established partner management and is being ex-
panded further. In addition, opportunities also arise through 
activities relating to market consolidation to expand the part-
ner network with networks that are already established and 
thus to step up growth. Increased penetration of the market 
is possible through expanding the partner network.

Such development could bring NFON AG more rapidly to its 
objective of being the number 1 for cloud communication in 
Europe.

Special COVID-19 situation (opportunities)

As already mentioned in the discussion of risks, the spread of 
coronavirus is an unprecedented challenge for the economy. 
Both negative and positive effects are possible for NFON giv-
en its product portfolio, some of which are already becoming 
apparent. As the business performance of the NFON Group in 
2020 has shown, the risks and opportunities are balanced, 
hence the positive effects at least compensated by the nega-
tive ones. It is still true that the business model has a certain 
robustness to market fluctuations thanks to the high share of 
recurring revenue. Furthermore, the crisis has forced almost 
all companies to switch their work processes to remote work-
ing. This has generated additional demand stimulus. The on-
going uncertainty can also lead to companies that were hesi-
tant to make the switch to remote working now resorting to 
the possibilities of cloud communication after all. The crisis 
led to a fundamental rethink among companies and signifi-
cantly increased the acceptance of cloud services.

Overall assessment of the opportunities 
situation

The risks and opportunities are balanced.
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Compliance management system

The Management Board is required to ensure compliance 
with legal requirements and internal company policies and to 
work towards their being observed by the Group companies.

Compliance matters are discussed between the (Chairman 
of the) Supervisory Board and the Management Board. The 
corporate culture of the NFON Group is based on trust and 
mutual respect, and on the will to strictly comply with laws 
and internal rules. Nevertheless, it can never be completely 
ruled out that legal violations might occur due to an individ-
ual’s misconduct.

Employees and third parties can report misconduct in the com-
pany to the compliance officer appointed for this purpose. 
NFON AG has set up a whistleblower system for its employees 
and third parties to report such matters confidentially (https://
corporate.nfon.com/de/compliance-nfon/whistleblowing). The 
company makes every effort to minimise this risk as far as pos-
sible and to identify misconduct and to pursue it systematically.

Compliance with legal and ethical rules and principles is of cen-
tral importance. The rules and principles, and the responsible 
handling of insider information, are set out in the Compliance 
Policy (https://corporate.nfon.com/de/compliance-nfon/nfon-
group-code-of-ethics). These provide all employees with guid-
ance on integrity in business dealings. Managers and employ-
ees receive training on the compliance policy.

Internal control system 
(accounting process)

The accounting-related internal control system (ICS) is an in-
tegral component of the comprehensive company-wide con-
trol and risk management system. The objective of the ICS in 
the accounting process is to implement controls to provide 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements will be 
prepared in accordance with the applicable regulations.

The NFON Group’s ICS is based on organisational security 
measures, e.g. the separation of duties and process-integrat-
ed controls, such as access restrictions in the IT area or pay-
ment guidelines, as these reduce the probability of errors be-
fore they occur. The ICS is also predominantly based on 
downstream detective controls, particularly in the context of 
monthly controlling.

The key features of the internal control system with regard to 
the accounting process can be described as follows:

NFON AG prepares the consolidated financial statements of 
the NFON Group as its parent company. This process is 
preceded by financial reporting for the Group companies in-
cluded in the consolidated financial statements. All processes 
are monitored by a rigorous internal control system that en-
sures both the compliance of accounting and adherence to 
the relevant legal requirements.

The key functions in all departments are controlled centrally 
from the finance department of NFON AG, with the individual 
subsidiaries having a set level of independence in the prepa-
ration of their financial statements. Significant regulations 
and instruments in the preparation of the consolidated finan-
cial statements include:

• accounting guidelines at Group level;
• clearly defined separation of duties and the assignment 

of responsibilities between the departments involved in 
the accounting process;

• consultation with external experts where necessary, for 
example to measure share-base payment transactions 
or purchase price allocation;

• using suitable IT finance systems;
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Forecast

Forecast 2020

Growth rate of recurring revenue Between 14% and 16%

Non-recurring revenue > 85%

Growth rate of seats Between 15% and 17%

The budget as well as all following comments are based on 
the state of knowledge up to 13 April 2021 and take account 
of the opportunities and risks described for the NFON Group. 
As a result, deviations may arise between the budgeted fig-
ures and the figures actually reached at year-end. This also 
applies to the assumptions regarding general economic con-
ditions.

At the present time, it is not possible to conclusively quantify 
the effects of the spread of COVID-19 in the forecast. Both 
negative and, due to the product portfolio, positive effects 
are possible for NFON.

In principle – and this was proven over the past year – the 
cloud telephony business model has a certain robustness to 
market fluctuations due to the high proportion of recurring 
revenue. Nevertheless, it is to be expected that the continu-
ing lockdown rules in the exceptional situation of the pan-
demic will also have negative effects for NFON. Despite the 
numerous economic support measures from EU nations, 
companies are showing a certain reluctance to invest. It is 
also currently impossible to estimate the consequences of 
the reinstatement of regular insolvency law in Germany, for 
example. It is conceivable that fewer new seats will be gained 
than imagined or that the currently very low churn rates will 
increase, which would result in a corresponding loss of rev-
enue.

Besides these potential negative implications, a very positive 
development can be foreseen for NFON, particularly in the 
medium term: Many companies have recognised the advan-
tages of flexible, remote working models with the option to 
work from home and have begun implementing them as per-
manent workplace concepts. In addition, the continuing lock-
down is compelling many companies to abandon their provi-
sional arrangements and use a final, remote cloud service. In 
this respect, the current situation is strengthening some of 
the assumptions underlying NFON AG’s forecast:

• system-based controls and other process controls for 
accounting in the companies;

• consolidation as part of the consolidated financial 
statements at Group and company level;

• consideration of risks tracked and assessed in the risk 
management system in the annual financial state-
ments, provided this is necessary in accordance with 
existing accounting regulations.

The management of the Group companies in the various 
countries is responsible for implementing these regulations 
and using these instruments. The consolidated financial 
statements are the responsibility of the member of the Man-
agement Board of NFON AG in charge of finance.

This member of the Management Board is aided in this by the 
Chief Financial Officer, who is responsible for the consoli-
dated financial statements. By employing qualified and spe-
cialist staff, through targeted and regular training and adher-
ence to the principle of dual control, the NFON Group ensures 
strict compliance with local and international accounting 
standards in its annual and consolidated financial statements.

All separate financial statements of significant Group com-
panies that are included in Group consolidation are audited 
by a statutory auditor. With subsidiary companies required to 
report their business figures to NFON AG on a monthly basis 
in a standard reporting format, differences between targets 
and results can be recognised promptly throughout the year 
and reacted to quickly.
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• the change in business communication to increased use 
of digital UC solutions and services, e.g. collaboration 
tools, chat and messaging (UCaaS);

• the introduction of digital communication technologies, 
which impact on many business processes and increase 
the necessity to integrate diverse digital solutions on 
one platform;

• businesses’ growing need for scalable digital services to 
be as flexible as necessary and the need to only post ex-
penses that are actually incurred.

The following assumptions also apply to the forecast made 
by NFON:

• the forecast takes no further company acquisitions into 
account;

• the conversion from ISDN to all IP announced by all te-
lephony providers (carriers) is continuing;

• the staff necessary for the further development of the 
business can be recruited;

• the lockdown measures are expected to continue into 
the second quarter of 2021. A full recovery of the econo-
my is not expected until mid-2022.

The forecasts of the NFON Group for fiscal year 2021 are 
based on the expectations and assumptions for general eco-
nomic development and the country-specific industry devel-
opments relevant to NFON. Detailed information can be 
found in the ‘General economic conditions and industry en-
vironment’ section.

23  Source: MZA: “The Global Telecommunications Market 2020” and own calculations of the company

Expected general economic conditions 
and industry environment

The market for business communications is undergoing a 
historic transformation. NFON  AG is benefiting from the 
structural shift to cloud-based telephony solutions, which 
permanently changes the business communication market. 
The European cloud telephony market is likely to grow by an 
average of 12% a year between 2020 and 2025 ²3. The de-
tailed description of the market development can be found in 
the ‘General economic conditions and industry environment’ 
section.

Expected business performance of the 
NFON Group

Even in an environment that continues to be shaped by the 
coronavirus pandemic, the NFON Group has the opportunity 
to grow more rapidly than the European total market. For ex-
ample, NFON plans to step up its sales activities in Europe via 
the network that now comprises more than 2,700 partners 
and simultaneously to keep acquiring new partners for NFON. 
In addition, NFON reached a major milestone in 2020 with 
over 500,000 seats installed by customers and can build on 
this very stable basis for further growth in the future. Firstly, 
NFON plans to continue increasing the number of seats even 
in 2021’s pandemic-influenced environment. Secondly, the 
Management Board intends to sell more premium solutions 
to the customer base. In addition, the possibility of acquiring 
attractive companies in the cloud telephony field will be con-
tinuously explored. One or more possible acquisitions are not 
considered in the forecast.
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Expected development of key perform-
ance indicators and overall conclusion 
on the expected development

In 2020, NFON reached major milestones for a sustainable 
double-digit growth rate. The number of seats increased by 
16.7% or 75,080 to 524,791 last year. With lockdown mea-
sures expected to continue into the second quarter of 2021, 
companies therefore reluctant to invest, and corresponding 
effects on seat growth in the first half of 2021, the Manage-
ment Board expects the number of seats to grow by between 
15% and 17% in 2021 as a whole. This equates to absolute 
growth of up to 89,000 seats.

In 2021, as in the previous year and despite the adverse ef-
fects of the pandemic, NFON plans to grow by rates well into 
double digits and projects organic growth of between 14% 
and 16% for recurring revenue. Recurring revenue in 2021 will 
be influenced by NFON customer’s lower investments in re-
sponse to the pandemic and the associated lower seat 
growth in 2020. A significant increase in growth rates will 
then be possible in subsequent years on the basis of the 
planned higher seat growth in 2021 with full-year effect in 
2022.

Recurring revenue is expected to account for over 85% of 
total revenue in 2021.

Pursuing the goal of becoming one of the leading providers 
of cloud telephony in the European market, the NFON Group 
will continue to invest heavily in gaining market share. Con-
sequently, with stable macroeconomic development and a 
European cloud communication market expanding at the ex-
pected pace, NFON has the ambition to continue its dynamic 
revenue growth with possible extra impetus from further 
M&A activities. EBITDA break-even could be achieved in the 
medium term with the current investment intensity. Invest-
ments to exploit additional growth opportunities arising in 
the short term are not taken into account here.

Takeover disclosures –  
Report of the Manage-
ment Board on the 
 disclosures in accordance 
with sections 289a(1) 
and 214a(1) HGB

Composition of the issued capital, showing 
separately the rights and obligations attaching 
to each class and the proportion of the capital 
subscribed

For more information, please refer to the disclosures in note 
13 to the consolidated financial statements.

Restrictions relating to voting rights or the 
transfer of shares

Each share confers one vote at the Annual General Meeting. 
There are no restrictions on voting rights. All shares, including 
the shares held by existing shareholders, grant the bearer the 
same voting rights.

Direct or indirect shareholdings exceeding 
10% of voting rights

There were the following direct and indirect shareholdings 
exceeding 10% of voting rights as at 31 December 2019:

Name/company
Direct/indirect shareholding 
 exceeding 10% of voting rights

Milestone Venture Capital GmbH, 
registered office in Hösbach, 
 Germany Direct (33.90%)

Florian Schuhbauer 
(Active Ownership Fund SICAV-FIS 
SCS; AOC Cloud S.à r.l.  
Grevenmacher, Luxembourg)

Indirect (25.48%; date on which 
the threshold was exceeded: 
27 November 2020)

Klaus Röhrig 
(Active Ownership Fund SICAV-FIS 
SCS; AOC Cloud S.à r.l.  
Grevenmacher, Luxembourg)

Indirect (25.48%; date on which 
the threshold was exceeded: 
27 November 2020)
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The above figures are based on voting rights notifications in 
accordance with the Wertpapierhandelsgesetz (WpHG  – 
German Securities Trading Act) that NFON AG has received 
and published. The information on Milestone Venture Capital 
GmbH was confirmed to the company by the shareholder.

Voting rights notifications published by NFON AG are avail-
able online at:

https://corporate.nfon.com/de/news/ir-news.

Voting controls for employee participation

There are no voting controls.

Statutory regulations and provisions of the 
Articles of Association for the appointment 
and dismissal of members of the Management 
Board and the amendment of the Articles of 
Association

Statutory regulations and provisions of the Articles of Asso-
ciation on the appointment and dismissal of members of the 
Management Board are consistent with Section 84 of the 
Aktiengesetz (AktG  –  German Stock Corporation Act). A 
member of the Management Board can be dismissed with or 
without cause or replaced by way of Supervisory Board reso-
lution at any time. The Supervisory Board is authorised to 
make amendments to the Articles of Association that affect 
its wording only (Article 18(3) of the Articles of Association of 
NFON AG).

Authorisations of the Management Board, in 
particular to issue or buy back shares

The Management Board’s authorisation to issue shares is 
regulated in Article 4 of the Articles of Association in conjunc-
tion with the statutory provisions. The Management Board 
had the following authorisations to issue shares as at 31 De-
cember 2020:

Authorised capital

The Extraordinary General Meeting of NFON AG on 12 Decem-
ber 2019 cancelled the Authorised Capital I in place as at that 
date and created Authorised Capital 2019. Accordingly, the 
Management Board is authorised, with the approval of the 
Supervisory Board, to increase the share capital on one or more 
occasions by a total of EUR 3,000,000 by 11 December 2024 
by issuing new no-par value bearer shares with profit partici-
pation rights from the beginning of the fiscal year in which they 
were issued in exchange for cash or non-cash contributions. 
Shareholders have pre-emption rights. The Management 
Board is authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory 
Board, to decide the content of share rights and the terms for 
issuing shares, and to determine the details of the capital in-
crease. The authorisation stipulates that shareholders’ 
pre-emption rights can be disapplied in full or in part under 
certain circumstances (Article 4(3)(a) to (c)).

Contingent Capital I
For the purpose of issuing new no-par value bearer shares to 
bearers or creditors of conversion or option rights or bonds, 
the share capital of NFON AG was contingently increased by 
up to EUR 2,892,045 by issuing up to 2,892,045 new no-par 
value bearer shares (Contingent Capital I).

Contingent Capital II (stock option plan)
The share capital of the company is contingently increased by 
up to a further EUR 964,015 by issuing up to 964,015 new 
no-par value bearer shares. The contingent capital increase will 
only be carried out to the extent that the holders of share op-
tions issued by the company before 08 April 2023 on the basis 
of the authorising resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 
09 April 2018 exercise their pre-emption rights to shares of 
the company and the company does not grant treasury shares 
or cash settlement in fulfilment of these rights. The new 
NFON AG shares issued participate in profits from the begin-
ning of the fiscal year in which they are issued.
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Significant agreements of the parent company 
subject to a change of control in the event of a 
takeover bid and their repercussions

No significant agreements of the parent company subject to 
a change of control in the event of a takeover bid have been 
entered into with either third parties or subsidiaries.

Compensation agreements of the parent com-
pany with members of the Management Board 
or employees in the event of a takeover bid

Stock option plan
The options issued remain are not affected if a third party ac-
quires control of the company as referred to by Section 29(2) 
of the Wertpapiererwerbs- und Übernahmegesetz (WpÜG – 
German Securities Acquisition and Takeover Act). A ‘delisting 
event’ is deemed to have occurred if the shares of the com-
pany are no longer listed on an organised market (Section 2(5) 
WpHG). In the event of delisting, the beneficiary has the right 
under the statutory provisions to demand that the company 
or its legal successor pays out the option value for each option. 
The option value is paid out within two weeks of the occur-
rence of the delisting event.

Group corporate 
 governance declaration
The corporate governance declaration of the NFON Group 
includes the disclosures required in accordance with Sec-
tion 315d HGB in conjunction with Section 289f HGB and is 
published on the NFON AG homepage under Investor Rela-
tions (https://corporate.nfon.com/en/about-nfon/corporate- 
governance/).

Remuneration report
I. The Management Board

The remuneration of the members of NFON’s Management 
Board consists of fixed and variable components. In addition, 
the Management Board members Jan-Peter Koopmann and 
César Flores Rodríguez received a company car, and the Man-
agement Board member César Flores Rodríguez has taken 
out a direct insurance policy with salary conversion. NFON 
pays the corresponding converted amounts. NFON has also 
taken out a financial loss liability insurance policy for the 
members of the Management Board, which takes into ac-
count the statutory deductible. These benefits are partly tax-
able as non-cash benefits for the members of the Manage-
ment Board.

The short-term variable salary of the Management Board 
members is 60% dependent on the NFON Group’s revenue 
and 40% on the NFON Group’ EBITDA. As the Management 
Board member Dr Klaus von Rottkay was only appointed as 
at 01 December 2020, the Supervisory Board resolved to pay 
him 100% of the pro rata variable salary for December 2020 
without agreeing targets. The variable salary is capped at a 
performance of 150% for all members of the Management 
Board. No variable salary was due for a performance of less 
than 80% in fiscal 2020. The short-term variable salary com-
ponent is between 21% and 73% (with an assumed target 
achievement of 100%) of the fixed basic salary, depending on 
the member of the Management Board. Furthermore, ac-
cording to the Management Board agreements, the Super-
visory Board can grant a discretionary bonus in the maximum 
amount of up to one fixed annual basic salary, though this 
was not granted in the fiscal year.

In addition, NFON grants its Management Board members 
stock options as long-term variable remuneration with the 
following key parameters:

• Term of the program: until 22 April 2022
• Duration from allocation: 10 years
• Exercise price: Arithmetic mean of the closing prices of 

the company’s shares in Xetra trading (or a comparable 
successor system) on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange on 
the last ten trading days prior to the issue of the respect-
ive stock option (date of acceptance of the beneficiary’s 
subscription declaration by the company or the credit 
institution engaged by the company for settlement)
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• Personal prerequisites for exercising the option:
 – Achievement of the performance target: Growth in 

revenue as reported in the consolidated financial 
statements for the fiscal year in which the options 
are allocated, compared to the revenue as reported 
in the consolidated financial statements for the pre-
vious fiscal year prior to allocation, by 20%.

 – Fulfilment of the vesting period of four years from 
allocation

 – Existence of an employment or service relationship 
at the time of exercise or in the case of members of 
the Executive Board, the stock options remain in 
effect upon expiry and non-renewal of the appoint-
ment as a member of the Executive Board.

• Cap: Total of the basic (fixed) salaries of the members of 
the Management Board of the company until the op-
tions are exercised, multiplied by a factor of 1.5

 
These stock options were allocated to the (former) members 
of the Management Board Hans Szymanski, Jan-Peter Koop-
mann and César Flores Rodríguez for the first time in fiscal 
2019 and entitle the members of the Management Board to 
purchase a certain number of shares in the company. The 
performance target was achieved in fiscal 2019. The Man-
agement Board member Dr Klaus von Rottkay has been of-
fered the prospect of receiving stock options, but none have 
been allocated to date, whereby the AR is free to decide on 
an allocation..

A post-contractual non-compete clause has been agreed 
with the members of the Management Board in their con-
tracts, as a result of which the respective Management Board 
member would have to be paid compensation of 50% of the 
last contractually agreed remuneration for a period of one 
year on leaving the company.

In addition, the Management Board member Jan-Peter Koop-
mann is entitled to an IPO-related bonus of EUR 0.1 million 
payable as at 30 April 2021 under an agreement from 2013, 
which was adjusted and renewed in fiscal 2018.

II. Supervisory Board

By way of resolution of the Annual General Meeting on 
09 April 2018, in addition to the reimbursement of their ex-
penses in accordance with the Articles of Association of 
NFON AG, all members of the Supervisory Board of NFON AG 
receive the following cash remuneration:

a)  a basic remuneration of EUR 40,000 for the Chairman 
of the Supervisory Board and EUR 25,000 for the other 
members of the Supervisory Board after the end of a 
fiscal year, plus any VAT incurred;

b)  for each meeting of the (entire) Supervisory Board that 
the respective Supervisory Board member has attended 
in full, an attendance fee of EUR 1,000, plus any VAT 
incurred, also payable after the end of a fiscal year.

Any memberships and chairmanships in committees are cov-
ered by this remuneration. Members of the Supervisory Board 
who only belong to the Supervisory Board or who are the 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board for part of the fiscal year 
will receive the remuneration stated in a) pro rata temporis. The 
amounts will be rounded up to full months.

The remuneration stated in a) and b) will also be paid to the 
members of the Supervisory Board in the following years, un-
less resolved otherwise by the Annual General Meeting.

The Chairman of the Supervisory Board Rainer Koppitz thus 
received basic remuneration of EUR 40,000 and attendance 
fees of EUR 4,000 for fiscal 2020, plus VAT, and the members 
of the Supervisory Board Dr Rupert Doehner, Günter Müller 
and Florian Schuhbauer received basic remuneration of 
EUR 25,000 and attendance fees of EUR 5,000 for fiscal 2020, 
plus any VAT.

The total remuneration of the Supervisory Board therefore 
amounted to EUR 0.1 million (net) in fiscal 2020, not including 
the reimbursement of expenses. In fiscal 2019, the total remu-
neration of the Supervisory Board amounted to EUR 0.1 million 
(net) not including the reimbursement of expenses.
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NFON AG (HGB)
The financial statements of NFON AG have been prepared in 
accordance with the provisions of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB).

NFON AG (NFON) is the parent company of the NFON Group 
and has its registered office in Munich, Germany. The busi-
ness address is Machtlfinger Str. 7, 81379 Munich.

NFON generates revenue mainly by providing cloud-based 
telephone services to business customers. In this process, 
customers are provided with the required brokerage service 
from the cloud in NFON data centres via the Cloud PBX (Pri-
vate Branch Exchange), meaning that they do not need to 
have traditional telephone systems at their own premises. 
Generally, the customer initially pays a one-off activation fee 
for each extension in addition to a monthly service fee for 
each extension used. Furthermore, NFON can replace the 
telephone connection, meaning that the customer pays the 
fees for all telephone traffic to NFON. NFON procures this 
service itself from various carriers. On request, NFON also 
sells end devices (telephones, soft clients for PCs and smart-
phones) and the corresponding software, which the company 
procures from several manufacturers, and provides Internet 
access on a reselling basis as required.

Sales are conducted through five channels with a clear focus 
on indirect partner sales. The direct channel represents just 
one of these sales channels. In addition to its own sales func-
tion, NFON sells via dealers and involves distributors as in-
termediaries in a third channel. Two additional sales channels 
are served with wholesale partners who themselves sell voice 
minutes or procure them via NFON. The voice minutes com-
prise the length of the individual telephone calls and generate 
recurring revenue in the form of call charges.

NFON divides revenue into recurring and non-recurring rev-
enue. Recurring revenue includes monthly fees for the cloud 
PBX, ongoing call charges and SDSL monthly fees (Symmet-
ric Digital Subscriber Line is a DSL access technology for a 
public digital network) as well as premium solutions such as 
Neorecording and Ncontact. In contrast, non-recurring rev-
enue is one-off revenue from the sale of hardware, set-up 
fees for the cloud PBX or set-up fees for SDSL.

Results of operations

In EUR million 2020 2019

Revenue 44.4 37.6

Other operating income 0.7 0.5

Cost of materials 6.5 6.9

Personnel costs 19.5 16.9

Depreciation and amortisation 0.8 0.7

Other operating expenses 26.7 27.1

Net interest income −0.3 −0.6

Income taxes 0.0 0.0

Profit/loss after taxes −8.7 −14.0

Other taxes 0.0 0.0

Net profit/loss for the year −8.7 −14.0

Revenue

Excluding transfer pricing income and credit entries relating 
to this, revenue of EUR 39.6 million resulted in 2020 and 
revenue of EUR 35.8 million in 2019.

After adjustment for these transfer prices, 2020 revenue in-
creased over the previous year by approx. 10.7% due to the 
increased customer base (recurring revenue) and the sale of 
hardware and other services (non-recurring revenue).

External revenue comprises recurring income of EUR 35.0 
million and non-recurring income of EUR 4.6 million.

The share of recurring revenue in total external revenue was 
slightly above the expected range, even though their increase 
was somewhat lower than expected. Among other things, 
this is due to the fact that the originally forecast number of 
seats was slightly missed.

Other operating income

The increase in other operating income from EUR 0.5 million 
in 2019 to EUR 0.7 million in 2020 is mainly attributable to 
the increased reversals of provisions.

Cost of materials

The cost of materials fell by 6.0% despite the expanding busi-
ness activities. The reason for this was a decrease in hard-
ware revenue with a low margin compared to the overall pro-
duct portfolio, thus driving down a disproportionately large 
cost item.
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Income taxes

Due to the continued negative earnings before taxes, no taxes 
on income were incurred in 2020 or 2019.

Other taxes

Only minor vehicle taxes are paid here.

Net loss for the year

The lower net loss for the year is primarily the result of 
NFON AG’s positive business development in terms of rev-
enue, coinciding with short-term savings measures to cush-
ion any adverse effects of the COVID-19 pandemic and en-
sure an effective use of funds, especially in marketing.

The start-up costs of the subsidiaries, which NFON AG bears 
as part of its Group-wide transfer pricing system based on 
the transaction-based net margin method, remain a signifi-
cant cost item at NFON AG.

Financial position

The cash flow from operating activities is mainly influenced 
by the net loss for the year of EUR 8.7 million. Reference is 
made to the comments in the results of operations.

Investing activities in the reporting year mainly include the 
cash outflows for the expansion of data centre capacity. A 
cash inflow for NFON AG resulted from a capital reduction at 
the subsidiary nfon GmbH and the repayment of the corre-
sponding equity capital of EUR 7.5 million. The establishment 
of NFON developments unipessoal Lda. (EUR 0.1 million) had 
the opposite effect.

At EUR 5.1 million, cash flows from financing activities relate 
to cash outflows due to the repayment of the warrant bond, 
plus interest.

Overall, cash and cash equivalents decreased by EUR 6.2 mil-
lion year-on-year to EUR 21.1 million. NFON AG was able to 
meet its payment obligations at all times.

Personnel costs

The increase in personnel costs by 15.6% is mainly due to the 
continuous, strategic expansion of the workforce as well as 
the retention bonus of EUR 0.2 million and employee share 
options of EUR 0.9 million as well as the continuous strategic 
expansion of staffing. This resulted also in an increase in con-
tributions and expenses for employee pensions.

Depreciation and amortisation

Investments consisted of replacement investment and ex-
pansion investment in data centre capacity. Consequently, 
amortisation and depreciation increased. No impairment 
losses were recognised.

Other operating expenses

The decrease in other operating expenses from EUR 27.0 mil-
lion in the previous year to EUR 26.7 million in 2020, despite 
continuous business and workforce growth, is chiefly attrib-
utable to cost-reduction measures in connection with the 
COVID-19 pandemic.

Marketing expenses in particular fell from EUR 5.3 million 
(2019) to EUR 3.7 million.

Further savings were made in travel and other further oper-
ating expenses.

In contrast, there were large IT investments in the introduc-
tion of new software tools. The associated costs rose from 
EUR 0.3 million in 2019 to EUR 1.3 million in 2020.

A material effect in other operating expenses is due to higher 
expenses compared with 2019 for the profit transfer of sub-
sidiaries as part of the application of the transaction-based 
net margin method (2020: EUR 9.9 million; 2019: EUR 8.9 
million). The expansion of the national subsidiaries had a par-
ticular impact here.

In addition, EUR 0.6 million was spent on the acquisition of 
DTS in 2019.

Net interest income

NFON AG paid interest on a loan for the acquisition of DTS. 
An issued warrant bond was repaid at the start of 2020, so 
interest expense decreased in 2020 compared with 2019.
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Assets and liabilities

Statement of financial position of NFON AG pursuant 
to HGB (abridged version)

In EUR million 2020 2019

Fixed assets 37.1 43.1

Current assets 26.6 32.0

Prepaid expenses 1.1 0.9

Assets 64.8 76.0

Equity 43.0 50.8

Provisions 2.5 3.4

Liabilities 18.9 21.8

Deferred income 0.4 0

Liabilities 64.8 76.0

Fixed assets

The significant reduction in fixed assets primarily results from 
the development of financial assets and relates to the capital 
reduction of EUR 7.5 million at NFON nfon GmbH. The capital 
increase at NFON S.R.L. (EUR 0.5 million) and the establish-
ment of NFON developments unipessoal Lda. (EUR 0.1 mil-
lion) had the opposite effect. Furthermore, property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets increased by EUR 0.7 
million, particularly as a result of investment in the IT infra-
structure and server hardware to create a corresponding 
basis for the planned growth.

Amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of property, 
plant and equipment totalled EUR 0.8 million in 2020.

Current assets

The reduction in current assets is primarily based on the 
EUR 6.2 million decrease in cash held at banks compared 
with the previous year.

Equity

Equity has decreased to EUR 43.0 million due to the net loss 
for the year of EUR 8.7 million and the higher capital reserves 
as a result of the employee stock options issued (EUR 0.9 
million).

Provisions

The decrease in provisions of EUR 0.7 million is mainly attrib-
utable to the reduction of provisions for missing incoming 
invoices.

Liabilities

The decrease in liabilities mainly relates to the repayment of 
the warrant bond issued in 2019 at EUR 5.1 million. Trade pay-
ables rose from EUR 2.3 million as at 31 December 2019 to 
EUR 3.1 million as at 31 December 2020 as a result of the in-
creased business volume. Liabilities to affiliated companies 
developed similarly (EUR +1.4 million to EUR 5.7 million as at 
31 December 2020).

Deferred income

The deferred income recognised as at 31 December 2020 
relates to deferrals to be made at the balance sheet date for 
income relating to subsequent periods and is related to set-
tlements to a distribution partner.
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Overall evaluation of the 
economic situation

2020 was a successful year overall for NFON AG. The Com-
pany contained to grow, invested the funds generated from the 
IPO in 2018 in organic growth as planned, posted increased 
revenue and stabilised gross profit. The originally forecast tar-
gets for the build-up of seats and the related recurring rev-
enues were slightly missed, while their share of total external 
revenues was increased.

Risks and opportunities

The business performance of NFON  AG is subject to the 
same risks and opportunities as the Group. NFON partici-
pates in the risks of investments and subsidiaries in the full 
amount as these concern companies in which NFON  AG 
holds 100% of the shares. Owing to the revised system of 
transfer pricing, NFON AG is exposed to the risk of having to 
financially bear potential start-up losses of the subsidiaries. 
The risks and opportunities are described in the Risk and Op-
portunity Report of the group management report.

Forecast

Due to NFON AG’s links with the group companies, we refer 
to the statements in the forecast report of the group manage-
ment report, which in particular also reflect the expectations 
for the parent company. The statements on COVID-19 made 
in the group forecast report apply to NFON AG without reser-
vation. At this point in time, the effects of the spreading virus 
on the economic development of NFON AG are difficult to 
estimate. Regardless of this, NFON AG expects a slightly slow-
er increase in recurring external revenues for the 2021 finan-
cial year compared to the reporting year, with their share of 
total external revenues expected to remain constant. Custom-
er-operated extensions (seats) are expected to grow at a sim-
ilar rate compared to the 2020 financial year. The company 
points out that there may be a deviation between the plan data 
and the values actually achieved at the end of the year.

Responsibility state-
ment in accordance with 
Section 315(1) sentence 
5 and Section 289(1) 
sentence 5 HGB
To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the 
applicable reporting principles for consolidated financial 
statements, the interim consolidated financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial po-
sition and profit or loss of the Group, and the management 
report of the company and the Group includes a fair review 
of the development and performance of the business and the 
position of the Group, together with a description of the prin-
cipal opportunities and risks associated with the expected 
development of the Group.

Munich, 13 April 2021

Dr Klaus von Rottkay
Chief Executive Officer

Jan-Peter Koopmann
Chief Technical Officer
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

In EUR thousand Note 01.01.−31.12.2020 01.01.−31.12.2019

Revenue 18 67,602 57,117

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress 19 −27

Other operating income 15 958 636

Cost of materials −14,024 −13,637

Personnel costs 17 −28,495 −24,248

Depreciation and amortisation 4/5/6 −4,150 −3,005

Other operating expenses 16 −23,584 −26,773

Impairment losses on trade and other receivables 21 −137 −42

Other tax expense −16 −10

Income from continuing operations before net interest 
income and income taxes −1,828 −9,989

Interest and similar income 14 36

Interest and similar expenses −510 −852

Net interest income −496 −816

Earnings before income taxes −2,324 −10,805

Income taxes 12 −135 −39

Deferred tax income (previous year: tax expense) 12 222 −81

Consolidated net loss −2,237 −10,924

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the parent company −2,237 −10,924

Non-controlling interests 0 0

Other comprehensive income (will be reclassified to profit or loss) −272 333

Taxes on other comprehensive income  
(will be reclassified to profit or loss) 0 0

Other comprehensive income after taxes −272 333

Total comprehensive income -2,509 −10,592

Attributable to:

Shareholders of the parent company -2,509 −10,592

Non-controlling interests 0 0

Net loss per share, basic and diluted 14 −0,15 −0.77

Net loss per share, diluted 14 −0,15 −0.77

CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL

STATEMENT

Consolidated income statement and consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income
for the period from 01 January to 31 December 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

In EUR thousand Note 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 4/5 9,482 7,606

Intangible assets 5 27,079 22,438

Deferred tax assets 12 1,079 132

Other non-financial assets 9 283 289

Total non-current assets 37,924 30,467

Current assets

Inventories 7 149 208

Trade receivables 8 9,973 7,558

Other financial assets 8 390 390

Other non-financial assets 9 2,290 2,164

Cash and cash equivalents 21 23,034 36,419

Total current assets 35,837 46,740

Total assets 73,761 77,206

Consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2020
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In EUR thousand Note 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Equity

Issued capital 13 15,056 15,056

Capital reserves 13 83,926 82,987

Retained earnings −53,911 −51,674

Currency translation reserve 506 778

Total equity 45,577 47,146

Non-current liabilities

Non-current financial liabilities 4,577 3,436

Other non-current liabilities 9 186 172

Deferred tax liabilities 12 802 77

Total non-current liabilities 5,565 3,685

Current liabilities

Trade payables 21 4,931 5,174

Current provisions 0 2,262 2,176

Current income tax liabilities 9 137 125

Current financial liabilities 11 10,690 15,451

Other non-financial liabilities 9 4,600 3,449

Total current liabilities 22,619 26,374

Total equity and liabilities 73,761 77,206
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

In EUR thousand Note 2020 2019

1. Cash flow from operating activities

Profit/loss after taxes −2,237 −10,924

Adjustments to reconcile profit (loss) to cash provided

Income taxes 12 −85 120

Interest income (expenses), net 496 816

Amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation 
of property, plant and equipment 5/4 4,150 3,005

Impairment losses on trade and other receivables 137 42

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions 19 940 638

Other non-cash income and expenses 47 233

Changes in:

Inventories 59 42

Tade and other receivables −2,672 −1,974

Trade and other payables 1,018 −119

Provisions and employee benefits 76 873

Interest paid −384 −655

Income taxes paid −125 385

The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates −272 333

Cash flow from operating activities 1,149 −7,187

Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the period from 01 January to 31 December 2020
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In EUR thousand Note 2020 2019

2. Cash flow from investing activities

Proceeds from the disposal of property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets 4 62 0

Payments for investments in property, plant and equipment 4 −1,557 −1,847

Payments for investments in intangible assets 5 −6,043 −3,372

Payments in connection with Onwerk acquisition 
(previous year: DTS acquisition) −150 −15,260

Cash flow from investing activities −7,688 −20,480

3. Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from capital increase by shareholders 
of the parent company 13 0 10,605

Proceeds from loans and borrowing 0 14,007

Repayments of loans and similar liabilities 11 −5,141 −649

Payments in connection with leases −1,668 −1,357

Cash flow from financing activities −6,809 22,606

Change in cash and cash equivalents −13,348 −5,060

Effect of movements in exchange rates on cash held −37 43

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 36,419 41,436

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 23,034 36,419

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period include bank deposits of EUR 323 thousand as at 31 December 2020 
(31 December 2019: EUR 340 thousand) that cannot be repaid to the Group in full on account of collateral provided by cus-
tomers with poor credit ratings. All restrictions on such deposits are of a short-term nature.

The payments for the acquisition of DTS in the previous year take into account negative cash reserves of EUR 565 thousand 
at DTS as at the acquisition date.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to owners of the Company

In EUR thousand
Issued 
 capital

Capital 
reserves

 Currency 
translation 

reserve Net loss
 Total 

equity

Non- 
controlling 

interests Total

As at 01.01.2020 15,056 82,987 777 −51,674 47,146 0 47,146

Total comprehensive income for the period

Loss (income) for the period 0 0 0 −2,237 −2,237 0 −2,237

Other comprehensive income for the period 0 0 −272 0 −272 0 −272

Total comprehensive income for the period 0 0 −272 −2,237 −2,509 0 −2,509

Transactions with the 
shareholders of the company

Equity-settled share-based 
payment transactions 0 939 0 0 939 0 939

Total transactions with the 
shareholders of the company 0 939 0 0 939 0 939

As at 31.12.2020 15,056 83,926 506 −53,911 45,576 0 45,576

Statement of changes in equity
as at 31 December 2020
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to owners of the Company

In EUR thousand
Issued 
 capital

Capital 
reserves

 Currency 
translation 

reserve Net loss
 Total 

equity

Non- 
controlling 

interests Total

As at 01.01.2019 13,807 70,132 444 −40,750 43,634 0 43,634

Total comprehensive income for the period

Loss (income) for the period 0 0 0 −10,924 −10,924 0 −10,924

Other comprehensive income for the period 0 0 333 0 333 0 333

Total comprehensive income for the period 0 0 333 −10,924 −10,592 0 −10,592

Transactions with the 
shareholders of the company

Equity-settled share-based 
payment transactions 0 638 0 0 638 0 638

Increase in share capital from authorised 
 capital for partial payment of the purchase 
price for DTS acquisition 285 2,534 0 0 2,819 0 2,819

Equity component of the warrant bond 
issued in the reporting year 0 43 0 0 43 0 43

Increase in equity from authorised capital 
in connection with the exercise of the warrant 
bond issued in the reporting year 964 9,640 0 0 10,604 0 10,604

Total transactions with the 
shareholders of the company 1,249 12,855 0 0 14,104 0 14,104

As at 31.12.2019 15,056 82,987 777 −51,674 47,146 0 47,146

Statement of changes in equity
as at 31 December 2019
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NOTES

1. Basis of presentation

Company overview

The NFON Group provides cloud telephone system services enabling convenient and effective 
communication for customers across all their locations, all their employees, all the time, on multiple 
devices, including smartphones, tablets, personal computers and desk phones. It operates in vari-
ous countries in Europe, most significantly in Germany, Austria, the United Kingdom and Spain.

The Company has its registered offices in Machtlfinger Strasse 7, 81379 Munich, and is entered in 
the Commercial Register of the Munich District Court under HRB 168022. The company is a stock 
corporation according to German law and is registered in Germany. The business headquarters are 
in Munich.

The consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year as at 31 December 2020 were approved 
for publication by Management Board resolution on 13 April 2021.

Consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements and notes present the operations of NFON AG (the “Com-
pany”) and its subsidiaries (combined “NFON” or the “Group”). The consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and as adopted by the European Union 
(“EU”), taking account of the interpretation of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC) and accounting provisions in accordance with Section 315e (1) HGB.

Currency

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in euro (EUR), which is the functional 
currency and reporting currency of NFON AG. Unless stated otherwise, all values in the consolidated 
financial statements and the accompanying notes are rounded to the nearest thousand euro (EUR 
thousand). Rounding differences can therefore occur in the tables in the notes to the consolidated 
financial statements.
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Other

The consolidated statement of financial position is divided into current and non-current assets and 
liabilities in accordance with IAS 1. The consolidated income statement is prepared using the nature 
of expense method.

Comparative information

The consolidated financial statements include amounts as at and for the periods ended 31 Decem-
ber 2020 compared to 31 December 2019.

2.  Significant accounting policies

A. Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on historical costs, 
modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, 
 financial assets and financial liabilities and share-based payment transactions.

The fiscal year is the calendar year.

B.  New and amended standards to be applied for the first time 
in the reporting year

In the period beginning on 01 January 2020, NFON applied the following standards and amend-
ments to existing standards for the first time:

• Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards
• Definition of a Business (amendments to IFRS 3)
• Definition of “Material” (amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8)
• Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7: Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

These amendments have no significant impact on the current period, and are not expected to have 
a significant impact on future periods.
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C.  New standards that are not yet applied

The following standards are expected to have no impact or an immaterial impact on the Company’s 
financial statements in the period of initial application:

• COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions (amendments to IFRS 16), effective from 01 June 2020
• Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 (amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 

and IFRS 16), effective from 01 January 2021
• Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (amendments to IAS 37), effective from 

01 January 2022
• Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018−2020, effective from 01 January 2022
• Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use (amendments to IAS 16), 

effective from 01 January 2022
• References to the Conceptual Framework (amendments to IFRS 3), effective from 

01  January 2022
• Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (amendments to IAS 1), effective from 

01 January 2023
• IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and Amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts, effective from 

01 January 2023
• Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 “Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and 

its Associate or Joint Venture”, effective date not yet set

NFON applies new standards for the first time when they become effective.

D. Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include all subsidiaries controlled by NFON AG. All intercom-
pany transactions and balances have been eliminated. The financial statements of NFON AG’s 
subsidiaries are included within the Company’s consolidated financial statements from the date 
that control commences until the date that control ceases, and are prepared for the same reporting 
period using consistent accounting policies.

Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variability of returns from its involve-
ment with the investee or has contractual rights and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
control over the investee.

Specifically, the NFON Group controls an investee, if and only if the Group has:

• Control over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give the Group the current ability to control 
the relevant activities of the investee),

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee, and
• The ability to use its control over the investee to affect its returns.

Generally, it is deemed that a majority of voting rights results in control.

The Group assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control.
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Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (“OCI”) are attributed to the 
owners of the parent of the NFON Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in 
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. If necessary, adjustments are made in the 
financial statements of subsidiaries so that their accounting methods correspond to the Group’s 
accounting methods. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income and expenses and cash 
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

If the Group acquires a proportion of the equity held by non-controlling interests, any difference 
between the amount of the non-controlling interests in Group equity and the fair value of the con-
sideration paid or received is recognised directly in Group equity.

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition 
is calculated as the sum of the consideration transferred, measured at its fair value on the acquisi-
tion date, and non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each business combination, NFON 
measures non-controlling interests either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets. Costs incurred in connection with the business combination are recognised 
as expenses. Agreed contingent consideration is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration that constitutes an asset or a li-
ability are recognised in the income statement in accordance with IFRS 9.

On initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost, which is calculated as the excess of the consid-
eration transferred over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, measured at fair 
value. If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the acquiree’s net assets, the difference is 
recognised in the income statement after another review.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any necessary impairment. For the pur-
poses of the impairment test, the goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acqui-
sition date onward, allocated to the cash-generating units of the Group that are expected to ben-
efit from the business combination. This applies irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities 
of the acquired company are allocated to these cash-generating units.

The composition of the consolidated group of entities is as follows:

• NFON AG, Munich, Germany (ultimate parent entity)
• nfon GmbH, St. Pölten, Austria (wholly owned by NFON AG)
• NFON UK Ltd., Maidenhead, United Kingdom (wholly owned by NFON AG)
• NFON Iberia SL, Madrid, Spain (wholly owned by NFON AG)
• NFON Italia S.R.L., Milan, Italy (wholly owned by NFON AG)
• NFON France SAS, Paris, France (wholly owned by NFON AG)
• Deutsche Telefon Standard GmbH, Mainz (DTS) (wholly owned by NFON AG)
• NFON Developments Unipessoal LDA, Lisbon, Portugal (wholly owned by NFON AG).

NFON Developments Unipessoal LDA, Lisbon, Portugal, was founded in the reporting year with 
share capital of EUR 50 thousand.
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Purchase price allocation for Onwerk GmbH, Mannheim

As at 20 December 2019, the Group agreed with Onwerk GmbH, Mannheim (Onwerk), that various 
assets and contractual relationships and in particular the existing employment contracts (including 
the employment contracts of the two managing partners) would be transferred from Onwerk to 
NFON for a cash purchase price of EUR 150 thousand. The transfer date was 01 April 2020.

The purchase price depended on the number of employees transferred to NFON as at 01 April 2020 
(i.e. with an employment contract in place between the employee in question and NFON AG on 
01 April 2020). As all employees were transferred, the maximum possible purchase price was to be 
paid.

Onwerk develops comprehensive individual software solutions in various fields and sectors. This 
development is significantly influenced by the employees and the two managing partners of On-
werk. The main reason for the acquisition was to increase the workforce in NFON’s development 
department.

As the assets and contractual relationships (e.g. the rental agreement for office space) acquired 
were of relatively insignificant value, the entire purchase price was allocated to goodwill. This good-
will to be recognised is based on the future revenue potential to be generated with the products 
and features developed with the help of the employees acquired. The goodwill is recognised in full 
for tax purposes.

E. Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value and are written down, if necessary. 
Cost is determined on the basis of actual acquisition cost and, where applicable, direct labour cost 
that has been incurred in bringing the inventory to its present location and condition. Net realisable 
value is the estimated selling price less estimated costs of completion and estimated costs necessary 
to make the sale. If net realisable values are below inventory costs, a provision corresponding to this 
difference is recognised.

If the circumstances that previously caused inventories to be written down to an amount below cost 
no longer exist, the amount of the write-down is reversed, so that the new carrying amount is the 
lower of cost and revised net realisable value.

The Group’s inventory mainly consists of a minimal stock of hardware, e.g. telephones that are sold 
to customers or temporarily used by customers for testing purposes.



70

NFON ANNUAL REPORT 2020
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

F. Trade and other receivables

Credit is extended to customers based on the evaluation of the customer’s financial condition. Trade 
and other receivables consist of amounts billed and currently due from customers and other debt-
ors to the Group. Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at amortised costs plus trans-
action costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue. Subsequent to initial recogni-
tion they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment 
losses. The approach for measuring impairment losses is described in Note 8 (Trade receivables).

G. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and ac-
cumulated impairment losses. The present value of expected costs for disposing of assets after use 
is included in the cost of the corresponding asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are sat-
isfied. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of an asset.

Subsequent costs increase the carrying amount of the original asset or are capitalised as a separate 
asset only when it is probable that an economic benefit will flow to the Group in connection with 
the assets and that this benefit can be reliably measured. All other repair and maintenance costs 
are recognised directly in profit and loss as expenses in the period they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is recognised on a straight-line basis over the esti-
mated useful life. For operating and office equipment the useful life is three to 15 years.

Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the lease 
term.

The assets’ carrying amounts, depreciation methods and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if 
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

On disposal of items of property, plant and equipment, the cost and related accumulated depreci-
ation and impairments are removed from the consolidated statement of financial position and the 
net amount, less any proceeds, is taken to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The recoverability of property, plant and equipment for impairment is examined as soon as events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may no longer be recov-
erable. If necessary, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

H. Intangible assets

Intangible assets are recognised at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses. Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only for existing other intangible assets 
if it increases the future economic benefit embodied in the asset to which it relates. Cost of devel-
opment activities are capitalised when the recognition criteria in IAS 38 are met. All other expen-
diture on internally generated products or assets (e.g. research costs) is recognised in the consoli-
dated statement of profit and loss as incurred. Amortisation for intangible assets is recognised in 
the depreciation and amortisation in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

The useful lives of other intangible assets are determined individually. Intangible assets with finite 
useful lives are amortised systematically over the economic useful life and are assessed for impair-
ment if events or circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may no longer be recoverable.
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Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised. Impairment losses are recognised 
if the carrying amount is higher than the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher 
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The useful life of an intangible asset 
with an indefinite useful life is examined at least once a year as to whether the assessment of an 
indefinite useful life is supported. If this is not the case, the change in the useful life assessment 
from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis. The assessment of the existence of impair-
ment is taken either at the level of the individual asset or the cash-generating unit (CGU). For the 
periods presented, the Group did not capitalise any indefinite-lived intangible assets.

Other intangible assets that are not yet completed are also tested for impairment annually.

1. Goodwill

Goodwill acquired in the course of business combinations is assumed – due to the lack of time 
constraints on the generation of net cash flows for the Group – to have an indefinite useful life. In 
accordance with IAS 36, impairment tests are conducted at the level of the cash-generating units 
at least once per year (at the end of the year) and when there are indications of impairment. Once 
recognised, impairment losses are not reversed in subsequent periods.

2. Intangible assets from business combinations

Intangible assets from business combinations have a finite useful life. They are measured at fair 
value and amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of 20 years. They are 
tested for impairment if there are indications that their net realisable value could have decreased.
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3. Capitalised development projects

Development costs for newly developed software are capitalised as development projects if:

• a clear allocation of expenses is possible,
• both the technical feasibility and the marketing of the newly developed products are ensured,
• the development activities are sufficiently likely to result in future cash inflows,
• NFON intends and is able to complete and use the development project, and
• adequate technical, financial and other resources are available to complete the development 

and be able to use and sell the asset.

The capitalised development projects include all costs directly attributable to the development 
process. Financing costs are capitalised if the development project constitutes a qualifying asset 
as defined in IAS 23 and if the financing costs are not immaterial.

After initial recognition of development projects, the assets are measured at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation is recognised on a straight-line 
basis starting from the date when the newly developed product or feature reaches the “definition 
of done”. This amortisation is recognised on the basis of an estimated useful life that is usually be-
tween three and seven years.

Development projects that are not yet completed are tested for impairment annually and when 
there are indications of impairment. Completed development projects that are subject to amort-
isation are tested for impairment when there are indications of impairment. Impairment losses are 
recognised if there are sufficient reasons to do so.

Research costs are not capitalised and are recognised as an expense in the income statement when 
they are incurred.

Research and development expenditure amounted to EUR 5,493 thousand in the reporting year 
(2019: EUR 4,410 thousand), of which EUR 3,911 thousand (2019: EUR 2,831 thousand) was cap-
italised as intangible assets.

I. Impairment testing

Financial assets are measured at fair value through profit or loss and tested for impairment at each 
reporting date in order to determine whether they are recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised 
when there is objective evidence that the asset’s carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.

For intangible assets with an indefinite useful life, impairment tests are conducted at least once per 
year and when there are indications of impairment.

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets (other than inventories and deferred tax assets) are 
reviewed at each reporting date whether there is any indication of impairment. If there is any such 
indication, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates 
cash inflows from continuing use and that is largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets 
or cash-generating units (CGUs). Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs 
or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. The segments 
identified by management as the operating segments are also the CGUs for reviewing the indications 
of impairment.



73

NFON ANNUAL REPORT 2020
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its corresponding value in use and its fair 
value less costs to sell. In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 
to their present value using a discount rate before tax that reflects current market assessments of the 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. An impairment loss is recognised if the 
carrying value of an asset or of a CGU exceeds its recoverable amount. Such impairment losses are 
recognised in profit or loss. Generally, the carrying amount of the goodwill allocated to the CGU is 
reduced first. If this figure is zero, then pro rata impairment is taken on the carrying amounts of the 
other assets of the CGU/the group of CGUs. If there is an indication of impairment of an asset within 
a CGU that contains goodwill, however, the said asset is tested for impairment first, before this test 
is performed for the CGU. Any impairment is then initially allocated to the asset in question. If any 
impairment remains, the (general) procedure described above is applied accordingly.

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent years. With other assets, a write-down 
can be reversed only taking account of depreciation and amortisation to be made in the interim.

J. Government grants

Government grant are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received 
and the Group complies with the conditions attached. Grants related to costs are recognised as 
income over the period necessary to match them with the related costs which they are intended to 
compensate, on a systematic basis. Grants for an asset are recognised in the statement of financial 
position as a reduction of cost and reversed equally over the estimated useful life of the correspond-
ing assets as depreciation.

K. Foreign currency translation

The financial statements of each entity are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (functional currency). The Group’s consolidated financial 
statements are presented in EUR, which is the reporting currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currencies of Group 
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
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Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the function-
al currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are 
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional currency at the ex-
change rate when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured based on 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Foreign currency translation differences are recognised in profit or loss.

The functional currency of the foreign subsidiary, NFON UK Ltd. is British pound sterling (GBP).

As at the reporting date, the assets and liabilities of this subsidiary are translated into the Group’s 
reporting currency at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period (spot exchange 
rate). The statement of comprehensive income is translated at the moving average exchange rate 
for the reporting period. The foreign currency translation differences are recognised in other com-
prehensive income and taken directly to a separate component of equity. On disposal of the foreign 
entity, the foreign currency translation differences recognised up to this point in equity are recog-
nised in the statement of comprehensive income. The consolidated statement of cash flows is 
translated at the average exchange rate for the period, cash and cash equivalents to the exchange 
rate on the reporting date.

The following exchange rates have been used for the respective consolidated financial statements:

Spot rates Average rates

As at 31.12.2020 As at 31.12.2019 As at 31.12.2020 As at 31.12.2019

GBP 1,1123 1,1754 1,1252 1,1393

L. Segment reporting

Segment reporting takes place in a way which matches the internal reporting to the Group’s chief 
operating decision maker.

M. Income taxes

Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to a 
business combination, or items recognised through other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the 
amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the taxation authorities, using the tax rates and 
tax laws in effect as at the end of the reporting period. Current tax also includes any tax arising from 
dividends.

Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method on the temporary differences between the 
recognition of an asset or a liability in the statement of financial position and the amount used for 
tax purposes as at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all 
taxable temporary differences with the exception of
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• deferred tax liabilities from the initial recognition of goodwill and from the initial recognition 
of an asset or a liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and at the time of 
the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit in the reporting period and 
the

• deferred tax liabilities from taxable temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries if the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be influenced and it 
is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of 
unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits 
will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry forward of un-
used tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised, with the exception of

• deferred tax assets from deductible temporary differences resulting from the initial recogni-
tion of goodwill and from the initial recognition of an asset or a liability in a transaction that is 
not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting 
profit nor taxable profit in the reporting period and

• deferred tax assets from deductible temporary differences associated with investments in 
subsidiaries if it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future and no sufficient taxable income is available against which the temporary differences 
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of the deferred tax assets is examined at the end of the reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit is available against 
which the deferred tax assets can be at least partially utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets 
are examined on each reporting date and recognised to the extent that it has become probable that 
future taxable income will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on the tax rates and tax laws in 
effect as at the end of the reporting period. Future changes to tax rates are recognised as at the end 
of the reporting period provided material substantive conditions in the context of legislative pro-
cedures have been fulfilled.

In accordance with IAS 12.74, deferred taxes are offset if the requirements for an offset exist.

IFRIC 23 clarifies the application of the recognition and measurement requirements of IAS 12 when 
there is uncertainty over the income tax treatment. For the purposes of recognition and measure-
ment, estimates and assumptions need to be made, for example with regard to whether an assess-
ment is to be made separately or together with other uncertainties, whether a likely or expected 
value is to be used for the uncertainty, and whether changes have occurred in comparison to the 
prior period. The detection risk when accounting for uncertain items in the statement of financial 
position is insignificant. Items are accounted for based on the assumption that the taxation author-
ities will examine the matter in question and have access to all relevant information. There is no 
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements of NFON AG.
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N. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash on hand and bank balances. All highly liquid investments with original matur-
ities of three months or less from the date of acquisition are considered cash equivalents. Cash and 
cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost.

O. Provisions

A provision is recognised when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obliga-
tion and that obligation can be measured reliably. If the effect of the time value of money is mater-
ial, provisions are discounted using a discount rate that reflects current market assessments and 
the risks specific to the obligation. The corresponding interest effect in recognised in the income 
statement in the finance result. Provisions are reviewed on a regular basis and adjusted to reflect 
management’s best current estimates. As provisions are subject to certain discretion, the future 
settlement of the respective obligation may deviate from the amounts recognised in provisions. 
Significant estimates are involved in the determination of provisions related to legal and regulatory 
proceedings and governmental investigations.

For a discussion on provisions, refer to Note 10 – Provisions and Note 25 – Contingencies and com-
mitments

P. Revenue

According to IFRS 15 Revenues from contracts with customers NFON recognises revenue to depict 
the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration 
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The following 
five-step model is used:

• identify the contract(s) with a customer;
• identify the performance obligations in the contract;
• determine the transaction price;
• allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract;
• recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Customer contracts are mainly month-to-month contracts, i.e. they do not have a minimum contract 
duration and are prolonged month by month if not cancelled. However, there are also contracts which 
have a minimum contract duration, e.g. 12, 24 or 36 months. Customer contracts include (i) recurring 
services, and (ii) non-recurring services and products.

A performance obligation is the unit of account for revenue recognition under IFRS 15. At contract 
inception, NFON assesses the goods or services promised in the contract and identifies the follows 
as a performance obligation:

• a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct; or
• a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and that have the same 

pattern of transfer to the customer.

NFON performs such evaluation for all goods or services promised and activities explicitly stated 
in arrangements with the customer. For example, monthly telephone services and delivery of hard-
ware are capable of being distinct, and distinct within a contract. Services such as activation fees 
or porting of existing numbers are not deemed separate performance obligations as it results in an 
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extension of the NFON network and does not transfer a good or service to the customer. Further, 
the customer cannot choose not to purchase activation activities without significantly affecting 
the monthly telephone services.

Recurring revenue

Recurring revenue is generated when the customers pay for monthly telephone services per seat 
for usage of the NFON cloud technology. The amount of monthly license fee per customer depends 
on the type and number of available optional features and vertical solutions and the maximum 
number of devices that can be used per seat. The license fees deviate marginally in different coun-
tries. All tariffs across segments and regions offer customers the advantage that all platform, main-
tenance and feature upgrades are included in the monthly license fee and updates are available 
automatically for every user once released, without the need for additional on-site service. Cus-
tomers may pay NFON for voice telephony usage (i.e. airtime) either on the basis of a flat rate for 
airtime or on a per minute-based charging model. Customer contracts may also include both, a 
monthly flat rate and monthly variable per-minute airtime services.

If monthly telephone services are provided to the customer, revenue is recognised on a monthly 
basis.

Non-recurring revenue

Non-recurring revenue is mainly generated when hardware and communication devices are sold 
to customers and when specific consulting/training services are provided to the customers.

Recurring and non-recurring revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract 
with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises 
revenue when it transfers the control over a product or service to a customer.

The Group combines two or more contracts when the contracts are entered at or near the same 
time with the same customer or related parties of the customer, contracts are entered with a single 
performance objective where the amount of consideration of one contract depends on the price or 
performance of the other contract and the goods or services promised in the contracts are single 
performance obligations. Total consideration in the contract is allocated to all its products and ser-
vices based on the relative stand-alone selling prices of each performance obligation.

The Group recognises the revenue when the customer obtains control of the goods or services. 
Under sales of hardware, control is transferred in the form of delivery of the hardware, i.e. at this 
point in time. If non-recurring products and services are delivered or provided, the revenue is when 
the performance obligation is fulfilled.
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Month-to-month contracts

For month-to-month contracts, revenue is recognised over time in the month when it is collected. 
Such contracts include an obligation with regards to monthly telephone services, and at times, an 
obligation with regards to hardware sales and other non-recurring services at the beginning of the 
contract.

Long-term contracts

For long-term contracts, i.e. contracts with minimum contract duration, at the beginning of a con-
tract NFON determines whether goods and services are capable of being distinct and distinct within 
the context of the contract.

The hardware and the monthly telephone services are separable in NFON’s contract, because they 
are not inputs to a single asset (i.e. a combined output) which indicates that NFON is not providing 
a significant integration service. Neither the hardware nor the monthly telephone services signifi-
cantly modify or customise each other. In some cases, NFON subsidises the hardware sold for the 
customer.

Non-recurring services such as activation of the ports or porting of existing numbers result in the 
extension of NFON’s network and the customer cannot choose to not purchase e.g. activation ac-
tivities without significantly affecting the monthly telephone services (service not possible without 
activated port). Additionally, the customer cannot choose to contract with different parties for the 
activation activities on the one hand and the monthly telephone services on the other hand. There-
fore, NFON concludes that non-recurring services such as activation or porting are not a separate 
performance obligation. The consideration received for services which do not qualify as a perform-
ance obligation is allocated to the performance obligations over the life of the contract.

Long-term contracts include fixed considerations (e.g. fixed monthly fees for airtime or the price 
for hardware) and variable considerations (e.g. fee per usage), but not a significant financing com-
ponent. At the contract start date, after identifying the relevant performance obligations, NFON 
determines the estimate transaction price for the total initially committed fixed considerations. 
Variable future consideration for the fee per usage is not committed at inception, and hence, not 
included in the estimated transaction price. The total consideration is allocated based on their rela-
tive stand-alone selling prices to the non-recurring products and services on the one hand and the 
recurring, i.e. monthly service performance obligation on the other hand. At the level of the per-
formance obligation, NFON determines if revenue is recognised over time or at a point in time.

Relative stand-alone selling prices are based on the Group’s price list which is available to customers 
and potential customers.

Revenue relating to long-term contracts is recognised over time. Where NFON has fulfilled its per-
formance obligation for a specific service or product within the customer contract, the Group rec-
ognises revenue. If the Group has not issued an invoice, then the entitlement to the consideration 
is recognised as other non-financial asset. There is a reclassification to trade receivables when the 
entitlement to the payment becomes unconditional. A contract liability is presented in the state-
ment of financial position as other non-financial asset where a customer has paid an amount of 
consideration prior to the entity fulfilling its performance obligation by transferring the related good 
or service to the customer.
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Incremental costs of obtaining a contract

NFON regularly enters into commission arrangements with different partners, dealers and other 
third parties. Commission fees which may be incurred by NFON at the start of the contract (i.e. 
one-time) and on a monthly basis are capitalised as costs of obtaining the contract when they are 
incremental and are expected to be recovered. These capitalised commissions are reversed in line 
with the revenue recognition for the relevant contract. If the expected amortisation period is one 
year or less, then the commission fee is expensed immediately when incurred.

Q. Share-based payments

As a form of remuneration and to help retain certain employees (including managers) at the Group, 
NFON issues employee share options (equity-settled share-based payments). These are reported 
and measured in accordance with IFRS 2. In the past, cash-settled share-based payment transac-
tions were also agreed.

The fair value as at the grant date of equity-settled share-based payment arrangements granted to 
employees is recognised as a personnel cost, with a corresponding increase in equity, on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period. This period ends on the day when it first becomes possible to ex-
ercise the options. The amount recognised as an expense is based on the agreed service and 
non-market performance conditions at the initial vesting date. Fair value is determined by an exter-
nal expert using a suitable option pricing model. For share-based payments with non-vesting con-
ditions, the grant date of fair value of the share-based payment is measured to reflect such conditions 
and there is no true-up for differences between expected and actual outcomes.

The dilutive effect of the outstanding share options is taken into account when calculating earnings 
per share.

The fair value of the amount payable to employees in respect of cash-settled share-based payments 
is recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in liabilities over the period during which 
the employees become unconditionally entitled to payment. The liability is re-measured at each 
reporting date and at settlement date based on the fair value of the awards. Any changes in the li-
ability are recognised in profit or loss.
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R. Equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
shares or share options are recognised in equity as deduction from issue proceeds minus taxes.

If a Group company acquires instruments of the Company, for example on the basis of a share buy-
back plan or a share-based payment plan, the paid consideration, including any incremental directly 
attributable costs (less income taxes), is deducted from equity applicable to the owners of the Group 
as treasury shares until the shares are withdrawn or reissued. If such ordinary shares are subse-
quently reissued, each consideration received less directly attributable incremental transaction 
costs and the related income tax effect are included in the equity allocated to the owners of the 
Group.

S. Financial instruments

Die Bilanzierung von Finanzinstrumenten basiert auf den Regelungen des IFRS 9.

Recognition and initial measurement of financial assets

Trade receivables are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets and 
financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual pro-
visions of the instrument. A trade receivable without a significant financing component is initially 
measured at the transaction price.

A regular way purchase – or sale – of financial assets is recognised and derecognised as at the trade 
date.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash balances and call deposits. These are rec-
ognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost, fair value through 
other comprehensive income (debt instruments) or fair value through profit or loss (equity instru-
ments).

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes 
its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are re-
classified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both the following conditions and is not 
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income:

• it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash 
flows; and

• its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All financial assets not classified and measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are 
measured at FVTPL.
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Business model assessment
The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is 
held at a portfolio level.

Financial assets: Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal 
and interest
For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on 
initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the cred-
it risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for 
other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit 
margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the 
Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument.

Financial assets: Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets at FVTPL
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, 
 including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets at amortised 
cost

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
 interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest 
 income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit  
or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

Debt investments at FVOCI These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated 
using the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impair-
ment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are recognised in 
OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified to 
profit or loss.

Equity investments at FVOCI These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as 
 income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the 
cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI and are never 
reclassified to profit or loss.
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Financial liabilities: Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability is 
classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as such 
on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains and 
losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense 
and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecog-
nition is also recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition

Financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows from a trans-
action in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are trans-
ferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its statement of fi-
nancial position, but retains either all or substantially all the risks and rewards of the transferred 
assets. In these cases, the transferred assets are not derecognised.

In some circumstances, the renegotiation or modification of the contractual cash flows of a finan-
cial asset can lead to the derecognition of the existing financial asset in accordance with IFRS 9. 
When the modification of a financial asset results in the derecognition of the existing financial 
asset and the subsequent recognition of the modified financial asset, the modified asset is consid-
ered a ‘new’ financial asset.

Financial liabilities
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or can-
celled, or expire. The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and 
the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial li-
ability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished 
and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement 
of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set 
off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.

Impairment of financial instruments

The Group recognises impairment losses for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on financial assets mea-
sured at amortised cost through profit or loss. Impairment losses for trade receivables and contract 
assets are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.
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When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since in-
itial recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable infor-
mation that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative 
and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed 
credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more 
than 90 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the counterparty files for bankruptcy. 
Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a 
financial instrument.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over 
which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present 
value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance 
with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are 
credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a detrimen-
tal impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

• significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;
• a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due;
• the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not 

consider otherwise;
• it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or
• the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

Presentation of impairment losses for ECL in the statement of financial  position
Impairment losses for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross 
carrying amount of the assets.
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Depreciation

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent 
that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines 
that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows 
to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. However, financial assets written off during the re-
porting period may still be subject to enforcement activity.

Finance income and finance costs

The Group’s finance income and finance costs include:

• interest income; and
• interest expense.

Interest income or expense is recognised using the effective interest method. Dividend income is 
recognised in profit or loss as at the date on which the Group’s right to receive payment is estab-
lished.

The ‘effective interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or 
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to:

• the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or
• the amortised cost of the financial liability.

In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross carry-
ing amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortised cost of the li-
ability. However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recog-
nition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of 
the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of interest income 
reverts to the gross basis.

T. Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an arm’s 
length transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measure-
ment is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes 
place either in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence of a principal market, 
in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous 
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their eco-
nomic best interest. A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market 
participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or 
by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is normally the 
transaction price – i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Group determines 
that the fair value on initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair value is evi-
denced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based on 
a valuation technique for which any unobservable inputs are judged to be insignificant in relation 
to the measurement, the financial instrument is initially measured at the fair value, adjusted to 
defer the difference between the fair value on initial recognition and the transaction price. This 
difference is then recognised in profit or loss over the term of the instrument.

The Group uses measurement techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs 
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are 
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

• Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
• Level 2: Measurement techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement is directly or indirectly observable
• Level 3: Measurement techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the 

fair value measurement is unobservable

U. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of the Com-
pany, excluding costs for servicing equity, excluding ordinary shares and the weighted average of 
the outstanding ordinary shares in the fiscal years, adjusted for bonus shares issued in the fiscal 
year and without consideration of treasury shares.

Diluted earnings per share

In diluted earnings per share, the value used to determine the undiluted earnings per share is adjusted 
for consideration of:

• the after-tax effect of interest and other finance costs related to the dilution of potential 
ordinary shares; and

• the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstand-
ing assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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V. Leases

At the inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A 
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified 
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract contains the 
right to control an identified asset, the Group uses the definition of a lease in accordance with 
IFRS 16.

At the commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The 
right of use is initially measured at cost, which corresponds to the initial measurement of the lease 
liability, adjusted for payments made on or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct 
costs and the estimated costs to dismantle or remove the underlying asset or to restore the under-
lying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease incentives received.

The right of use is then amortised on a straight-line basis from the commencement date until the 
end of the lease term, unless ownership of the underlying asset is transferred to the Group at the 
end of the lease term or the cost of the right of use reflects that the Group will exercise a purchase 
option. In this case, the right of use is amortised over the useful life of the underlying asset, which 
is determined according to the provisions for property, plant and equipment. In addition, the right 
of use is continuously adjusted for impairment, where necessary, and to reflect certain remeasure-
ments of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially recognised at the present value of the lease payments not yet paid at 
the commencement date, discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if this cannot be 
readily determined, at the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. The Group normally uses its incre-
mental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

To determine its incremental borrowing rate, the Group obtains interest rates from various external 
financial sources and makes certain adjustments to take account of the lease conditions and the 
type of asset.
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The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

• fixed payments, including de facto fixed payments
• variable lease payments that are linked to an index or (interest) rate, initially measured using 

the index or (interest) rate applicable at the commencement date
• amounts that are expected to be payable on the basis of a residual value guarantee
• the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain that it will exercise 

this option, lease payments for an extension option if the Group is reasonably certain that it 
will exercise this option, and penalty payments for early termination of the lease unless the 
Group is reasonably certain that it will not terminate the lease early. 

The lease liability is measured at its amortised carry amount using the effective interest method. It is 
remeasured if the future lease payments change as a result of an index or (interest) rate change, if the 
Group adjusts its estimate for the expected payments under a residual value guarantee, if the Group 
changes its assessment regarding the exercise of a purchase, extension or termination option, or if a 
de-facto fixed lease payment changes.

In the event of such a remeasurement of the lease liability, the carrying amount of the right of use is 
adjusted accordingly and this adjustment is recognised through profit or loss if the carrying amount 
of the right of use has fallen to zero.

The Group has decided not to recognise rights of use or lease liabilities for leases based on low-value 
assets or for short-term leases, including IT equipment. The Group recognises the lease payments in 
connection with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.



88

NFON ANNUAL REPORT 2020
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.  Summary of estimates, judgements 
and assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judge-
ments, estimates and assumptions, that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of these 
financial statements and the recognised revenues and expenses for the periods presented. Estimates 
and underlying assumptions are reviewed at end of each reporting period. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the reporting period in which the estimate is revised and future reporting 
periods, if relevant.

Below is a presentation on information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial reporting period.

A. Revenue

In line with the requirements of IFRS 15, revenues and other operating income are recognised when 
service is provided or goods are delivered. For long-term contracts, management estimates the total 
transaction price per contract based on the fixed price components which are contracted and known 
at the start date of the contract. If contracts will be modified or terminated earlier such estimates may 
change. Variable components are not taken into account at inception of long-term contracts as they 
cannot be reliably estimated and depend on customer’s usage. For further details on revenue recogni-
tion refer to Note 18 – Revenue.

B. Share-based payment (IFRS 2)

The costs of granting equity instruments and share appreciation rights to employees are measured 
in the Group at the fair value of these equity instruments and share appreciation rights at the grant 
date or at the end of the reporting period. To estimate the fair value, a suitable measurement tech-
nique is specified for the granting of equity instruments and share appreciation rights; this depends 
on the grant conditions. In addition, the expected option term, volatility, fluctuation and dividend 
yield must be defined, among other assumptions. In 2020 the assessment regarding the fluctuation 
of members of the Executive Board changed. With regard to the related personnel expenses, please 
refer to Note 20 – Share-based payments.
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C.  Defining cash-generating units and determining the recover-
able amount when testing goodwill and non-current assets 
for impairment

Please refer to Note 2.I. and J. – Significant accounting policies – intangible assets and impairment 
testing. The planned revenue and the discount rate used in the impairment tests involve estimates to 
a large extent.

D. Development costs

Development costs are capitalised in line with the accounting policy described in Note 2.I.3. – Significant 
accounting policies – intangible assets – capitalised development projects. The first-time capitalisation 
of the costs is based on the management’s assessment that technical and commercial feasibility is 
demonstrated; this is generally the case when a development project has reached a certain milestone 
in the existing project management model. For the purposes of determining the amounts to be capital-
ised, the management makes assumptions regarding the future economic success of the products and 
features resulting from the development projects. The corresponding carrying amounts are shown under 
Note 6 – Intangible assets.

E. Current and deferred taxes

For current taxes there is a risk that changes in tax legislation, administrative practice or case law 
could have adverse tax consequences for the Company.

In addition, the Group has tax losses carried forward of various legal entities in different tax jurisdic-
tions which could result in lower tax payments in future years. Deferred tax assets have been rec-
ognised to the extent that their recovery is probable, taking into account the projected future taxable 
income of the related entity. In the reporting year, deferred tax assets were recognised for the first 
time on the tax loss carryforwards at DTS and NFON UK in the amount of EUR 675 thousand and 
EUR 330 thousand respectively, as it is assumed for the first time as of 31 December 2020 that these 
two companies will have corresponding tax loss carryforwards that can be offset against taxable 
income in the coming years. Please refer to the accounting policies on income taxes and the income 
tax disclosures in Note 12 – Income taxes.

F. Compound financial instruments

In the previous year, the Group issued a euro-denominated warrant bond (repayment at the start 
of the reporting year) that granted the holder the right to purchase equity interests in the Company 
at the fixed option price. This was and is accounted for in line with the provisions on compound 
financial instruments.

On initial recognition, the debt component of the compound financial instrument was recognised 
at the fair value of a similar liability that does not contain an option. The equity component was 
recognised on initial recognition as the difference between the fair value of the compound financial 
instrument and the fair value of the debt component. Directly attributable transaction costs were 
allocated in the ratio of the carrying amounts of the debt and equity components of the financial 
instrument at the date of initial recognition.
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The debt component of the compound financial instrument was subsequently measured at amort-
ised cost using the effective interest method. The equity component of the compound financial 
instrument continued to be carried at the figure recorded on initial recognition.

Interest in connection with the financial liability was recognised in profit or loss. If the option was 
exercised within the defined exercise window, the option price received was recognised in equity 
(allocation to share capital and capital reserves).

G. Provisions

With regard to recognition and measurement, there are uncertainties regarding the outcome of legal 
disputes and the extent, date and probability of utilisation of the respective provision. For details refer 
to Note 10 – Provisions.

H. Expected credit loss of financial assets

We apply assumptions and estimates in determining the expected credit loss of financial assets. 
For details refer to Note 21 – Financial instruments – (Impairment of financial instruments).

I. Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for 
the following items, which are measured on an alternative basis on each reporting date.

Items: Measurement bases:

Non-derivative financial instruments at FVTPL Fair value

Available-for-sale financial assets Fair value

For contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination Fair value

Liabilities for cash-settled shared-based payment arrangements Fair value
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4. Property, plant and equipment
The major categories of property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) and movement in the carrying 
value of each category is as follows:

A. Reconciliation of gross carrying amount

in EUR thousand 01.01.2020

Changes in 
basis of con-

solidation Additions
Reclassifi-

cations Disposals 31.12.2020

Cost

 Leasehold improvements 215 0 125 0 0 339

  Furniture, fixtures and 
other equipment 5,942 0 1,432 0 60 7,313

Total cost 2020 6,157 0 1,557 0 60 7,653

in EUR thousand 01.01.2019

Changes in 
basis of con-

solidation Additions
Reclassifi-

cations Disposals 31.12.2019

Cost

 Leasehold improvements 44 0 166 5 0 215

  Furniture, fixtures and 
other equipment 3,810 463 1,757 −5 83 5,942

Total cost 2019 3,854 463 1,923 0 83 6,157

B.  Reconciliation of accumulated amortisation and  
carrying amount

in EUR thousand 01.01.2020

Depreciation 
and  

amortisation Disposals 31.12.2020

Depreciation and amortisation

 Leasehold improvements 20 60 0 80

  Furniture, fixtures and other equipment 3,273 951 0 4,224

Total depreciation 2020 3,293 1,010 0 4,304

in EUR thousand 01.01.2020

Depreciation 
and  

amortisation Disposals 31.12.2020

Depreciation and amortisation

 Leasehold improvements 1 19 0 20

  Furniture, fixtures and other equipment 2,501 826 54 3,273

Total depreciation 2020 2,502 845 54 3,293



92

NFON ANNUAL REPORT 2020
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Carrying amounts

in EUR thousand 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Carrying amount

 Leasehold improvements 260 195

 Furniture, fixtures and other equipment 3,089 2,669

Total carrying amount 3,349 2,864

The Company did not recognise any impairment charges on property, plant and equipment for the 
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. The impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes 
is immaterial.

5.  Rights of use from leases

A. Reconciliation of gross carrying amount

Rights of use from leases changed as follows:

in EUR thousand 01.01.2020

Changes in 
basis of con-

solidation Additions Disposals 31.12.2020

Gross carrying amount

  Rights of use from leases for buildings 5,405 0 2,697 −2 8,104

 Rights of use from leases for vehicles 727 0 376 −2 1,105

Total rights of use from leases in 2020 6,132 0 3,073 −4 9,209

in EUR thousand 01.01.2019

Changes in 
basis of con-

solidation Additions Disposals 31.12.2019

Gross carrying amount

  Rights of use from leases for buildings 4,338 516 551 0 5,405

  Rights of use from leases for vehicles 297 107 323 0 727

Total rights of use from leases in 2019 4,635 623 874 0 6,132
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B.  Reconciliation of accumulated amortisation and carrying 
amount

in EUR thousand 01.01.2020

Depreciation 
and  

amortisation Disposals 31.12.2020

Depreciation and amortisation

  Rights of use from leases for buildings 1,147 1,364 0 2,511

 Rights of use from leases for vehicles 241 323 0 564

Total depreciation 2020 1,388 1,687 0 3,075

in EUR thousand 01.01.2019

Depreciation 
and  

amortisation Disposals 31.12.2019

Depreciation and amortisation

  Rights of use from leases for buildings 0 1,147 0 1,147

  Rights of use from leases for vehicles 0 241 0 241

Total depreciation 2019 0 1,388 0 1,388

Carrying amount

in EUR thousand 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Carrying amount

  Rights of use from leases for buildings 5,592 4,258

  Rights of use from leases for vehicles 541 486

Total carrying amount 6,133 4,744
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6. Intangible assets
A. Reconciliation of gross carrying amount

Movements in intangible assets are as follows:

in EUR thousand 01.01.2020

Changes  
in basis  

of consoli-
dation Additions

Reclassifi-
cations Disposals 31.12.2020

Gross carrying amount

 Software 2,213 0 702 29 1 2,943

  Internally developed soft-
ware (under construction) 132 0 1,242 0 0 1,373

 Capitalised R&D costs 578 0 0 5,259 1 5,836

  Capitalised R&D costs in 
development 3,046 0 3,911 −5,259 0 1,698

 Customer base 5,013 0 0 0 0 5,013

 Goodwill 12,384 0 150 0 0 12,534

Other intangible assets 24 0 90 −29 0 85

Total intangible assets  
in 2020 23,390 0 6,095 0 2 29,483

in EUR thousand 01.01.2019

Changes  
in basis  

of consoli-
dation Additions

Reclassifi-
cations Disposals 31.12.2019

Gross carrying amount

 Software 391 1,226 572 23 0 2,213

  Internally developed soft-
ware (under construction) 0 0 132 0 0 132

 Capitalised R&D costs 0 434 0 144 0 578

  Capitalised R&D costs in 
development 0 359 2,831 −144 0 3,046

 Customer base 0 5,013 0 0 0 5,013

 Goodwill 0 12,384 0 0 0 12,384

Other intangible assets 23 0 24 −23 0 24

Total intangible assets  
in 2019 414 19,416 3,560 0 0 23,390
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B.  Reconciliation of accumulated amortisation and carrying 
amount

Accumulated amortisation and depreciation are as follows:

in EUR thousand 01.01.2020

Depreciation 
and  

amortisation Disposals 31.12.2020

Amortisation

 Software 677 814 0 1,491

 Internally developed software (under construction) 0 0 0 0

 Capitalised R&D costs 57 385 442

 Capitalised R&D costs in development 0 0 0

 Customer base 209 250 459

 Goodwill 0 0 0

Other intangible assets 8 2 0 10

Total amortisation on intangible assets 2020 951 1,452 0 2,403

in EUR thousand 01.01.2019

Depreciation 
and  

amortisation Disposals 31.12.2019

Amortisation

 Software 175 501 0 677

 Internally developed software (under construction) 0 0 0 0

 Capitalised R&D costs 0 57 57

 Capitalised R&D costs in development 0 0 0

 Customer base 0 209 209

 Goodwill 0 0 0

Other intangible assets 7 2 0 8

Total amortisation on intangible assets 2019 181 770 0 951

Carrying amounts:

in EUR thousand 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

Carrying amount

 Software 1,450 1,536

 Internally developed software (under construction) 1,373 132

 Capitalised R&D costs 5,392 521

 Capitalised R&D costs in development 1,700 3,046

 Customer base 4,553 4,804

 Goodwill 12,534 12,384

Other intangible assets 77 16

Total carrying amount 27,079 22,438

The impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes is immaterial.
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C. Acquired goodwill

Derivative goodwill of EUR 12.5 million was recognised as at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: 
EUR 12.4 million), for which an annual impairment test must be conducted. No impairment losses 
were recognised in fiscal year 2020 or in the previous year.

A legally independent entity is generally regarded as a cash-generating unit if it is able to generate 
revenue largely independently of other Group companies on the basis of its own product portfolio, 
customer base and sales channels. To conduct the impairment test, goodwill is allocated to the cash-
generating unit that contains the Group company whose acquisition gave rise to the goodwill.

Of the goodwill recognised as at 31 December 2020, EUR 12.4 million resulted from the previous year’s 
acquisition of Deutsche Telefon Standard GmbH, Mainz (DTS), and EUR 150 thousand from the re-
porting year’s acquisition of assets, contractual relationships and the existing employment contracts 
of Onwerk GmbH, Mannheim (Onwerk). All of the goodwill recognised as at 31 December 2019 related 
to DTS.

The recoverable amount is calculated based on the value in use of the cash-generating unit. The cash 
flows used are the expected cash flows for the next three years based on the approved budget. This 
is followed by a seven-year convergence phase in which a reduction of the revenue growth planned 
and approved for 2023 of 1.5% per year has been applied. The perpetual annuity takes account of 
growth in revenues in the amount of the basic interest rate of −0.2% (previous year: 0.2%). A slightly 
declining EBITDA margin is expected for the assessment period. The discount rate used reflects the 
specific risks of the subjects of the valuation. It is calculated in line with the capital asset pricing model 
(CAPM), under which the equity costs are composed of the risk-free interest rate and a risk premium 
calculated as the difference between the average market return and the risk-free interest rate multi-
plied by the company-specific risk (beta factor). The beta factor is derived from a group of comparable 
companies. In 2020, a discount rate of 7.61% (7.81% for perpetual annuity) (previous year: 7.96% or 
7.76% for perpetual annuity) was used.

Given that an impairment loss as at the reporting date is unlikely, sensitivities are not disclosed.
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D. Acquired customer base

The recognised customer base of EUR 4,553 thousand (31 December 2019: EUR 4,804 thousand) 
results from the acquisition of DTS as at 01 March 2019. The customer base will be amortised over 
20 years. Amortisation in the reporting year amounted to EUR 251 thousand (2019: EUR 209 thou-
sand).

E. Capitalised development projects

The impairment testing method for development projects and internally developed software cur-
rently under development generally corresponds to the method described in the “Acquired goodwill” 
section. The cash flows are based on the planning for the next three years and a three-year conver-
gence phase. The basic assumptions and estimation uncertainties are identical. The projects “under 
construction” are tested for impairment at least once a year.

7. Inventories
Inventories amounted to EUR 149 thousand as at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: EUR 208 
thousand). Inventories mainly comprise hardware, e.g. telephone devices. Hardware on hand is 
usually minimal within the Group as hardware is shipped just-in-time by the suppliers whenever 
requested by NFON based on customer orders. No material reserves for obsolete inventory were 
required in the periods presented.

The cost of materials includes expenses of EUR 4,336 thousand (2019: EUR 5,008 thousand) for 
the procurement of hardware.
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8.  Trade receivables and other financial 
assets

Fiscal year ended 31.12.

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Trade receivables due from related parties 0 0

Other trade receivables 9,973 7,557

Total 9,973 7,558

Expenses resulting from bad debt losses amounted to EUR 172 thousand in the reporting year (pre-
vious year: EUR 103 thousand).

Information about the Group’s exposure to credit and market risks, impairment losses for trade and 
other receivables and movement in impairment is included in Note 21 – Finanzinstrumente.

Measurement of expected credit losses

The Group applies the simplified approach for providing for expected credit losses (ECLs) prescribed 
by IFRS 9. This approach requires to recognise the lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade 
receivables. The Group uses the impairment matrix to compute the credit allowances for trade re-
ceivables and contract assets.

Under this approach, the Group uses historical loss experience on its trade receivables and contract 
assets, and adjusts historical loss rates to reflect:

i. information about current conditions; and
ii. reasonable and supportable forecasts of future economic conditions

Other financial assets amounted to EUR 390 thousand as at 31 December 2020 (31 December 
2019: EUR 390 thousand). The position contains restricted cash because of recourse rights of banks 
for direct debits from customers.
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9.  Other (non-financial) assets, other 
(non-financial) liabilities, income tax 
 receivables and income tax liabilities

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, other non-financial assets were as follows:

Fiscal year ended 31.12.

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Other current assets

 Contract assets 165 220

 Capitalised contract costs 18 108

 Tax receivables 290 361

Other prepaid expenses 1,467 1,217

 Other non-financial assets 350 258

Subtotal other current assets 2,290 2,163

Other non-current assets

 Prepayments 117 178

 Others 166 112

Subtotal other non-current assets 283 289

Other assets 2,573 2,454

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, other non-financial liabilities were as follows:

Fiscal year ended 31.12.

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Other current (non-financial) liabilities

 Tax payables 1,068 688

 Liabilities to employees 1,865 1,253

 Other non-financial liabilities 1,666 1,509

Subtotal other current (non-financial) liabilities 4,600 3,450

Other non-current liabilities

 Others 186 172

Subtotal other non-current (non-financial) liabilities 186 172

Other (non-financial) liabilities 4,785 3,622

Other non-current liabilities contain contract liabilities in the amount of EUR 599 thousand (31 De-
cember 2019: EUR 290 thousand).
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10. Provisions

in EUR thousand

Carrying 
amount 

as at 
01.01.2020

Change in 
basis of 
consoli-

dation Additions Utilisation Reversal

Carrying 
amount  

as at 
31.12.2020

Current provisions

  Personnel-related 
 provisions 207 0 187 123 64 207

 Other provisions 1,968 0 1,708 1,574 48 2,055

Total 2,175 0 1,896 1,697 113 2,262

in EUR thousand

Carrying 
amount  

as at 
01.01.2019

Change in 
basis of 
consoli-

dation Additions Utilisation Reversal

Carrying 
amount  

as at 
31.12.2020

Current provisions

  Personnel-related  
provisions 128 0 90 11 0 207

 Other provisions 1,183 20 1,819 1,044 9 1,968

Total 1,310 20 1,908 1,054 9 2,175

Other provisions mainly comprise provisions for outstanding invoices and sales commission 
amounting to EUR 959 thousand (31 December 2019: EUR 901 thousand) and provisions for 
annual reports and annual financial statements amounting to EUR 355 thousand (31 December 
2019: EUR 377 thousand).

As at 31 December 2020, personnel-related provisions primarily include EUR 97 thousand in 
obligations for share-based payments to a member of the Management Board, which decreased 
slightly year-on-year (31 December 2019: EUR 113 thousand).

The outflow of funds is expected in the following year for all provisions. All provisions are based 
on the best possible estimate of the amount at the balance sheet date.
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11. Interest-bearing debt
The following loans and borrowings are reflected in short-current financial liabilities. For details 
refer to Note 21 – Financial instruments.

Fiscal year ended 31.12.

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Current financial liabilities

Acquisition loan 8,967 8,967

Lease liabilities 1,719 1,342

Warrant bond 0 5,000

Working capital loan 0 26

Others 4 115

Subtotal current financial liabilities 10,690 15,451

Non-current financial liabilities

Lease liabilities 4,577 3,436

Subtotal non-current financial liabilities 4,577 3,436

Total financial liabilities 15,267 18,886

All loans are granted without collateral and subordination agreements.

Credit facility

With the following exceptions, the Group has no outstanding loans in reference to revolving cred-
it facilities.

Since 08 January 2019, the Group has had an acquisition credit facility of EUR 10,000 thousand. 
The interest rate of 4% at the time of signing the agreement is variable and changes with changes 
in the monthly average of the 3-month EURIBOR. The commitment fee is 1%. As at the reporting 
date, this credit facility had been utilised in the amount of EUR 8,967 thousand. According to the 
loan agreement, NFON has to maintain a minimum liquidity of EUR 12,000 thousand.

Lease liabilities

EUR 1,442 thousand (31 December 2019: EUR 1,107 thousand) of the current lease liabilities relate to 
rented office space and EUR 277 thousand (31 December 2019: EUR 235 thousand) to leased vehicles. 
EUR 4,316 thousand (31 December 2019: EUR 3,184 thousand) of the non-current lease liabilities relate 
to rented office space and EUR 261 thousand (31 December 2019: EUR 252 thousand) to leased vehi-
cles. Please refer to the information on leasing in Note 19 – Leases.
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Warrant bond

On 01 July 2019, the Management Board resolved, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to 
issue a warrant bond with a nominal amount of EUR 5,000 thousand (“bond”) as part of a private 
placement to Active Ownership Fund SICAV-FIS SCS, Luxembourg. The bond bore interest at 6.00% 
p.a. for a term up to and including 02 January 2020. The bond was issued together with a warrant 
issued by NFON AG. The warrant entitled the holder to purchase 964,015 bearer shares from the 
conditional capital of NFON AG with a share in the share capital attributable to each share of EUR 1.00 
per share. The exercise price per share was EUR 11.00. The shareholders’ pre-emption rights were 
disapplied. The warrant bond was repaid in full at the beginning of the reporting year.

12. Income taxes

A. Amounts recognised in profit and loss

Current tax on the net profit or loss for the year is recognised as an expense in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss with any changes in the provision for deferred tax.

A. Tax on profit for the year

Fiscal year ended 31.12.

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Current tax expense (income)
(federal and state) 135 39

Deferred tax expense (income) −222 81

Income tax expense (income) −87 120

Of the current tax expense in the reporting year, EUR 139 thousand relates to the current year and 
EUR −4 thousand to the previous year. The tax income in the previous year related exclusively to 
2019. The deferred tax expense of the reporting year comprises income of EUR 1,127 thousand from 
the adjustment of deferred tax assets on tax losses carried forward and expenses of EUR 905 thou-
sand from the adjustment of deferred taxes on temporary differences. The deferred tax expense 
was reduced in the reporting year by the first-time recognition of deferred tax assets on loss car-
ryforwards in the amount of EUR 1,005 thousand.

B. Amounts recognised in OCI

In the reporting period (as well as in the prior-year period), there were no transactions that had an 
impact on deferred taxes in other comprehensive income.
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C. Reconciliation of effective tax rate

In Germany, the calculation of current tax is based on a combined tax rate of 32.4% for the Group, 
consisting of a corporate tax rate of 15%, a solidarity surcharge thereon of 5.5% and an average 
trade tax rate of 16.5%.

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Profit before tax from continuing operations −2,324 −10,805

Tax using the Company’s domestic tax rate of 32.4% 752 3,509

Tax effect on:

Difference due to foreign tax rates 147 132

Non-deductible expenses –193 −151

Adjustments for previous years 303 0

Losses for which no deferred tax assets are recognised −2,023 −3,048

Adjustments for current taxes of previous years 4 0

Usage of tax losses carried forward for which no DTA  
was recognised in prior year 547 73

Change in realisability of deferred tax assets and tax credits 888 −719

Tax effect from permanent differences –297 0

Others −41 84

Current income taxes 87 −120

Current tax expense (income) −135 −39

Deferred tax expense (income) 222 −81

Income tax expense (income) 87 −120

The reconciliation to deferred taxes is significantly impacted by the non-recognition of tax losses 
carried forward at NFON AG. The tax rates used locally by the Group companies range between 
17% and 32.4%.

D. Movement in deferred tax balances

Deferred tax assets or liabilities are recorded for deferred taxes on the basis of all temporary differ-
ences in accordance with the balance sheet liability method. Temporary differences arise between 
the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts which are offset over time.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences 
when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred 
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future positive taxable income will be 
generated, against which the temporary differences and tax losses can be offset. Deferred tax assets 
are the amounts of income taxes recoverable in future periods in respect of deductible temporary 
differences and the carry forward of unused tax losses.
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E. Deferred tax assets/liabilities

Fiscal year ended 31.12.2020

in EUR thousand
Deferred tax 

assets
Deferred tax 

liabilities

Changes in 
the current 

fiscal year
Thereof in 

profit or loss

Assets

Non-current assets

  Property, plant and equipment 14 1,780 −344 −344

  Intangible assets 0 4,150 −1,512 −1,512

 Current assets

  Trade receivables 46 0 62 62

  Other current assets 0 6 26 26

 Equity

  Capital reserves 0 0 –105 −105

 Liabilities

 Non-current liabilities 1,338 0 331 331

 Current liabilities

   Trade payables 0 0 −36 −36

  Current provisions 1 0 0 0

  Current financial liabilities 464 0 95 95

  Other current liabilities 66 0 −52 −52

  Consolidation effects 0 5 −31 −31

Sub-total temporary differences 1,929 5,941 −1,566 −1,566

 Tax losses carried forward 4,289 0 1,127 1,127

Sub-total temporary differences 6,218 5,941 −439 −439

 Offset −5,139 −5,139 0 0

Sub-total temporary differences after balancing 1,079 802 −439 −439

 Impairment 0 0 665 665

 Reversal of an impairment 0 0 −23 −23

 Impairment prior year 0 0 19 19

Total temporary differences 1,079 802 222 222
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Fiscal year ended 31.12.2019

in EUR thousand
Deferred tax 

assets
Deferred tax 

liabilities

Changes in 
the current 

fiscal year
Thereof in 

profit or loss

Assets

 Non-current assets

  Property, plant and equipment 14 1,437 −1,414 −1,414

  Intangible assets 8 2,646 −2,645 −2,645

  Other non-current assets 0 0 16 16

 Current assets

  Inventories 0 0 1 1

  Trade receivables 15 31 96 96

  Other current assets 0 32 26 26

 Equity

  Capital reserves 105 0 105 105

 Liabilities

  Non-current liabilities 1,007 0 1,007 1,007

  Non-current financial liabilities 0 0 14 14

 Current liabilities

  Trade payables 36 0 34 34

  Current provisions 2 0 66 66

  Current financial liabilities 369 0 339 339

  Other current liabilities 121 3 −105 −105

  Consolidation effects 26 0 −8 −8

Sub-total temporary differences 1,702 4,148 −2,465 −2,465

 Tax losses carried forward 3,162 0 3,022 3,022

Sub-total temporary differences 4,864 4,148 557 557

 Offset −4,071 −4,071 0 0

Sub-total temporary differences after balancing 793 77 557 557

 Impairment −665 0 −638 −638

 Reversal of an impairment 23 0 −415 −415

 Impairment prior year −19 0 415 415

Total temporary differences 132 77 −81 −81
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F. Tax losses carried forward

No deferred tax assets are reported for trade tax losses carried forward of EUR 53,059 thousand 
(2019: EUR 50,296 thousand) and for corporate income tax losses carried forward of EUR 54,921 
thousand (2019: EUR 54,547 thousand). Of the trade tax losses carried forward, EUR 7,016 thou-
sand relates to the reporting year and EUR 46,043 thousand to earlier periods. Of the corporation 
tax losses carried forward, EUR 9,011 thousand relates to the reporting year and EUR 45,909 
thousand to earlier periods. The trade tax and corporation tax losses carried forward for which no 
deferred tax assets were recognised, are not subject to any restriction relating to utilisation.

G. Uncertainty over income tax treatments

The Group believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on 
its assessment of many factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior experience. In par-
ticular, we point out that various tax audits (operating taxes, payroll taxes and social security con-
tributions) are carried out at regular intervals.

Future taxation of any dividend distributions is currently made at a flat-rate withholding tax rate of 
25.0% plus a solidarity surcharge thereon of 5.5%.

13. Equity

Capital increases and consolidated net profit

Equity decreased from EUR 47,146 thousand as at 31 December 2019 to EUR 45,840 thousand as at 
31 December 2020. This resulted in particular from the consolidated net loss of EUR 2,636 thousand 
and the EUR 272 thousand decrease in the currency translation reserve. The employee share options 
of EUR 940 thousand had an offsetting effect.

Subscribed capital and ordinary shares

As at 31 December 2020, NFON AG had issued 15,055,569 (31 December 2019: 15,055,569) ordi-
nary bearer shares with a notional interest in the share capital of EUR 1.00. Subscribed capital to-
talled EUR 15,056 thousand as at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: EUR 15,056 thousand).

Each ordinary share entitles the bearer to one vote at the Annual General Meeting and to receive a 
dividend in the event of a distribution. Ordinary shares are not subject to any restrictions.

All issued and outstanding shares are fully paid in as at 31 December 2020 and 2019.
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Capital reserves

The capital reserves contain the premium from issued shares and the transaction costs reimbursed 
by the then shareholders in connection with the IPO. This offset the transaction costs in connection 
with the placement of new shares in the context of the IPO as well as deferred taxes recognised in 
connection with these costs in the reporting year. In addition, the capital reserves contain cumu-
lated expenses for share-based payment transactions for specific members of the Management 
Board recognised as staff costs in earlier periods, expenses from the employee share option pro-
gramme recognised as staff costs in the reporting period and in the previous year, and the equity 
component of the warrant bond issued in the previous year.

The development of the consolidated equity is shown in the statement of changes in equity.

Authorised capital

In accordance with the resolution of the Annual General Meeting on 12 December 2019, the Man-
agement Board is authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to increase the share 
capital of NFON AG on one or more occasions in one or more tranches by up to EUR 3,000,000 by 
issuing up to 3,000,000 bearer shares in exchange for cash or non-cash contributions until 11 De-
cember 2024 (Authorised Capital 2019). Shareholders have pre-emption rights. The Management 
Board is authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to decide whether to disapply 
shareholders’ pre-emption rights, though these can only be disapplied in the following cases:

• to compensate fractional shares;
• if shares are issued against non-cash contributions to acquire companies, investments in 

companies, parts of companies or other assets, including rights and receivables, and the new 
shares for which the shareholders’ pre-emptive right has been disapplied do not exceed 10% 
of the share capital as at 31 December 2019, at the time this authorisation becomes effective 
or at the time it is exercised;

• if the capital is increased in return for cash contributions, the issue price of the new shares is not 
significantly lower than the stock market price at the time the issue price is finalised, and the 
new shares for which shareholders’ pre-emption rights have been disapplied do not exceed 10% 
of the share capital as at 31 December 2019, at the time this authorisation becomes effective or 
at the time it is exercised.

Authorised Capital has not changed since the end of the previous year’s reporting period.
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Contingent capital

The creation of contingent capital (Contingent Capital I) at the Annual General Meeting on 09 April 
2018 in the form that the NFON AG share capital is contingently increased by up to EUR 3,856,060 
as a result of the issue of up to 3,856,060 new no-par value bearer shares, serves to authorise the 
Management Board, with approval of the Supervisory Board, in the period to 08 April 2023 to issue 
bearer convertible bonds, warrant bonds, participation rights, participating bonds or combinations of 
these instruments with or without a restriction on duration up to a total amount of EUR 115,681,800 
and to grant bearers and creditors of convertible or warrant bonds conversion or option rights to new 
shares of the Company with a pro rata amount in the share capital of up to EUR 3,856,060, the issue 
of which can take place on a non-cash basis.

Furthermore, on the basis of the authorisation of the Annual General Meeting on 09 April 2018 in 
order to secure the pre-emption rights from stock options (pre-emption rights as referred to by Sec-
tion 192(2) no. 3 AktG) issued between 09 April 2018 and 08 April 2023, the share capital of NFON AG 
has been contingently increased by up to EUR 964,015 against the issue of up to 964,015 new bearer 
shares (Contingent Capital II).

Contingent Capital I amounted to EUR 2,892,045 as at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: 
EUR 2,892,045). As at 31 December 2020 (and 31 December 2019), Contingent Capital II was un-
changed since the resolution of the Annual General Meeting on 09 April 2018.

Retained earnings

Retained earnings contains losses incurred in prior years and in 2020.

Currency translation reserve

Other comprehensive income serves to recognise differences from the translation of the financial 
statements of foreign Group companies into the Group currency.
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Voting rights

In 2020, NFON AG published the following notifications on the Group’s website in line with Section 
33 (1), Section 38 (1) and Section 40 German Securities Trading Act:

Type of no-
tification

Date 
of report

Date  
of change

Name of reporting  
party/shareholder Threshold affected

Share of  
voting rights

Section 43 
WpHG O6.01.2020 09.12.2019

Florian Schuhbauer and  
subsidiaries Above 10% 11.43%

Section 33 
WpHG 30.01.2020 27.01.2020

Universal-Investment- 
Gesellschaft mit beschränkter 
Haftung, Frankfurt, Germany Below 5% 4.94%

Section 33 
WpHG 17.09.2020 11.09.2020

Federal Republic of Germany rep-
resented by the Federal Ministry 
for Economic Affairs and Energy, 
Berlin, Germany Below 3% 2.62%

Section 33 
WpHG 19.10.2020 15.10.2020

MainFirst SICAV, Senningerberg, 
Luxembourg Below 5% 4.78%

Sections 33, 
34 WpHG 20.10.2020 16.10.2020

Florian Schuhbauer, Active 
 Ownership Fund SICAV-FIS SCS, Above 15% 17.51%

Sections 33, 
34 WpHG 20.10.2020 16.10.2020

Klaus Röhrig; Active Ownership 
Fund SICAV-FIS SCS, Above 15% 17.51%

Section 33 
WpHG 21.10.2020 16.10.2020

Earlybird Verwaltungs GmbH, 
 Munich, Germany Below 10% 7.97%

Sections 33, 
34 WpHG 01.12.2020 27.11.2020

Klaus Röhrig; Active Ownership 
Fund SICAV-FIS SCS; AOC Cloud 
S.à r.l. Above 20% 25.48%

Sections 33, 
34 WpHG 01.12.2020 27.11.2020

Florian Schuhbauer; Active 
 Ownership Fund SICAV-FIS SCS; 
AOC Cloud S.à r.l. Above 20% 25.48%

Section 33 
WpHG 01.12.2020 27.11.2020

Earlybird Verwaltungs GmbH, 
 Munich, Germany Below 3% 0%

Section 33 
WpHG 04.12.2020 03.12.2020

MainFirst SICAV, Senningerberg, 
Luxembourg Below 3% 1.01%

Sections 33, 
34 WpHG 08.12.2020 03.12.2020

Gerlin N.V., Maarsbergen, 
 Netherlands Above 5% 5.0%

Sections 33, 
34 WpHG 08.12.2020 03.12.2020

Teslin Capital Management B.V., 
Maarsbergen, Netherlands Above 5% 5.0%

Capital management
The Group aims to maintain and expand a strong capital base in order to preserve the trust of in-
vestors, creditors and the markets and ensure the sustainable development of the Group through 
organic and inorganic growth.

No dividend is distributed at present.
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14. Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit for the year after tax attributable to 
the ordinary shareholders of the parent company by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the period.

Diluted earnings per share are calculated by recognising earnings after tax attributable to the ordi-
nary shareholders of the parent company, the weighted average number of ordinary shares out-
standing during the reporting period and the effects of any dilutive effects inherent in converting 
potential ordinary shares.

Earnings per share as shown in the table below reflect earnings from continuing operations.

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to the owners of the parent  
for basic earnings per share −2,237 −10,924

Profit (loss) for the year attributable to the owners of the parent  
for basic earnings per share −2,237 −10,924

Quantity 2020 2019

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for  
basic earnings per share 15,055,569 14,190,255

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for  
diluted earnings per share 15,162,315 14,190,255

Fiscal year ended 31.12.

EUR 2020 2019

Loss per share

 Basic earnings −0.15 −0.77

 Diluted earnings −0.15 −0.77
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15. Other operating income

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Other operating income

Non-cash employee-related benefits 302 277

Miscellaneous other income 657 359

Total other operating income 958 635

Non-cash employee-related benefits particularly include charges to employees for car usage. Fur-
ther EUR 111 thousand (2019: EUR 102 thousand) of miscellaneous other income relates to income 
from subletting office space. EUR 200 thousand (2019: EUR 52 thousand) results from foreign 
currency gains.

16.  Other operating expenses

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Other operating expenses

Sales commission 8,044 6,733

Marketing expenses 6,718 9,044

General administration 1,483 1,487

Consulting expenses 1,420 2,616

IT expenses 1,360 1,359

Rental costs 843 808

Travel expenses 659 1,297

Support costs 436 523

Selling costs 74 88

Other personnel costs 2,547 2,820

Total other operating expenses 23,584 26,773

The reduction in marketing expenses was mainly due to the restriction on advertising activities as 
a result of the general economic uncertainty stemming from the COVID-19 pandemic in the report-
ing period.

As sales commission represents a percentage share of revenues generated through distribution 
partners or dealers, the increase from EUR 6,733 thousand in fiscal year 2019 to EUR 8,044 thou-
sand in fiscal year 2020 was driven mainly by the increase of total revenues and especially by the 
increased portion of revenues generated through partner channels.

The decrease in travel expenses in the reporting year as compared to the prior year is likewise di-
rectly related to the COVID-19 pandemic due to the significant reduction in travel.
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In fiscal year 2020, consultancy expenses included legal costs of EUR 281 thousand and consult-
ancy fees of EUR 1,139 thousand. In the previous year, they include expenses relating to the acqui-
sition of DTS.

Other personnel costs mainly include costs for freelancers in R&D and expenses for recruitment, 
which were necessary to support our growth strategy.

17. Personnel costs and employees
Personnel costs comprised the following:

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Wages and salaries 22,495 19,582

Social security contributions 4,464 3,780

Share-based payment plans 1 940 638

Expenses for pensions and other benefits 228 135

Other personnel costs 369 112

Total 28,495 24,248

1 Thereof equity-settled 940 638

Expenses for pensions and other benefits mainly relate to the Company’s payments to defined 
contribution plans (contributions to state plans) which are expensed as the related service is pro-
vided. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduc-
tion in future payments is available.

Short-time working allowance was granted to a minor extent in the reporting period.

In 2020, the average number of employees was 392 and managers 14 (2019: 346 and 14).
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18. Revenue
A. Nature of goods or services

The following is the description of principal activities, from which the Group generates its revenue:

The Group principally generates revenue from telephone services. Most of the contracts entered 
into by the Group pertain to telephone services with or without hardware sales and other services.

Products and services Nature, timing of satisfaction of obligation

Recurring revenue Recurring services are mainly compensated by monthly payments of a fixed license 
fee per seat plus an additional fixed or volume-based fee for voice telephony usage.

Month-to-month-contracts:
Telephone services are satisfied over time, i.e. in the month of service the customer 
has agreed to.

Based on the services provided, NFON sends monthly invoices to its customers. For the 
majority of customers direct debit is used to collect monies due. If direct debit is agreed, 
cash is received with the direct debit run following the month the service was provided. 
Revenue is recognised when the respective performance obligations are fulfilled, i.e. in 
the month the telephone service is provided to the customer.

Long-term contracts:
Monthly telephone services are satisfied over time, i.e. over the term of the minimum 
contract duration (e.g. 24 months).

Based on the services provided, NFON sends monthly invoices to the customers. For 
the majority of customers direct debit is used to collect monies due. If direct debit is 
agreed, cash is received with the direct debit run following the month the service 
was provided. Revenue is recognised over time when the respective performance 
obligations are fulfilled. The amount of revenue is based on the allocation of the 
transaction price to the performance obligations due to the relative stand-alone sell-
ing prices. The total transaction price estimated at inception of a contract is allo-
cated to the performance obligations which are known from the beginning (e.g. 
monthly flat rate for airtime). Revenue for such performance obligations is recog-
nised over the life of the contract on a straight-line basis which best reflects the rev-
enue for each month of the contact. For services which vary over the contact term, 
revenue is recognised when the service is provided, e.g. in the month when airtime 
on a per-minute basis is used by the customer.
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Products and services Nature, timing of satisfaction of obligation

Non-recurring revenue Hardware:
Revenue is recognised at the point in time control transfers to the customer.

Activation of the port:
Activating the port results in an extension of Group’s network and does not transfer 
goods or services to the customer. Hence activation of the port is not a separate per-
formance obligation.

Porting of existing numbers/setup of new geographical phone numbers:
The customer cannot choose to not purchase this porting activity without 
significantly affecting the monthly telephone services. Hence, it is not considered a 
separate performance obligation.

Consulting services, training services
Revenue is recognised at the point in time when the training is performed, or over  
the time the consulting service is provided. However such training and services are 
minimal relative to other services and products.

Based on the products or services provided, NFON sends monthly invoices to the 
customers. The customer pays through direct debit or wire transfer in the month 
following the month when the performance obligation is fulfilled. Revenue on 
hardware is recognised when the hardware is delivered and all risks and rewards of 
ownership are transferred to the customer. Revenue for non-recurring services is 
recognised when the services are provided, e.g. in the month the training is provided 
to the customer. Where a service is not considered a performance obligation, the 
consideration received is allocated to the performance obligations of the contract 
and recognised as revenue accordingly.

For all non-recurring revenue, the respective cash is received in the middle of the 
month following to the respective transaction.

Customer contracts, which may comprise both recurring and non-recurring services and/or pro-
ducts, mainly do not have a minimum contract duration (month-to-month contracts). In relation to 
such contracts, management assumes that the contract term is at least one month, as the customer 
has the right to cancel on a monthly basis, and therefore the actual contract duration cannot be 
estimated reliably at inception of the contract.

For long-term contracts, i.e. contracts with minimum contract duration, at contract inception NFON 
determines the total consideration payable by the customer over the life of the contract, based on 
the fees which can be estimated reliably. Further, the Group determines the performance obligation 
of each service/product, calculates the relative stand-alone selling price for each performance ob-
ligation based on the list prices and allocates the relative stand-alone selling prices to the perform-
ance obligations over the life of the contract.
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B. Disaggregation of revenue

In the following table, revenue is disaggregated by segments based on recurring and non-recurring 
products/services. As in the previous year, all revenues in the reporting year resulted from contracts 
with customers.

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Product/service

Recurring revenue

NFON AG 34,968 29,900

Deutsche Telefon Standard GmbH 12,402 7,718

NFON UK Ltd. 6,386 5,811

nfon GmbH 5,097 4,319

NFON Iberia SL 353 301

NFON ITALIA S.R.L. 114 7

NFON France SAS 67 5

Total recurring revenue by segments 59,387 48,060

Reconciliation to non-recurring consolidated revenue 0 −5

Consolidated recurring revenue 59,387 48,055

Non-recurring revenue

NFON AG 4,559 5,654

Deutsche Telefon Standard GmbH 1,505 1,022

nfon GmbH 1,253 1,496

NFON UK Ltd. 652 842

NFON ITALIA S.R.L. 122 9

NFON France SAS 101 5

NFON Iberia SL 22 33

Non-recurring revenue by segment 8,214 9,063

Reconciliation to non-recurring Group revenue 0

Non-recurring Group revenue 8,214 9,063

Consolidated revenue 67,602 57,117
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C. Contract balances

The following table provides information about receivables, contract assets and contract liabilities 
from contracts with customers.

Fiscal year ended 31.12.

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Receivables, which are included in trade receivables 9,973 7,558

Contract assets 165 220

Contract liabilities 599 290

The contract assets, which are presented under other assets in the statement of financial position, 
primarily relate to the Group’s rights to the consideration for work completed but not yet billed in 
the reporting period. When invoices are made to the respective customers, the relevant amounts 
are reclassified in trade receivables. No impairment losses in connection with contract assets were 
recognised in the reporting periods shown.

The contract liabilities from long-term contracts, which are presented under other liabilities on the 
statement of financial position, primarily relate to the advance consideration received from cus-
tomers for services at inception of the contract (e.g. activation fees, porting of numbers) which do 
not classify as a separate performance obligation and are recognised as part of the contractual 
performance obligations over time. In 2020 (as well in 2019) no revenue was recognised due to 
adjustments of performance obligations recognised in prior years.

Due to the rolling nature of the long-term contracts and due to materiality considerations, all con-
tract assets and all contract liabilities are classified as current assets and liabilities respectively. 
NFON receives upfront payments (e.g. for activation of the port and for porting of existing numbers/
setup of new geographical numbers) which are not dedicated to separate performance obligations. 
Long-term contracts do not include a significant financing component.

2020 2021

in EUR thousand 01.01. Reversal New in
Reversal 

new 31.12. Reversal in

Contract assets 220 116 78 17 165 106

Contract liability 290 121 523 93 599 318

2019 2020

in EUR thousand 01.01. Reversal New in
Reversal 

new 31.12. Reversal in

Contract assets 210 78 106 18 220 122

Contract liability 18 9 368 87 290 120
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D. T ransaction price allocated to the remaining performance ob-
ligations

The following table includes revenue expected to be recognised in the future related to the per-
formance obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) at the reporting period. This 
mainly relates to future revenue from fixed price components under long-term contracts (i.e. bun-
dles).

Fiscal year 
ended 31.12. Recognition

in EUR thousand 2020 2021 2022

2023 and 
subsequent 

years

Unsatisfied allocated transaction  
price to performance obligations 4,088 1,964 1,710 414

Portion 100% 48% 42% 10%

The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph C5(d) of IFRS 15 and does not disclose the 
amount of the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations as at 31 De-
cember 2020.

E. Costs to obtain a contract

In the NFON Group, nearly all customer contracts can be terminated month-to-month. For these 
contracts, the NFON Group applies the practical expedient in IFRS 15 and recognises the incremental 
costs of obtaining a contract as an expense when incurred. Commissions under such contracts 
amounted to EUR 7,504 thousand in 2020 (2019: EUR 6,529 thousand) and are reflected in other 
operating expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Management expects that commission fees paid to its partners for obtaining the whole contract can 
be invoiced to the customer over the contract duration.

With regards to long-term contracts, these costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the 
non-cancellable contract term as this reflects the period over which NFON transfers products and 
services to the customers. Whenever the contract term is more than twelve months, the Group cap-
italises commission fees as contract costs. These amounted to EUR 18 thousand as at 31 December 
2020 (31 December 2019: EUR 108 thousand).
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19. Leases
The Group rents office space and vehicles. The term of the lease agreements is typically between three 
and five years. If these contracts are based on a short term, the Group does not recognise rights of 
use or lease liabilities. The associated expenses are recognised in the operating cash flow. With regard 
to the lease liabilities expensed as financial liabilities, the Group recognises the corresponding pay-
ments in the financing cash flow in the consolidated statement of cash flows. For some contracts, the 
Group has decided to agree a lease extension option to give it a range of operational options on a 
short-term basis. As of 31. December 2020 there was one lease agreement whose term does not 
begin until 2021. At the beginning of the lease, the right of use to be recognised will amount to 
EUR 259 thousand.

For further details, please refer to Note 5 – Rights of use from leases.

Lease liabilities

in EUR thousand
Non-current  

financial liabilities
Current  

financial liabilities Total

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Land and buildings 4,316 3,184 1,442 1,107 5,758 4,291

Vehicles 261 252 277 235 538 487

4,577 3,436 1,719 1,342 6,296 4,778

Amounts recognised in the income statement

2019 – leases in accordance with IFRS 16 in EUR thousand

2020 2019

Interest expenses for lease liabilities (recognised in the finance result) 116 89

Income from subleasing rights of use, presented in other operating income 111 102

Expenses for short-term leases 177 221

Total cash outflows for leases 1,668 1,578
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20. Share-based payments
A. Employee share option programme

In the previous year and the reporting year, NFON issued share options to the members of the Man-
agement Board of NFON AG (Group 1) and to managing directors of affiliated companies (Group 2) 
as well as to selected employees of NFON AG (Group 3) and of affiliated companies (Group 4) (share 
option plan 2018).

The group of beneficiaries is regulated individually in each case. Following the resolution by the 
Annual General Meeting on 09 April 2018, 31% of the share options – a total of 298,845 pre-emp-
tion rights – were issued to Group 1, 11% – a total of 106,042 pre-emption rights – to Group 2, 
42% – a total of 404,886 pre-emption rights – to Group 3 and 16% – a total of 154,242 pre-emp-
tion rights – to Group 4. The exact group of beneficiaries and the scope of the respective offer are 
defined by the Management Board with the approval of the Supervisory Board or, if the Manage-
ment Board is affected, by the Supervisory Board.

All pre-emption rights from the above programme have a vesting period of four years and an over-
all term of 10 years. Pre-emption rights from the share options can be exercised only in the case of 
a 20% increase in revenue reported in the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year in 
which the options were issued relative to revenue as reported in the consolidated financial state-
ments for the final fiscal year before allocation. For members of the Management Board, a cap in 
accordance with Section 4.2.3. of the German Corporate Governance Code is also stipulated.

The share options are not transferable. This does not affect the share options in the event of the 
death of the beneficiary. If the beneficiary leaves employment at the Company or at an affiliated 
company for age-related reasons without having been terminated, all rights from the options remain 
unaffected. Disability, incapacity and early retirement are considered equivalent to age-related 
departure. In the case of Management Board members, the expiry and non-renewal of their ap-
pointment is considered equivalent to age-related departure. If an employment contract between 
the beneficiary and the Company or a company of the NFON Group has ended as a result of termi-
nation by the beneficiary or ordinary termination by the Company, the beneficiary can exercise his/
her options exercisable at the termination date immediately within 60 calendar days of the end of 
the employment contract; this period is extended by any days on which the options cannot be ex-
ercised due to the lock-up period. Any options that have not been exercised by then expire without 
replacement. Non-exercisable options expire without replacement at the termination date. In the 
event of a mutually agreed cancellation of the employment contract between the beneficiary and 
the Company or a company of the NFON Group, the Management Board can decide with the ap-
proval of the Supervisory Board – or, if Group 1 beneficiaries are concerned, the Supervisory Board 
can decide – whether and to what extent options shall remain in place; it can also be determined 
that options that are not yet exercisable at the termination date will remain in place. If a delisting 
event occurs, the beneficiary has the right, within the scope of legal provisions, to demand that the 
Company or its legal successor pay out the option value for each option.

In accordance with the option conditions, each pre-emption right from share options entitles the 
holder to subscribe to one no-par-value share in the Company. The option conditions also govern 
the term, the relevant exercise price (subscription price), vesting periods and lock-up periods.

The fair value of the options is calculated based on a binomial model. At the measurement date, the 
weighted average fair value of the options granted in the reporting year came to EUR 5.29 (previous 
year: EUR 4.09).
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The following calculation parameters were used for the new options issued in 2020:

2020 2019

Weighted average exercise price 1 EUR 12.59 EUR 8.98

Weighted expected volatility 45.0% 39.9%

Term 10 Years 10 Years

Weighted risk-free interest rate −0.52% 0.15%

 
1  Corresponds to the weighted average of the middle closing prices for the Company’s shares in Xetra trading on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange 

on the last 10 trading days before the share options were issued

Volatility refers to fluctuation in the share price compared to the average price for the period. Ex-
pected volatility was calculated based on the past share price performance in each case (historical 
volatility).

An expected average staff turnover rate of 4% was taken into account.

The risk-free interest rate was calculated based on the interest on risk-free investments with a 
corresponding term.

When calculating the fair value of the options, it was assumed that no dividend would be distributed.

The development of the number of outstanding options is shown in the tables below:

Number of options
Weighted average  

exercise price in EUR

2020 2019 2020 2019

Options granted 724,229 710,229 9.05 8.98

Thereof new in the reporting year 14,000 710,229 12.59 8.98

Options exercised n/a n/a n/a n/a

Options forfeited 16,000 5,000 9.05 8.78

Options expired 14,000 n/a n/a n/a

Outstanding options as at 31.12. 694,229 705,229 8.97 8.98

Thereof exercisable options n/a n/a n/a n/a

The average remaining contractual term of the options outstanding as at the balance sheet date is 9 
years as at 31 December 2020 (31 December 2019: 10 years). The range of exercise prices of the op-
tions outstanding as at 31  December 2020 and 31  December 2019 is between EUR  8.78 and 
EUR 11.04.

Expenses recognised in the reporting year in connection with share-based payments amount to 
EUR 940 thousand (2019: EUR 638 thousand). Of this amount, EUR 285 thousand relates to expenses 
that were recognised directly in the expenses of the reporting period due to the retirement of two 
members of the Executive Board from the time the retirement became known. Thus, the expense to 
be recognised for the waiting period remaining after the balance sheet date until the first possible 
exercise of the options was brought forward to 31 December 2020.
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B.  Cash-settled share appreciation rights issued  
up to 31 December 2018

In the fiscal year ended 31 December 2018, the Group had the following cash-settled share-based 
payment arrangement:

On 22 February 2018, the Group established a share appreciation right (SAR) programme that 
entitles a key executive to a cash payment in the event that a sale of stake of more than 50% in 
NFON or an IPO (“exit”) occurs before 30 September 2019. If the beneficiary remains employed until 
the exit, he receives a cash settlement. If the beneficiary ends the employment relationship prior to 
the exit or no exit occurs by 30 September 2019, the claim lapses. The cash payment is based on 
the sales proceeds/IPO proceeds calculated for 100% of the shares of NFON. The cash payment is 
limited to the lower of EUR 200,000 and 0.5% of the amount which actually flows to the selling 
shareholders on the occasion of the exit.

An IPO took place on 10 May 2018, and a share-based cash payment of EUR 113 thousand (0.5% 
of the amount which actually flowed to the selling shareholders on the occasion of the IPO) was 
recognised for the beneficiary under other provisions as at 31 December 2019. Compared to the 
previous year, an adjustment of EUR 16 thousand was made in the reporting year as a result of a 
specification. EUR 96 thousand will be paid out in April 2021.

The fair value was measured using a discounted cash flow model (to determine the fair value of the 
underlying shares). Based on the expected fair value of the underlying shares at the end of the first 
quarter of 2018, the amount was EUR 200 thousand as at 22 February 2018. As at the end of the 
reporting period, an amount to be recognised as a provision was EUR 97 thousand (0.5% of the 
amount which actually flowed to the selling shareholders on the occasion of the IPO including the 
exercised greenshoe).
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21. Financial instruments
A. Accounting classifications and fair values

Fair value
The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of the financial assets and financial 
liabilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. It does not include fair value information 
for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a 
reasonable approximation of fair value.

31.12.2020 Amortised cost Fair value

in EUR thousand
Carrying 

amount
Total carry-
ing amount Stufe 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets not mea-
sured at fair value

Trade receivables 1 9,973 9,973 0 0 0 0

Other financial assets 1 390 390 0 0 0 0

Cash and cash equivalents 1 23,034 23,034 0 0 0 0

Total financial assets not  
measured at fair value 33,398 33,398 0 0 0 0

Financial liabilities not mea-
sured at fair value

Acquisition loan 8,967 8,967

Acquisition loan 0 0

Working capital loan 1 0 0 0 0 0 0

Trade payables 1 4,931 4,931 0 0 0 0

Total financial liabilities not 
measured at fair value 13,897 13,897 0 0 0 0

 
1 No fair value disclosed as this is approximately the carrying amount.
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31.12.2019 Amortised cost Fair value

in EUR thousand
Carrying 

amount
Total carry-
ing amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets not mea-
sured at fair value

Trade receivables 1 7,558 7,558 0 0 0 0

Other financial assets 1 390 390 0 0 0 0

Cash and cash equivalents 1 36,419 36,419 0 0 0 0

Total financial assets not mea-
sured at fair value 44,367 44,367 0 0 0 0

Financial liabilities not mea-
sured at fair value

Acquisition loan 8,967 8,967

Warrant bond 5,000 5,000

Working capital loan 1 26 26 0 0 0 0

Trade payables 1 5,174 5,174 0 0 0 0

Total financial liabilities not 
measured at fair value 19,167 19,167 0 0 0 0

1 No fair value disclosed as this is approximately the carrying amount.

The Group did not recognise any significant net gains or net losses from financial assets or liabilities 
in its statement of comprehensive income. In the reporting year, calculated interest expense of 
EUR 0 thousand (2019: EUR 164 thousand) in connection with financial liabilities not measured at 
fair value through profit or loss was recognised in the finance result in line with the effective inter-
est method.

Trade receivables

The carrying amount of trade receivables generally approximates to fair value due to their short 
maturities. All the trade and other receivables outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are 
considered as current receivables having short-term maturities.

Trade payables

The carrying amount of trade payables generally approximates to fair value due to their short ma-
turities. All the trade and other payables outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are pay-
able within 30 days from the reporting date as per the terms of payment applicable to the company.
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Cash and cash equivalents

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents approximates its carrying amount where the cash is 
repayable on demand or short term in nature.

Reclassification of financial assets

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group changes 
its business model to the management financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets 
are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the business 
model. During the periods presented, the Group has not reclassified any financial assets.

Defaults

The Group did not have any defaults of principal or interest, or other breaches with respect to its 
loans and borrowings during the fiscal years 2020 and 2019.

B. Financial risk management

The Group has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

1. Credit risks
2. Liquidity risk
3. Market risks (interest risks and currency risks

Risk management framework

The Group’s Management Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of 
the Group’s risk management framework.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and to analyse the risks faced by 
the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. 
Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market condi-
tions and Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and pro-
cedures, aims to maintain a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employ-
ees understand their roles and obligations.
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General financial market risks

The Group is exposed to various financial market risks as part of its business activity.

If these financial risks occur, they may lead to negative impacts on the net assets, financial position 
and results of operations of the Group. The Group’s Management Board has overall responsibility for 
the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. The Group’s risk man-
agement policies are established to identify and to analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appro-
priate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies 
and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and Group’s activities. The 
Group has developed guidelines for risk management processes and for the use of financial instru-
ments including a clear separation of tasks with respect to financial activities, invoicing, financial re-
porting and associated controlling.

The Group actively monitors these risks using a risk management system.

1. Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial in-
strument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables 
from customers. The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

The Group considers the management of the commercial credit risk to be critical in order to achieve 
its goals for sustainable growth of the business and the customer base in harmony with its risk 
management guidelines. Suitable processes have been established for management and monitor-
ing of the credit risk. These include ongoing monitoring of the expected risks and the level of default. 
Particular attention is paid to customers who could have a significant effect on the consolidated 
financial statements and for whom, depending on the business area and the type of business rela-
tionship, appropriate credit management instruments are used to limit the credit risk.

Impairment losses on financial assets and contract assets recognised in profit or loss were as follows:

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Impairment losses on trade and other receivables

  Impairment loss on trade and other receivables  
(including contract assets) 170 28

  Impairment loss on cash and cash equivalents 1 0 0

Impairment loss on cash and cash equivalents 170 28

1 Refer below to “Cash and Cash equivalents”.

Trade and other receivables
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
customer. However, management also considers the factors that may influence the credit risk of its 
customer base, including the default risk associated with the country in which customers operate.
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As at 31 December, the maximum exposure to the credit risk for trade receivables by geographic 
regions was as follows:

in EUR thousand

Fiscal year ended 31.12.

2020 2019

Countries

 Germany 8,078 5,563

 United Kingdom 1,149 1,233

 Austria and rest of Europe 747 762

Total maximum credit risk exposure 9,973 7,558

The Group obtains a credit rating for new customers from a credit rating agency. If a customer has 
a lower rating, then at the initial stage the Group obtains a security deposit from such customer. 
The Group does not track the customer rating further, as the receivables are collected through direct 
debits. Only in the cases where the customers have negative bank balance or where the customer’s 
bank details are insufficient or incorrect, there is a possibility of non-receipt of cash from trade re-
ceivables. A weekly tracking of non-payments is done by the Group. In case of non-payment, after 
eight weeks of the invoice date the Group discontinues the provision of its services to such cus-
tomers.

There are no material contractual amounts outstanding in connection with receivables that were 
written off during the reporting period and are still subject to enforcement activity.

Expected credit loss assessment for customers as at 31 December 2020 and 2019
The Group applies the simplified approach for calculating the expected credit loss (ECL) allowance 
prescribed by IFRS 9. This approach requires to recognise the lifetime expected loss provision for all 
trade receivables. The Group uses an impairment matrix to compute the credit allowances for trade 
receivables, which comprise a large number of small balances. Under this approach, the Group uses 
historical loss experience on its trade receivables, and adjusts historical loss rates to reflect:

i. information about current conditions; and
ii. reasonable and supportable forecasts of future economic conditions

None of the trade receivables and contract assets are purchased or originated credit impaired.

Loss rates are calculated using a ‘roll rate’ method based on the probability of a receivable progress-
ing through successive stages of delinquency to write-off. Roll rates are calculated for various 
geographical segments based on the ageing buckets of receivables.
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NFON deems receivables more than 90 days past due to be credit impaired. Management consid-
ers the 90-day term to be appropriate. A minimum of 90 days is required to determine the cus-
tomers’ inability to pay, for example due to insolvency. Amounts are written off when the customer 
is declared as insolvent. If receivables from customers are more 90 days past due, an impairment 
loss is calculated based on the impairment matrix described above.

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade re-
ceivables and contract assets from individual customers as at 31 December 2020:

Gross  
carrying 
amount  
in TEUR Loss rate in %

Impairment  
in TEUR

Credit  
impaired

Germany

 Not past due 8,009 0.60 56 No

 1 – 90 days past due 27 5.64 7 No

 Greater than 90 days past due 137 13.55 28 Yes

Total trade receivables in Germany 8,173 90

United Kingdom

 Not past due 795 0.10 3 No

 1 – 90 days past due 501 0.23 1 No

 Greater than 90 days past due 17 4.71 1 Yes

Total trade receivables in United Kingdom 1,313 5

Austria and other countries

 Not past due 684 11.43 87 No

 1 – 90 days past due 185 41.97 39 No

 Greater than 90 days past due 56 100.00 38 Yes

Total trade receivables in Austria and  
other countries 924 164

Grand total for receivables 10,411 259

Thereof: Contract assets 165 0.10 0 No
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The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade re-
ceivables and contract assets from individual customers as at 31 December 2019:

Gross  
carrying 
amount  
in TEUR Loss rate in %

Impairment  
in TEUR

Credit  
impaired

Germany

 Not past due 5,378 2.04 58 No

 1 – 90 days past due 6 20.85 3 No

 Greater than 90 days past due 237 49.13 31 Yes

Total trade receivables in Germany 5,621 92

United Kingdom

 Not past due 859 0.37 3 No

 1 – 90 days past due 512 0.89 5 No

 Greater than 90 days past due 61 18.22 11 Yes

Total trade receivables in United Kingdom 1,432 19

Austria and other countries

 Not past due 646 0.87 4 No

 1 – 90 days past due 83 3.12 2 No

 Greater than 90 days past due 95 5.84 4 Yes

Total trade receivables in Austria and  
other countries 824 10

Grand total for receivables 7,876 121

Contract assets 220 0.37 0 No

The movement in impairment in respect of trade receivables during fiscal year 2020 was as follows

Movement during

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Impairment loss

 Opening balance as at 01.01. 121 78

 Impairment loss recognised 138 42

 Amounts written off 0 120

 Closing balance as at 31.12. 259 121
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Concentrations of credit risk
Concentrations of risks are determined by the management based on amounts outstanding from 
individual customers as at period end. Due to the pan-European activities and diversified customer 
structure of the Group, there is no significant concentration of credit risk except with one cus-
tomer – Telefónica Germany GmbH & Co. OHG. The receivable balance due from this customer as 
at 31 December 2020 is EUR 919 thousand (31 December 2019: EUR 720 thousand).

Cash and cash equivalents
As at 31 December 2020, the Group held cash and cash equivalents of EUR 23,034 thousand 
(31 December 2019: EUR 36,419 thousand). The cash and cash equivalents are held with bank and 
financial institution counterparties, which are rated A-1 to A-2, based on S&P Global’s ratings.

Impairment on cash and cash equivalents has been measured on a 12-month expected loss basis 
and reflects the short-term maturities of the exposures. NFON considers that its cash and cash 
equivalents have low credit risk based on the external credit ratings of the counterparties.

2. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated 
with its financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group’s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to 
meet its liabilities when they are due, under both, normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation.

The Group aims to maintain the level of cash and cash equivalents at an amount of excess of ex-
pected cash outflows on financial liabilities (other than trade payables). The Group also monitors 
the level of expected cash inflows on trade receivables together with expected cash outflows on 
trade and other payables. To avoid concentration of liquidity risks with cash inflows from normal 
sales, the Group additionally maintains an acquisition credit facility of EUR 10,000 thousand. The 
interest rate of 4% at the time of signing the agreement is variable and changes with changes in 
the monthly average of the 3-month EURIBOR. The commitment fee is 1%.
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The following table presents the contractual undiscounted interest and payments for the Group’s 
financial liabilities. The maturities are based on the contractually determined interest rates of the 
financial instruments. As all the financial liabilities listed below have repayment periods of one year 
or less (except for trade payables which are due after 30 days from the invoice date as per the pay-
ment terms applicable to the Company), contractual maturities are considered on yearly basis:

31.12.2020 Contractual maturities of financial liabilities

in EUR thousand
Carrying 

amount
Contractual 

cash flows 1 year or less 1−5 years
5 years and 

above

Financial liabilities

 Acquisition loan 8,967 9,326 9,326 0 0

  Trade payables 4,931 4,931 4,931 0 0

 Lease liabilities 6,296 6,296 1,787 3,869 650

 Other financial liabilities 4 4 4 0 0

Total financial liabilities 20,198 20,557 16,039 3,869 650

31.12.2019 Contractual maturities of financial liabilities

in EUR thousand
Carrying 

amount
Contractual 

cash flows 1 year or less 1−5 years
5 years and 

above

Financial liabilities

  Working capital loan 26 35 35 0 0

Acquisition loan 8,967 9,326 9,326 0 0

Warrant bond 5,000 5,075 5,075 0 0

  Trade payables 5,174 5,174 5,174 0 0

Lease liabilities 4,778 5,057 1,593 3,465 0

Other financial liabilities 115 115 115 0 0

Total financial liabilities 24,060 24,782 21,318 3,465 0
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3. Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as changes in exchange rates and interest 
rates will affect the value of financial instruments or the earnings of the Group. The objective of 
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable par-
ameters, while optimising the return.

Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk to the extent that there is a mismatch between the currencies 
in which revenue, purchases and borrowings are denominated and the respective functional cur-
rencies of Group companies. The functional currencies of Group companies are primarily Euro and 
the British pound. The currencies in which these transactions are primarily denominated are Euro.

Exposure to currency risk
The summary quantitative data about Group’s exposure to currency risk as reported to the man-
agement of the Group is as follows:

Fiscal year ended 31.12.

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Receivables/liabilities 3,666 3,304

Bank balances 0 0

Net exposure 3,666 3,304

The following rates have been applied:

Spot rates Average rates

As at 31.12.2020 As at 31.12.2019 2020 2019

GBP 1.11231 1.17536 1.12529 1.13925

Sensitivity analysis
A 10% weakening/strengthening of the British pound would have increased/decreased equity and 
profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This calculation assumes that the change occurred at 
the reporting date and had been applied to risk exposures existing at that date.
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This analysis assumes that all other variables other than currency exchange rate remain constant.

in EUR thousand

Profit or loss Equity net of tax

Strengthening  
(10% decrease)

Weakening  
(10% increase)

Strengthening  
(10% decrease)

Weakening  
(10% increase)

Sensitivity analysis 
for the net exposure

31 December 2020 −367 367 371 −371

31 December 2019 −330 330 320 −320

The net currency exposure results from Euro payables of NFON UK where the functional currency 
is GBP.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument could fluctuate as a result of 
changes in market interest rates.

The Group’s interest rate exposure relates to current loans, which are subject to the fixed and float-
ing interest rate. The Group’s objective is to minimise the cost of net borrowings and to minimise 
the impact of interest rate movements on the Group’s interest expense and net earnings.

Exposure to interest rate risk
The interest rate exposure of the Group’s variable interest-bearing financial instruments as reported 
to the management of the Group is as follows:

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Financial liabilities

 Working capital loan 0 26

Acquisition loan 8,967 8,967

Total financial liabilities 8,967 8,993

Fair value sensitivity analysis for interest-bearing financial liabilities
With regard to the acquisition loan, a 1% change in the interest rate would have increased equity 
and the profit or loss in the reporting year by EUR 90 thousand (increase) or reduced them by 
EUR 90 thousand (decrease). The loan bears interest at an annual rate of 4% and changes if the 
monthly average of the 3-month EURIBOR changes. A change in the interest rate on the working 
capital loan would not have any significant effect on equity or the profit or loss in the reporting year.

The analysis assumes all the other variables except the interest rate remain constant (this analysis 
includes all the significant interest-bearing debts outstanding at the ends of the reporting periods).

All other financial liabilities have a fixed interest rate therefore no analysis is necessary.
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22.  Related party transactions
Parties are considered to be related if the parties are under common control or if one party has the 
ability to control the other party or can exercise significant influence or joint control over the other 
party through its financial and operating policy. In considering each possible related party relation-
ship, attention is paid to the substance of the relationship and not just the legal form. In addition, a 
related party is any member of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board of NFON AG, 
including any of their immediate family members and any entity owned or controlled by such per-
sons.

The table below shows transactions with related parties with the exception of the remuneration of 
members of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board. Unless stated otherwise, related 
parties are companies with significant influence over NFON AG.

Transaction values

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Sales of goods and services and other income  1 22 24

Transaction values

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Purchases of goods and services and other expenses  2 274 250

Balance outstanding as at 31.12.

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Receivables 0 0

Balance outstanding as at 31.12.

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Liabilities 3 57 7

 
1  EUR 16 thousand (2019: EUR 19 thousand) of which relates to transactions with members of the Management Board and companies affiliated 

with them and EUR 6 thousand (2019: EUR 5 thousand) of which to transactions with members of the Supervisory Board and companies 
affiliated with them.

2  EUR 183 thousand (2019: EUR 176 thousand) of which relates to transactions with members of the Management Board and companies 
affiliated with them and EUR 91 thousand (2019: EUR 74 thousand) of which to transactions with members of the Supervisory Board and 
companies affiliated with them.

3  EUR 48 thousand (2019: EUR 0 thousand) of which relates to liabilities to members of the Management Board and companies affiliated with 
them and EUR 9 thousand (2019: EUR 7 thousand) of which to liabilities to members of the Supervisory Board and companies affiliated with 
them.
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All transactions with these related parties are priced on an arm’s length basis and must be settled 
in cash within two months of the end of the reporting period. None of the balances are secured. No 
material expense has been recognised in the current year or the previous year for bad or doubtful 
debts in respect of amounts owed by related parties.

Sales of goods and services and other income include cloud-based services provided to related 
parties on the same terms and conditions as for any other customer of the Group. Purchases of 
goods and services and other expenses mainly include the services provided by companies that are 
controlled by related parties.

Various members of the Management Board and Supervisory Board or related parties hold positions 
in other companies which result in them controlling these companies or exercising a material influ-
ence over these companies.

A number of these companies transacted with the Group during the fiscal year. The terms and con-
ditions of these transactions were no more favourable than those available, or which might reason-
ably be expected to be available, in similar transactions with non-key management personnel re-
lated companies on an arm’s length basis.

From time to time, members of the Management Board or Supervisory Board, or their related par-
ties, may buy goods and services from the Group or sell goods and services to the Group. These 
purchases are on the same terms and conditions as those entered into by other suppliers.
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A. Executive bodies and remuneration

1. The Management Board

The Management Board is made up of:

Residence Function and profession
External  
mandates

Dr Klaus von Rottkay (since 01 De-
cember 2020) Munich CEO, doctor of physics n. a.

Jan-Peter Koopmann Nackenheim
CTO, degree in computer science  
and business administration n. a.

Hans Szymanski (until 30 Novem-
ber 2020) Berlin

CEO & CFO, degree in business  
administration n. a.

César Flores Rodríguez (until 
30 November 2020) Pullach im Isartal

CSO, degree in business  
administration n. a.

Pursuant to Section 314 (1) no. 6 a sentences 1 to 3 HGB, the Management Board received remu-
neration of EUR 1,062 thousand in the reporting year (2019: EUR 1,858 thousand). In the previous 
year, this included the grant values for share-based payments of EUR 805 thousand (reporting year: 
EUR 0 thousand). A total of 199,229 share options were granted in the previous year. No share op-
tions were granted in the reporting year. The consolidated financial statements include EUR 260 
thousand in severance for Management Board members.

On the basis of the resolution of the Annual General Meeting of 09 April 2018, no information is 
provided in accordance with Section 314 (1) No. 6 a) Sentences 5 to 8 HGB.

In accordance with IFRS regulations, the Management Board remuneration is as follows:

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Management Board remuneration

Short-term remuneration 1,1221 1,053

Total share-based remuneration (long-term incentive) 200 0

Total Management Board remuneration 4672 193

Summe Vergütung der Mitglieder der Geschäftsführung 1,789 1,246

1  Contains EUR 60 thousand in remuneration for members of the Management Board who departed in the reporting year for the period after 
the end of their services.

2  Contains EUR 16 thousand in income from the adjustment of a cash-settled share appreciation right issued in previous years (see Note 20.B). 
Expenses of EUR 285 thousand relate to the termination of the services of two Management Board members in the reporting year and the 
associated immediate recognition as expenses of the fair values of granted share options not yet recognised in equity as at the termination 
date. Of the total expense, EUR 35 thousand relates to the period after the termination of the services of two Management Board members.

The short-term remuneration for the members of the Management Board includes salaries, bonuses 
and severance payments.
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2. Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board of NFON AG had the following members as at 31 December 2020:

31.12.2019 Position Profession External Mandates

Supervisory Board

Rainer Christian Koppitz Chairman Profession:
CEO of Katek SE, Munich n. a.

Dr Rupert Doehner Deputy  
Chairman

Profession:
Lawyer, Managing Director of RECON 
 Rechtsanwaltsgesellschaft mbH, Munich n. a.

Günter Müller Profession:
Executive Chairman of ASC Technologies 
AG, Hösbach n. a.

Florian Schuhbauer Profession:
Managing Director of Active Ownership 
Capital S.a.r.l. and Active Ownership 
 Corporation S.a.r.l., Grevenmacher, 
 Luxembourg;

Member of the Super-
visory Board of PNE AG, 
Cuxhaven

The following remuneration was recognised for the members of the Supervisory Board:

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Supervisory Board remuneration

Basic remuneration 115 119

Attendance fee 19 24

Total Supervisory Board remuneration 134 143

Various members of the Management Board and Supervisory Board or related parties hold positions 
in other companies which result in them controlling these companies or exercising a material influ-
ence over these companies.

A number of these companies transacted with the Group during the fiscal year. The terms and con-
ditions of these transactions were no more favourable than those available, or which might reason-
ably be expected to be available, in similar transactions with non-key management personnel re-
lated companies on an arm’s length basis.

From time to time, members of the Management Board or Supervisory Board, or their related par-
ties, may buy goods and services from the Group or sell goods and services to the Group. These 
purchases are made under the same conditions as those with other suppliers and are reported 
within other transactions with related parties in accordance with the above or the customers.
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23. Segment information
Under IFRS 8, operating segments must be defined on the basis of the internal reporting on Group 
business units that is regularly reviewed by the company’s chief operating decision maker, the 
Chairman of the Management Board (CEO) in order to make decisions on the allocation of resources 
to these segments and to assess their performance. The basis for the decision which information 
is reported is the internal organisational and management structure and the structure of internal 
reporting. The CEO obtains and reviews financial information as part of routine management re-
porting.

Segment results that are reported include items directly attributable to a segment and those that 
can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Segment reporting does not contain inter-segment sales. 
It does contain inter-segment transfers or charges. Management assesses performance primarily 
on the basis of revenue and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 
as presented in management reporting. The Group’s segment structure reflects how management 
currently makes financial decisions and allocates resources.

The Group has seven segments, which are shown below separately as reportable segments.

The Group has seven segments, which are shown separately below as reportable segments. The 
seven segments are NFON AG, Deutsche Telefon Standard GmbH, nfon GmbH, NFON UK Ltd, 
NFON Iberia SL, NFON Italia S.R.L. and NFON France.

The source of the revenue of all segments is described in Note 2 – Significant accounting policies 
and Note 18 – Revenue.

A. Revenue and EBITDA by reportable segment

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

 NFON AG 39,526 35,554

 Deutsche Telefon Standard GmbH 13,886 8,740

 nfon GmbH 6,350 5,815

 NFON UK Ltd. 7,032 6,654

 NFON Iberia SL 375 334

 NFON ITALIA S.R.L. 236 16

 NFON France SAS 168 10

Total revenue of the reportable segments 67,574 57,123

Reconciliation 27 −5

Total Group revenue 67,602 57,117

Revenue by reportable segment as shown in the table above corresponds to revenue with external 
customers and is based on IFRS. Internal invoices are presented in the segments as increases and 
reductions of costs and are not included in revenue. The business cost allocations are included in 
EBIDA, while tax transfer pricing requirements are presented outside EBITDA.
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The reconciliation effects of EUR 27 thousand (2019: EUR −5 thousand) relate to postings in the 
consolidated financial statements recognised after the reporting date of management reporting 
and exchange rate differences in the translation of NFON UK, which was performed at the respect-
ive monthly average rate in management reporting and at the annual average rate in the consoli-
dated financial statements.

The reconciliation effects in revenue in the amount of EUR −5 thousand from IFRS adjustments, 
which were included in the 2019 consolidated financial statements due to the presentation at that 
time, were allocated to the respective companies in line with their causes.

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

EBITDA

 NFON AG 9,328 1,779

 Deutsche Telefon Standard GmbH 3,137 1,024

 nfon GmbH −1,105 −842

 NFON UK Ltd. −2,307 −3,354

 NFON Iberia SL −1,304 −1,079

 NFON ITALIA S.R.L. −2,205 −1,811

 NFON France SAS −2,108 −840

Total EBITDA of the reportable segments 3,437 −5,124

 Other segments 137

 Reconciliation −1,252 −1,860

Group EBITDA 2,322 −6,984

Addback:

 Depreciation and amortisation −4,150 −3,005

 Net interest income/expenses −496 −816

 Income tax expense 87 −120

Consolidated net profit/loss −2,237 −10,924

Internal reporting is based on IFRS. Non-recurring effects in the period that are considered extra-
ordinary are adjusted for in reported EBITDA.

The reconciliation effects as of 31 December 2020 in the amount of EUR 1,252 thousand are mainly 
due to non-recurring effects from the costs for retention bonuses and stock options in the amount 
of EUR 1,182 thousand as well as expenses for M&A activities in the amount of EUR 40 thousand 
and the reversal of provisions in the amount of EUR −69 thousand, which were adjusted in the 
 internal reporting. In addition, there were timing differences between the management reporting 
and the finacnial statement figures in connection with Deutsche Telefon Standard GmbH in the 
amount of EUR 132 thousand and consolidation effects in the amount of EUR −37 thousand.

The reconciliation effects of EUR 1,860 thousand as at 31 December 2019 mainly relate to non- 
recurring effects adjusted for in internal reporting from costs of retention bonuses and stock options 
of EUR 1,138 thousand, plus expenses for capital increases and M&A activities of EUR 722 thousand.
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B. Revenue by product/service

For a description of the Group’s products and services refer to Note 19 – Leases. Each of the re-
portable segments presented above offers recurring and non-recurring products and services.

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Product/service

 Recurring revenue 59,387 48,055

 Non-recurring revenue 8,215 9,063

Consolidated revenue 67,602 57,117

C. Information on geographical areas

The tables below show revenue and non-current assets by country. The geographical allocation of 
revenue and assets is based on the domicile of the legal entities in the countries.

1. Revenue with external customers

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Non-current assets

 Germany 52,617 43,515

 Austria 6,350 5,815

 United Kingdom 7,032 6,648

 Spain 375 334

 Italy 236 16

 France 168 10

 Other countries 795 779

Reconciliation 27 0

Total revenue 67,602 57,117
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2. Non-current assets

The table below show non-current assets other than financial instruments and deferred taxes.

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Non-current assets

 Germany 35,195 29,269

 United Kingdom 631 457

 Austria 339 413

 Italy 105 126

 Spain 42 41

 France 35 26

Total non-current assets 36,347 30,332

D. Major customers

The Group does not have any significant customer concentration. No single external customer 
accounted for 10.0% or more of the Group’s total revenue.



141

NFON ANNUAL REPORT 2020
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24.  Consolidated statement  
of cash flows

The statement of cash flows was prepared in line with the regulations of IAS 7. Cash and cash 
equivalents in the consolidated statement of cash flows corresponds to the “Cash” statement of 
financial position item and contains exclusively cash held at banks payable at short notice. Cash 
flows from investing and financing activities are calculated directly, the cash flow from operating 
activities is derived indirectly on the basis of profit after taxes. In the context of the indirect calcu-
lation, the changes of made in statement of financial position items are adjusted by foreign currency 
translation effects. For this reason, they cannot be reconciled with the corresponding changes on 
the basis of the published consolidated statement of financial position.

25. Contingencies and commitments
Based on the application of IFRS 16 in the reporting year and the associated capitalisation of rights 
of use for leases with a term of more than 12 months together with their recognition as financial li-
abilities, leases with a useful life of less than 12 months are presented below. The corresponding 
minimum lease payments as at 31 December 2020 amounted to EUR 117 thousand (31 December 
2019: EUR 115 thousand).

In April 2017, the Company entered into a parent company guarantee agreement where NFON AG 
as the guarantor guarantees to one of its partners, British Telecommunications plc, all payments that 
become payable by its subsidiary NFON UK. The probability of utilisation is considered very low.

The Group may be subject to litigation, claims and governmental and regulatory proceedings arising 
in the ordinary course of business. In such cases, the Group recognises a provision for these matters 
when it is probable that a loss has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably esti-
mated. While uncertainties are inherent in the final outcome of these matters, the Group believes, 
after consultation with counsel, that the disposition of these proceedings will not have a material 
adverse effect on the Group’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
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26. Other disclosures
A. Auditors’ fee

KPMG AG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Munich, a member of Wirtschaftsprüferkammer (Ger-
man Chamber of Auditors) in Berlin, has been the statutory auditor of the Company and the Group 
since 2018. The auditor responsible for the Company is Matthias Koeplin.

In fiscal years 2020 and 2019, the following fees were recognised for the statutory auditor:

in EUR thousand 2020 2019

Audit of the financial statements 288 407

Other assurance services 0 0

Other services 27 156

Fees for the audit of the financial statements mainly related to the audit of the consolidated finan-
cial statements and the annual financial statements of NFON AG.

Other services relate to quality assurance support services in connection with the introduction of 
new accounting principles in accordance with IFRS and for the further development of guidelines, 
systems and processes against the background of the requirements placed on a listed company.
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B. List of shareholdings

nfon GmbH, St Pölten/Austria 
Share: 100,00% 
Annual net profit in 2020: 73 TEUR 
Equity:  1.285 TEUR

NFON UK Ltd., Maidenhead/UK 
Share: 100,00% 
Annual net profit in 2020: 504 TEUR 
Equity:  5.124 TEUR

NFON Iberia SL, Madrid/Spain 
Share: 100,00% 
Annual net profit in 2020: −122 TEUR 
Equity: −966 TEUR

NFON Italia S.R.L., Mailand/Italy 
Share: 100,00% 
Annual net profit in 2020: −18 TEUR 
Equity: 582 TEUR

NFON France SAS, Paris/France 
Share: 100,00% 
Annual net profit in 2020: −22 TEUR 
Equity: 70 TEUR

Deutsche Telefon Standard GmbH, Mainz/Germany 
Share: 100,00% 
Annual net profit in 2020: 2.240 TEUR 
Equity: 2.650 TEUR

NFON developments Lda., Lisbon/Portugal 
Share: 100,00% 
Annual net profit in 2020: 81 TEUR 
Equity: 131 TEUR

The stated figures for annual net profit and equity are based on the figures from the IFRS 
reporting packages (HB II) prepared by the subsidiaries for the purposes of preparing these 
consolidated financial statements.



144

NFON ANNUAL REPORT 2020
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27.  Events after the end of the reporting 
period

After the balance sheet date, a capital increase (pre-emption rights disapplied) was carried out in which 
the share capital of NFON AG was increased by EUR 1.506 thousand through the issue of 1,505,555 
new shares. The placement price was EUR 17.50, as a result of which the Group received liquid funds 
totalling EUR 26,347 thousand. The capital reserve increased in this context by EUR 24,842 thousand. 
The capital increase was entered in the commercial register on 29 März 2021.

28.  Declaration of compliance  
with the German Corporate  
Governance Code

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board have submitted the declaration of compliance 
with the German Corporate Governance Code required to be submitted in accordance with Section 
161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and have published it on the Company’s website 
(https://corporate.nfon.com/de/ueber-nfon/corporate-governance/entsprechenserklaerung/).

13 April 2021

Dr Klaus von Rottkay Jan-Peter Koopmann 
CEO  CTO
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To NFON AG, Munich

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
and of the Combined Group Management Report

Opinions

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of NFON AG and its subsidiaries (the Group), 
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement 
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the fiscal year from 1 January to 
31 December 2020, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. In addition, we have audited the combined management report of 
NFON AG for the fiscal year from 1 January to 31 December 2020. In accordance with German legal 
requirements we have not audited the content of those components of the group management 
report specified in the “Other Information” section of our auditor’s report.

The Group management report includes references not provided for in the law that have been 
marked as unaudited. In accordance with the German legal regulations, we have not audited the 
content of these cross-references or the information to which these cross-references relate.

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in the audit,

• the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply, in all material respects, with 
the IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and the additional requirements of German commercial law 
pursuant to section 315e(1) of the Handelsgesetzbuch (HGB – German Commercial Code) 
and, in compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 
and financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and of its financial performance 
for the fiscal year from 1 January to 31 December 2020, and

• the accompanying combined group management report as a whole provides an appropriate 
view of the Group’s position. In all material respects, this combined group management 
report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal 
requirements and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development. 
Our opinion on the management report does not cover the content of the parts of the Group 
management report which are listed in the “Other Information” section. The management 
report includes cross-references not foreseen by law that are marked as unaudited. Our 
opinion does not cover these cross-references or the information to which these cross-refer-
ences relate.

Pursuant to section 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB, we declare that our audit has not led to any reserva-
tions relating to the legal compliance of the consolidated financial statements and of the combined 
group management report.
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Basis for the Opinions

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and of the combined group man-
agement report in accordance with section 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation No. 537 / 2014 
(referred to subsequently as “EU Audit Regulation”) and in compliance with German Generally 
Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschafts-
prüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Our responsibilities under those require-
ments and principles are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements and of the Combined Group Management Report” section of 
our auditor’s report. We are independent of the group entities in accordance with the requirements 
of European law and German commercial and professional law, and we have fulfilled our other 
German professional responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. In addition, in accor-
dance with Article 10 (2)(f) of the EU Audit Regulation, we declare that we have not provided 
non-audit services prohibited under Article 5 (1) of the EU Audit Regulation. We believe that the 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions on the 
consolidated financial statements and on the combined group management report.

Key Audit Matters in the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance 
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year from 1 January to 31 Decem-
ber 2020. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.

Recoverability of goodwill
Please refer to sections 2 and 6 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements for more in-
formation on the accounting policies applied.

Financial statement risk
Goodwill amounts to EUR 12.5 million as at 31 December 2020 and, at 17%, accounts for a signifi-
cant share of total assets.

The recoverability of goodwill is reviewed each year at business segment level without requiring a 
specific reason. If impairment triggers arise during a year, goodwill is tested for impairment ad hoc. 
Goodwill is tested for impairment by comparing the respective segment’s carrying amount against 
its recoverable amount. If the carrying amount is higher than the recoverable amount, an impair-
ment loss must be recognised. The recoverable amount is the higher of the segment’s fair value 
less costs to sell and its value in use. Impairment testing is performed as at 31 December 2020.

The goodwill impairment test is complex and based on a number of discretionary assumptions. 
These include the forecast business and earnings development of the segments, the assumed 
long-term growth rates and the discount rate used.

There is a risk for the consolidated financial statements that impairment that existed at the end of 
the reporting period was not recognised. In addition, there is the risk that the associated disclosures 
are not appropriate.
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Our audit approach
With the support of our valuation specialists we assessed, among other things, the appropriateness 
of the significant assumptions and the calculation method of the Company. To do so, we discussed 
the forecast business and earnings development and the assumed long-term growth rates with 
those in charge of planning. We also consulted other internal forecasts available, e.g. for tax pur-
poses, and the budget prepared by management and approved by the Supervisory Board. Further-
more, we have assessed the consistency of assumptions with external market assessments.

Moreover, we have assured ourselves of the previous forecast quality of the Company by compar-
ing planning from previous fiscal years against the actual results and analysing deviations. We have 
compared the assumptions and data on which the discount rate is based, in particular the risk-free 
interest rate, the market risk premium and the beta factor, against our own assumptions and pub-
licly available data.

To ensure that the measurement method was mathematically accurate, we verified the Company’s 
measurement based on our own calculations and analysed deviations.

In order to take existing forecast uncertainty into account, we investigated the effects of potential 
changes in the discount rate, in earnings performance and the long-term growth rate on the value 
in use by calculating alternative scenarios and comparing the values stated by the Company (sen-
sitivity analysis).

Finally, we assessed whether the disclosures in the notes on goodwill impairment are appropriate.

Our observations
The underlying method of calculation for testing goodwill impairment is appropriate and consistent 
with the applicable accounting policies. The assumptions and data used by the Company are ap-
propriate. The related disclosures in the notes are appropriate.

Revenue recognition
Please refer to sections 2 and 18 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements for more 
information on the accounting policies applied.

Financial statement risk
The consolidated financial statements of NFON AG for fiscal 2020 report revenue of EUR 67.6 
million. In particular, revenue includes monthly fees, minute-based voice tariffs and non-recurring 
revenue, such as the sale of hardware, and the performance of services.

The predominant part of the services of the NFON AG Group is rendered via the cloud and depends 
on factors such as the number of extensions and the number of voice minutes which are recorded 
by the Company’s IT system and invoiced monthly. Accordingly, beyond the system recordings of 
the Company, there is in many cases no external proof of performance. Customers are entitled to 
a right of objection typically of 60 days, after which the invoiced services are considered to have 
been accepted.

There is the risk for the financial statements that revenue is invoiced without effective acceptance 
of services and are therefore overstated.



148

NFON ANNUAL REPORT 2020
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our audit approach
As provider of publicly accessible telecommunication services in Germany, the Company is required 
to ensure the accuracy of invoicing and the correctness of remuneration of data processing facilities 
by a quality assurance system and to have this audited regularly (section 45g of the Telekommu-
nikationsgesetz (TKG – German Telecommunications Act). We considered the corresponding audit 
reports in order to obtain an overview of the process in place for revenue recognition.

For a sample of revenue per customer selected by means of a mathematical-statistical procedure, 
we assessed the underlying contracts and other evidence of the existence of the customer rela-
tionship. Furthermore, we examined possible complaints by customers within the respective dead-
lines and obtained confirmations from customers for revenue also selected on the basis of a math-
ematical-statistical procedure.

Based on the receipts of payment of the year under review recorded in bank accounts, we calculated 
the expected value of revenue for the full fiscal year and analysed any deviations from the amount 
of revenue recognised.

Our observations
NFON AG’s method for recognising revenue is appropriate.

Other Information

Management and the Supervisory Board are responsible for the other information. The other infor-
mation includes the following elements of the management report, the content of which has not 
been audited:

• the Group corporate governance statement, referred to in the combined management report; 
and

• information extraneous to management reports contained in the Group management report 
and marked as unaudited.

The other information additionally includes the miscellaneous parts of the annual report.

The other information does not include the consolidated financial statements, the audited content 
of the group management report or our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the group management report do 
not cover the other information, and consequently we do not express an opinion or any other form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in so doing, to 
consider whether the other information

• is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements, with the group man-
agement report information audited for content or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or

• otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
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Responsibilities of Management and the Supervisory Board for the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements and the Combined Group Management Report

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that com-
ply, in all material respects, with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of 
German commercial law pursuant to section 315e(1) HGB and that the consolidated financial state-
ments, in compliance with these requirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, fi-
nancial position, and financial performance of the Group. In addition, management is responsible 
for such internal control as they have determined necessary to enable the preparation of consoli-
dated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. They also have the responsibility for disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern. In addition, they are responsible for financial reporting 
based on the going concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention to liquidate the Group 
or to cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Furthermore, management is responsible for the preparation of the combined group management 
report that, as a whole, provides an appropriate view of the Group’s position and is, in all material 
respects, consistent with the consolidated financial statements, complies with German legal re-
quirements, and appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future development. In add-
ition, management is responsible for such arrangements and measures (systems) as they have 
considered necessary to enable the preparation of a combined group management report that is in 
accordance with the applicable German legal requirements, and to be able to provide sufficient 
appropriate evidence for the assertions in the combined group management report.

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements and of the combined group management re-
port.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
 Statements and of the Combined Group Management Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial state-
ments as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether 
the combined group management report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group’s 
position and, in all material respects, is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and 
the knowledge obtained in the audit, complies with the German legal requirements and appropri-
ately presents the opportunities and risks of future development, as well as to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the combined 
group management report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with section 317 HGB and the EU Audit Regulation and in compliance with German 
Generally Accepted Standards for Financial Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirt-
schaftsprüfer (IDW) will always detect a material misstatement. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
financial statements and this combined group management report.
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We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We 
also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial state-
ments and of the combined group management report, whether due to fraud or error, design 
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements and of arrangements and measures (systems) relevant to the audit of the 
combined group management report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
these systems.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by management and the reasona-
bleness of estimates made by management and related disclosures.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in the auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements and in the combined group management report or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our respective opinions. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to be able to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
present the underlying transactions and events in a manner that the consolidated financial 
statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and financial 
performance of the Group in compliance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional 
requirements of German commercial law pursuant to section 315e(1) HGB.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to express opinions on the consolidated financial 
statements and on the combined group management report. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for 
our opinions.

• Evaluate the consistency of the combined group management report with the consolidated 
financial statements, its conformity with [German] law, and the view of the Group’s position it 
provides.

• Perform audit procedures on the prospective information presented by management in the 
combined group management report. On the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
we evaluate, in particular, the significant assumptions used by management as a basis for the 
prospective information, and evaluate the proper derivation of the prospective information 
from these assumptions. We do not express a separate opinion on the prospective informa-
tion and on the assumptions used as a basis. There is a substantial unavoidable risk that 
future events will differ materially from the prospective information.
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant de-
ficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with the 
relevant independence requirements, and communicate with them all relationships and other mat-
ters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, the related 
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report 
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter.

Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Report on assurance in accordance with section 317(3b) HGB on the 
 electronic reproduction of the consolidated financial statements and the 
group management report prepared for publication purposes

We have performed assurance work in accordance with section 317(3b) HGB to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the reproduction of the annual financial statements and the management 
report (hereinafter the “ESEF documents”) contained in the file ____ [name of the file with the au-
dited ESEF documents; ___ algorithm; ___ hash value] that can be downloaded by the issuer from 
the electronic client portal with access protection, and prepared for publication purposes complies 
in all material respects with the requirements of section 328(1) HGB for the electronic reporting 
format (ESEF format). In accordance with German legal requirements, this assurance only extends 
to the conversion of the information contained in the consolidated financial statements and the 
group management report into the ESEF format and therefore relates neither to the information 
contained in this reproduction nor any other information contained in the above electronic file.

In our opinion, the reproduction of the consolidated financial statements and the group manage-
ment report contained in the above electronic file and prepared for publication purposes complies 
in all material respects with the requirements of section 328(1) HGB for the electronic reporting 
format. We do not express any opinion on the information contained in this reproduction nor on 
any other information contained in the above file beyond this reasonable assurance opinion and our 
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements and the accompanying group 
management report for the fiscal year from 1 January to 31 December 2020 contained in the “Re-
port on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements and of the Combined Group Manage-
ment Report” above.
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We conducted our assurance work of the reproduction of the consolidated financial statements 
and the group management report contained in the above electronic file in accordance with section 
317(3b) HGB and the draft IDW auditing standard: Assurance in accordance with section 317(3b) 
HGB on the electronic reproduction of financial statements and management reports prepared for 
publication purposes (IDW EPS 410). Accordingly, our responsibilities are further described below. 
Our audit firm has applied the IDW Standard on Quality Management 1: Requirements for Quality 
Management in Audit Firms (IDW QS 1).

The Company’s management is responsible for the preparation of the ESEF documents including 
the electronic reproduction of the consolidated financial statements and the group management 
report in accordance with section 328(1) sentence 4 item 1 HGB and for tagging the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with section 328(1) sentence 4 item 2 HGB.

In addition, the Company’s management is responsible for the internal controls they consider nec-
essary to enable the preparation of ESEF documents that are free from material intentional or un-
intentional non-compliance with the requirements of section 328(1) HGB for the electronic report-
ing format.

The Company’s management is also responsible for the submission of the ESEF documents to-
gether with the auditor’s report and the attached consolidated financial statements, audited group 
management report and other documents to be published to the operator of the German Federal 
Gazette [Bundesanzeiger].

The Supervisory Board is responsible for overseeing the preparation of the ESEF documents as part 
of the financial reporting process.

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the ESEF documents are free from 
material intentional or unintentional non-compliance with the requirements of section 328(1) HGB. 
We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We 
also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material intentional or unintentional non-compliance with the 
requirements of section 328(1) HGB, design and perform assurance procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain assurance evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our assurance opinion.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the assessment of the ESEF docu-
ments in order to design assurance procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an assurance opinion on the effectiveness of these controls.

• Evaluate the technical validity of the ESEF documents, i.e. whether the electronic file 
containing the ESEF documents meets the requirements of Commission Delegated Regula-
tion (EU) 2019 / 815 on the technical specification for this electronic file.

• Evaluate whether the ESEF documents enable an XHTML reproduction with content 
equivalent to the audited consolidated financial statements and the audited Group manage-
ment report.

• Evaluate whether the tagging of the ESEF documents with Inline XBRL technology (iXBRL) 
enables an appropriate and complete machine-readable XBRL copy of the XHTML reproduc-
tion.
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Further Information pursuant to Article 10 of the EU Audit Regulation

We were elected as the auditor of the consolidated financial statements by the Annual General 
Meeting on 28 May 2020. We were engaged by the Supervisory Board on 28 August 2020. We 
have served as the auditor of the consolidated financial statements of NFON AG without interrup-
tion since fiscal 2018.

We declare that the opinions expressed in this auditor’s report are consistent with the additional 
report to the Audit Committee pursuant to Article 11 of the EU Audit Regulation (long-form audit 
report).

German Public Auditor Responsible for the Engagement

The German Public Auditor responsible for the engagement is Matthias Koeplin.

Munich, 13 April 2021

KPMG AG 
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft 
[Original German version signed by:]

gez. Koeplin 
Wirtschaftsprüfer 
[German Public Auditor]

gez. Rothfelder 
Wirtschaftsprüfer 
[German Public Auditor]
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FINANCIAL
CALENDAR

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

15.04.2021   Publication of the Group Annual Financial Report 2020

19.08.2021   Presentation Half-year Results 2021

18.11.2020  Presentation 9 Month Results 2021
  (Web und Telephone Conference)

20.05.2021   Presentation of the Results for the 1st Quarter 2021
  (Web und Telephone Conference)
24.06.2021 Annual General Meeting of NFON AG 
  (virtual)
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